



# VOLUME II ISSUE II

# ISSN 2619-9653 http://dergipark.gov.tr/ujma

VOLUME II ISSUE II ISSN 2619-9653 June 2019 http://dergipark.gov.tr/ujma

# UNIVERSAL JOURNAL OF MATHEMATICS AND APPLICATIONS

# UJMA

#### **Editors in Chief**

Emrah Evren Kara Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Düzce University, Düzce-TÜRKİYE eevrenkara@duzce.edu.tr Fuat Usta Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Düzce University, Düzce-TÜRKİYE fuatusta@duzce.edu.tr

#### Managing Editor

Merve İlkhan Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Düzce University, Düzce-TÜRKİYE merveilkhan@duzce.edu.tr

#### Editorial Board of Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Hari Mohan Srivastava University of Victoria, CANADA

Poom Kumam King Mongkut's University of Technology Thonburi, THAILAND

Necip Şimşek İstanbul Commerce University, TÜRKİYE

Michael Th. Rassias University of Zurich, SWITZERLAND

Mujahid Abbas University of Pretoria, SOUTH AFRICA

Dumitru Baleanu Çankaya University, TÜRKİYE

İshak Altun Kırıkkale University, TÜRKİYE Mohammad Mursaleen Aligarh Muslim University, INDIA

> Soley Ersoy Sakarya University, TÜRKİYE

Syed Abdul Mohiuddine Sakarya University, TÜRKİYE

Murat Kirişçi İstanbul Cerrahpaşa University, TÜRKİYE

Feng Qi Henan Polytechnic University, CHINA

> Silvestru Sever Dragomir Victoria University, AUSTRALIA

Yeol Je Cho Gyeongsang National University, KOREA Changjin Xu Guizhou University of Finance and Economics, CHINA

Sidney Allen Morris Federation University, AUSTRALIA

Mahmut Akyiğit Sakarya University, TÜRKİYE Ljubisa D. R. Kocinac University of Nis, SERBIA

Waqas Nazeer University of Education, PAKISTAN

#### Editorial Secretariat

Pınar Zengin Alp Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Düzce University, Düzce-TÜRKİYE Editorial Secretariat Hande Kormalı Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Sakarya University, Sakarya-TÜRKİYE

### Contents

1	A Two-Parameter Weighted Rama Distribution with Properties and Application Tesfalem Eyob, Rama Shanker	48-58
2	Hyperbolic Fibonacci Sequence Fügen Torunbalcı Aydın	59-64
3	Hyperspaces of Superparacompact Spaces and Continuous Maps Adilbek Zaitov, Davron Ilxomovich Jumaev	65-69
4	Exponential Growth of Solutions for Nonlinear Coupled Viscoelastic Wave Equations Erhan Pişkin, Şeyhmus Altındağ	70-78
5	Statistical Convergence of Nets Through Directed Sets AR Murugan, J. Dianavinnarasi, C. Ganesa Moorthy	79-84
6	Cyclic $(\alpha, \beta)$ -Admissible Mappings in Modular Spaces and Applications to Integral Equat Müzeyyen Sangurlu Sezen	ions 85-93
7	A Bound for the Joint Spectral Radius of Operators in a Hilbert Space Michael Gil'	94-99
8	The Existence and Uniqueness of Initial-Boundary Value Problems of the Fractional Cap Fabrizio Differential Equations	uto-
	Şuayip Toprakseven	100-106

**UJMA** 

**Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications** 

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma ISSN 2619-9653 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.32323/ujma.421980



# A Two-Parameter Weighted Rama Distribution with Properties and Application

Tasfalem Eyob<sup>1</sup> and Rama Shanker<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Statistics, Eritrea Institute of Technology, Asmara, Eritrea \*Corresponding author

#### **Article Info**

#### Abstract

Keywords: Hazard rate function, Goodness of fit, Maximum likelihood estimation, Moments, Mean residual life function, Rama distribution, Stochastic ordering 2010 AMS: 62E05, 62E99

Received: 8 May 2018 Accepted: 29 November 2018 Available online: 28 June 2018 In this paper, a two-parameter weighted Rama distribution which includes one parameter Rama distribution introduced by Shanker [1] has been proposed for modelling real lifetime data. Statistical properties of the distribution including shapes of a probability density function, moments and moment related measures, hazard rate function, mean residual life function, and stochastic orderings have been discussed. The estimation of its parameters has been discussed using the method of maximum likelihood. Application of the proposed distribution has been discussed.

#### 1. Introduction

The concept of weighted distributions was firstly introduced by Fisher [2] to model ascertainment biases which were later formalized by Rao [3] in a unifying theory for problems where the observations fall in non-experimental, non-replicated and non-random. When an investigator records an observation in nature according to a certain stochastic model, the distribution of the recorded observation will not have the original distribution unless every observation is given an equal chance of being recorded. For example, suppose the original observation  $x_0$  comes from a distribution having a probability density function (pdf.),  $f_o(x, \theta_1)$ , where  $\theta_1$  may be a parameter vector and observation x s recorded according to a probability re-weighted by a weight function  $w(x, \theta_2) > 0$ ,  $\theta_2$  being a new parameter vector, then x comes from a distribution having pdf

$$f(x; \theta_1, \theta_2) = k w(x; \theta_2) f_o(x; \theta_2)$$

where *k* is a normalizing constant. Recall that such types of distributions are known as weighted distributions. The weighted distributions with a weight function  $w(x, \theta_2) = x$  are called length-biased distribution. Patil and Rao [4]-[5] have examined some general probability models leading to weighted probability distributions, discussed their applications and showed the occurrence of  $w(x, \theta_2) = x$  in a natural way in problems relating to sampling.

Shanker [1] has introduced Rama distribution for modelling behavioural Science data defined by its pdf and cumulative distribution function (cdf)

$$f_1(x;\theta) = \frac{\theta^4}{\theta^3 + 6} \left( 1 + x^3 \right) e^{-\theta x} \; ; x > 0, \; \theta > 0 \tag{1.1}$$

$$F_1(x,\theta) = 1 - \left[1 + \frac{\theta^3 x^3 + 3\theta^2 x^2 + 6\theta x}{\theta^3 + 6}\right] e^{-\theta x}; x > 0, \theta > 0$$

Thus the  $r^{th}$  moment about origin  $\mu'_r$  of Rama distribution (1.1) obtained by Shanker [1] is given by

$$\mu_{r}' = \frac{r! \left[\theta^{3} + (r+1) \left(r+2\right) \left(r+3\right)\right]}{\theta^{r} \left(\theta^{3} + 6\right)} ; r = 1, 2, 3, \dots$$

The first four moments about origin of Rama distribution obtained by Shanker [1] are as follows

$$\mu_{1}' = \frac{\theta^{3} + 24}{\theta(\theta^{3} + 6)}$$
$$\mu_{2}' = \frac{2(\theta^{3} + 60)}{\theta^{2}(\theta^{3} + 6)}$$
$$\mu_{3}' = \frac{6(\theta^{3} + 120)}{\theta^{3}(\theta^{3} + 6)}$$
$$\mu_{4}' = \frac{24(\theta^{3} + 210)}{\theta^{4}(\theta^{3} + 6)}.$$

The moments about mean of Rama distribution are

$$\mu_{2} = \frac{\theta^{6} + 84\theta^{3} + 144}{\theta^{2}(\theta^{3} + 6)^{2}}$$
$$\mu_{3} = \frac{2(\theta^{9} + 198\theta^{6} + 324\theta^{3} + 864)}{\theta^{3}(\theta^{3} + 6)^{3}}$$
$$\mu_{4} = \frac{9(\theta^{12} + 312\theta^{9} + 2304\theta^{6} + 10368\theta^{3} + 10368)}{\theta^{4}(\theta^{3} + 6)^{4}}$$

Shanker [1] has discussed statistical properties including shapes of pdf for varying values of parameter, hazard rate function; mean residual life function, stochastic ordering, mean deviations, order statistic, Bonferroni and Lorenz curves, Renyi entropy measures, and stress-strength reliability of Rama distribution. Shanker [1] has also studied the estimation of the parameter of Rama distribution using both the method of maximum likelihood and the method of the moment along with an application.

In this paper, a two-parameter weighted Rama distribution which includes one parameter Rama distribution proposed by Shanker [1] has been introduced and studied. The statistical properties of the distribution including the coefficient of variation, skewness, kurtosis, index of dispersion, hazard rate function, mean residual life function, and stochastic ordering have been discussed. The method of maximum likelihood has been discussed for estimating parameters. The goodness of fit of the proposed distribution has been discussed with a real lifetime data and it shows a quite satisfactory fit over one parameter life time distributions including exponential, Lindley, Rama and two-parameter lifetime distributions including Gompertz, lognormal, Generalized exponential introduced by Gupta and Kundu [6], weighted Lindley introduced by Ghitany et al [7] and weighted Sujatha distribution introduced by Shanker et al [8].

#### 2. Weighted Rama Distribution

The pdf of the weighted Rama distribution (WRD) can be expressed as

$$f(x; \theta, \alpha) = K x^{\alpha - 1} f_o(x; \theta); x > 0, \theta > 0, \alpha > 0$$

where, K is the normalizing constant and  $f_o(x; \theta)$  is the pdf of Rama distribution given in (1.1). Thus the pdf of WRD can be obtained as

$$f_2(x;\theta,\alpha) = \frac{\theta^{\alpha+3}}{\theta^3 + \alpha(\alpha+1)(\alpha+2)} \frac{x^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \left(1 + x^3\right) e^{-\theta x}; x > 0, \theta > 0, \alpha > 0$$

$$(2.1)$$

where  $\theta =$  scale parameter ,  $\alpha =$  shape parameter and

$$\Gamma(\alpha) = \int_0^\infty e^{-y} y^{\alpha-1} dy; y > 0, \alpha > 0$$

is the complete gamma function.

Further, pdf (2.1) can be expressed as a two-component mixture of gamma ( $\theta, \alpha$ ) and gamma ( $\theta, \alpha + 3$ ) distributions. We have

$$f_2(x; \theta, \alpha) = pg_1(x; \theta, \alpha) + (1-p)g_2(x; \theta, \alpha+3)$$

where

$$p = \frac{\theta^3}{\theta^3 + \alpha (\alpha + 1) (\alpha + 2)},$$
  

$$g_1(x; \theta, \alpha) = \frac{\theta^{\alpha}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} e^{-\theta x} x^{\alpha - 1},$$
  

$$g_2(x; \theta, \alpha + 3) = \frac{\theta^{\alpha + 3}}{\Gamma(\alpha + 3)} e^{-\theta x} x^{(\alpha + 3) - 1}$$

The behaviour of the pdf of WRD for varying values of parameters  $\theta$  and  $\alpha$  are shown in Figure 2.1.



Figure 2.1: Behavior of the pdf of WRD for various values of the parameters  $\theta$  and  $\alpha$ 

The cdf of WRD can be obtained as

$$F_{2}(x;\theta,\alpha) = 1 - \begin{bmatrix} \frac{(\theta x)^{\alpha} \left\{ (\theta x)^{2} + (\theta x) (\alpha + 2) + (\alpha + 1) (\alpha + 2) \right\} e^{-\theta x}}{\left[ \theta^{3} + \alpha (\alpha + 1) (\alpha + 2) \right] \Gamma(\alpha, \theta x)} \\ \vdots x > 0, \theta > 0, \alpha > 0 \end{bmatrix}; x > 0, \theta > 0, \alpha > 0$$

where  $\Gamma(\alpha, \theta x)$  is the upper incomplete gamma function defined by

$$\Gamma(\alpha, z) = \int\limits_{z}^{\infty} e^{-y} y^{\alpha-1} dy; \ y \ge 0, \ \alpha > 0$$

The behaviour of the cdf of WRD for varying values of the parameters  $\theta$  and  $\alpha$  are shown in Figure 2.2.



Figure 2.2: Behavior of the cdf of WRD for various values of the parameters  $\theta$  and  $\alpha$ 

#### 3. Statistical Constants

The  $r^{th}$  moment about origin,  $\mu'_r$  of WRD (2.1) can be obtained as

$$\mu'_{r} = E\left(X^{r}\right) = \int_{0}^{\infty} x^{r} f_{2}\left(x;\theta,\alpha\right) dx = \int_{0}^{\infty} x^{r} \frac{\theta^{\alpha+3} x^{\alpha-1} \left(1+x^{3}\right)}{\Gamma\left(\alpha\right) \left[\theta^{3}+\alpha\left(\alpha+1\right)\left(\alpha+2\right)\right]} e^{-\theta x} dx$$
$$= \frac{\Gamma\left(\alpha+r\right)}{\Gamma\left(\alpha\right)} \frac{\theta^{3}+\left(\alpha+r\right)\left(\alpha+r+1\right)\left(\alpha+r+2\right)}{\theta^{r} \left[\theta^{3}+\alpha\left(\alpha+1\right)\left(\alpha+2\right)\right]}; r = 1, 2, 3, \dots.$$
(3.1)

The first four moments about origin of WRD, after substituting r = 1, 2, 3 and 4 in (3.1) are obtained as

$$\mu_{1}^{\prime} = \frac{\alpha \left\{ \theta^{3} + (\alpha + 1) (\alpha + 2) (\alpha + 3) \right\}}{\theta \left[ \theta^{3} + \alpha (\alpha + 1) (\alpha + 2) \right]}$$

$$\mu_{2}^{\prime} = \frac{\alpha (\alpha + 1) \left\{ \theta^{3} + (\alpha + 2) (\alpha + 3) (\alpha + 4) \right\}}{\theta^{2} \left[ \theta^{3} + \alpha (\alpha + 1) (\alpha + 2) \right]}$$

$$\mu_{3}^{\prime} = \frac{\alpha (\alpha + 1) (\alpha + 2) \left\{ \theta^{3} + (\alpha + 3) (\alpha + 4) (\alpha + 5) \right\}}{\theta^{3} \left[ \theta^{3} + \alpha (\alpha + 1) (\alpha + 2) \right]}$$

$$\mu_{4}^{\prime} = \frac{\alpha (\alpha + 1) (\alpha + 2) (\alpha + 3) \left\{ \theta^{3} + (\alpha + 4) (\alpha + 5) (\alpha + 6) \right\}}{\theta^{4} \left[ \theta^{3} + \alpha (\alpha + 1) (\alpha + 2) \right]}.$$

Now using the relationship  $\mu_r = E(X - {\mu'}_1)^r = \sum_{k=0}^r {\binom{r}{k}} {\mu'_k} (-{\mu'}_1)^{r-k}$  between moments about mean and moments about origin, the moments about the mean of WRD are obtained as

$$\mu_{2} = \frac{\alpha \left\{\theta^{6} + 2 \left(\alpha^{3} + 9 \alpha^{2} + 20 \alpha + 12\right) \theta^{3} + \left(\alpha^{6} + 9 \alpha^{5} + 31 \alpha^{4} + 51 \alpha^{3} + 40 \alpha^{2} + 12 \alpha\right)\right\}}{\theta^{2} \left(\theta^{3} + \alpha^{3} + 3 \alpha^{2} + 2\alpha\right)^{2}}$$

$$\mu_{3} = \frac{2\alpha \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \theta^{9} + 3\left(\alpha^{3} + 13\alpha^{2} + 32\alpha + 20\right)\theta^{6} + 3\left(\alpha^{6} + 8\alpha^{5} + 25\alpha^{4} + 38\alpha^{3} + 28\alpha^{2} + 8\alpha\right)\theta^{3} \\ + \left(\alpha^{9} + 12\alpha^{8} + 60\alpha^{7} + 162\alpha^{6} + 255\alpha^{5} + 234\alpha^{4} + 116\alpha^{3} + 24\alpha^{2}\right) \end{array} \right\}}{\theta^{3}\left(\theta^{3} + \alpha^{3} + 3\alpha^{2} + 2\alpha\right)^{3}}$$

$$\mu_{4} = \frac{ \begin{pmatrix} (\alpha+2) \theta^{12} + 4 (\alpha^{4} + 11\alpha^{3} + 56\alpha^{2} + 106\alpha + 60) \theta^{9} \\ +3 (2\alpha^{6} + 34\alpha^{5} + 198\alpha^{4} + 550\alpha^{3} + 792\alpha^{2} + 568\alpha + 160) \alpha \theta^{6} \\ +4 (\alpha^{8} + 20\alpha^{7} + 156\alpha^{6} + 642\alpha^{5} + 1551\alpha^{4} + 2274\alpha^{3} + 1988\alpha^{2} + 952\alpha + 198) \alpha^{2}\theta^{3} \\ + \begin{pmatrix} \alpha^{13} + 20\alpha^{12} + 173\alpha^{11} + 856\alpha^{10} + 2691\alpha^{9} + 5628\alpha^{8} \\ +7943\alpha^{7} + 7480\alpha^{6} + 4504\alpha^{5} + 1568\alpha^{4} + 240\alpha^{3} \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix}^{2} \theta^{4} (\theta^{3} + \alpha^{3} + 3\alpha^{2} + 2\alpha)^{4} .$$

It can be easily shown that at  $\alpha = 1$ , the moments about the origin and the moments about mean of WRD reduces to the corresponding moments of Rama distribution.

The expressions for coefficient variation (C.V.) coefficient of skewness  $(\sqrt{\beta_1})$ , the coefficient of kurtosis  $(\beta_2)$  and index of dispersion  $(\gamma)$  of WRD is thus given as

$$C.V = \frac{\sigma}{\mu_{1}'} = \frac{\sqrt{\alpha \left\{\theta^{6} + \left(2\alpha^{3} + 18\alpha^{2} + 40\alpha + 24\right)\theta^{3} + \alpha^{6} + 9\alpha^{5} + 31\alpha^{4} + 51\alpha^{3} + 40\alpha^{2} + 12\alpha\right\}}{\alpha \left(\theta^{3} + \alpha^{3} + 6\alpha^{2} + 11\alpha + 6\right)}$$

$$\sqrt{\beta_{1}} = \frac{\mu_{3}}{\mu_{2}^{3/2}} = \frac{2\alpha \left\{ \begin{array}{c} \theta^{9} + (3\alpha^{3} + 39\alpha^{2} + 96\alpha + 60) \theta^{6} + (3\alpha^{6} + 24\alpha^{5} + 75\alpha^{4} + 114\alpha^{3} + 84\alpha^{2} + 24\alpha) \theta^{3} \\ \alpha^{9} + 12\alpha^{8} + 60\alpha^{7} + 162\alpha^{6} + 255\alpha^{5} + 234\alpha^{4} + 116\alpha^{3} + 24\alpha^{2} \\ \left\{ \alpha \left( \theta^{6} + (2\alpha^{3} + 18\alpha^{2} + 40\alpha + 24) \theta^{3} + \alpha^{6} + 9\alpha^{5} + 31\alpha^{4} + 51\alpha^{3} + 40\alpha^{2} + 12\alpha \right) \right\}^{3/2} \right\}}$$

$$\beta_{2} = \frac{\mu_{4}}{\mu_{2}^{2}} = \frac{3(\alpha+2) \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \theta^{12} + (4\alpha^{3} + 36\alpha^{2} + 152\alpha + 120) \theta^{9} + (6\alpha^{6} + 90\alpha^{5} + 414\alpha^{4} + 822\alpha^{3} + 732\alpha^{2} + 240\alpha) \theta^{6} \\ + (4\alpha^{9} + 72\alpha^{8} + 480\alpha^{7} + 1608\alpha^{6} + 2988\alpha^{5} + 3120\alpha^{4} + 1712\alpha^{3} + 384\alpha^{2}) \theta^{3} \\ + (\alpha^{12} + 18\alpha^{11} + 137\alpha^{10} + 582\alpha^{9} + 1527\alpha^{8} + 2574\alpha^{7} + 2795\alpha^{6} + 1890\alpha^{5} + 724\alpha^{4} + 120\alpha^{3}) \end{array} \right\}} \\ \beta_{2} = \frac{\mu_{4}}{\mu_{2}^{2}} = \frac{\alpha^{2}}{\left\{\alpha\left(\theta^{6} + (2\alpha^{3} + 18\alpha^{2} + 40\alpha + 24)\theta^{3} + \alpha^{6} + 9\alpha^{5} + 31\alpha^{4} + 51\alpha^{3} + 40\alpha^{2} + 12\alpha\right)^{2}\right\}}$$

$$\gamma = \frac{\sigma^2}{\mu'_1} = \frac{\left\{\frac{\theta^6 + \left(2\alpha^3 + 18\alpha^2 + 40\alpha + 24\right)\theta^3 + \alpha^6 + 9\alpha^5 + 31\alpha^4 + 51\alpha^3 + 40\alpha^2 + 12\alpha\right\}}{\theta\left(\theta^3 + \alpha^3 + 3\alpha^2 + 2\alpha\right)\left(\theta^3 + \alpha^3 + 6\alpha^2 + 11\alpha + 6\right)}.$$

The behaviour of the coefficient of variation (C.V.), the coefficient of skewness (C.S.), the coefficient of kurtosis (C.K.) and index of dispersion (I.D.) of WRD have been prepared for varying values of the parameters  $\theta$  and  $\alpha$  and presented in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1: Behavior of C.V., C.S., C.K., and I.D of WRD for varying values of parameters  $\theta$  and  $\alpha$ 

#### 4. Survival Function ans Hazard Rate Function

The survival (reliability) function of WRD can be obtained as

$$S(x;\theta,\alpha) = 1 - F_2(x;\theta,\alpha) = = \frac{\left\{ \begin{array}{c} (\theta x)^{\alpha} \left[ (\theta x)^2 + (\alpha+2)(\theta x) + (\alpha+1)(\alpha+2) \right] e^{-\theta x} \\ + \left[ \theta^3 + \alpha(\alpha+1)(\alpha+2) \right] \Gamma(\alpha,\theta x) \end{array} \right\}}{\left[ \theta^3 + \alpha(\alpha+1)(\alpha+2) \right] \Gamma(\alpha)}.$$

The hazard (or failure) rate function, h(x) of WRD is thus obtained as

$$h(x) = \frac{f(x;\theta,\alpha)}{S(x;\theta,\alpha)} = \frac{\theta^{\alpha+3}x^{\alpha-1}(1+x^3)e^{-\theta x}}{\left\{\begin{array}{l} \left[\theta^3 + \alpha(\alpha+1)(\alpha+2)\right]\Gamma(\alpha,\theta x) \\ +(\theta x)^{\alpha}\left[(\theta x)^2 + (\theta x)(\alpha+2) + (\alpha+1)(\alpha+2)\right]e^{-\theta x}\end{array}\right\}}; \ x > 0, \theta > 0, \alpha > 0.$$

The behaviour of h(x) of WRD for varying values of parameters  $\theta$  and  $\alpha$  are shown in Figure 4.1.



Figure 4.1: Behavior of C.V., C.S., C.K., and I.D of WRD for varying values of parameters  $\theta$  and  $\alpha$ 

#### 5. Mean Residual Life Function

The mean residual life function  $\mu(x) = E(X - x | X > x)$  of the WRD can be obtained as

$$\begin{split} \mu\left(x\right) &= \frac{1}{S(x;\theta,\alpha)} \int\limits_{x}^{\infty} y f_{2}\left(y;\theta,\alpha\right) dy - x \\ &= \frac{\left\{ \begin{array}{c} \left(\theta x\right)^{\alpha} \left\{ \left(\theta x\right)^{2} + 2\left(\alpha + 2\right)\left(\theta x\right) + \theta^{3} + \left(\alpha + 1\right)\left(\alpha + 2\right)\left(\alpha + 3\right) \right\} e^{\theta x} \\ + \left[ \left\{\alpha \theta^{3} + \alpha\left(\alpha + 1\right)\left(\alpha + 2\right)\left(\alpha + 3\right) \right\} - \theta x \left\{\theta^{3} + \alpha\left(\alpha + 1\right)\left(\alpha + 2\right)\right\} \right] \Gamma\left(\alpha, \theta x\right)}{\theta\left[\left(\theta x\right)^{\alpha} \left\{\left(\theta x\right)^{2} + \left(\alpha + 2\right)\left(\theta x\right) + \left(\alpha + 1\right)\left(\alpha + 2\right)\right\} e^{-\theta x} + \left\{\theta^{3} + \alpha\left(\alpha + 1\right)\left(\alpha + 2\right)\right\} \right] \Gamma\left(\alpha, \theta x\right)} \right\} \\ \end{split}$$

It can be easily shown that

$$\mu(0) = \frac{\alpha \left[\theta^3 + (\alpha+1)(\alpha+2)(\alpha+3)\right]}{\theta \left[\theta^3 + \alpha (\alpha+1)(\alpha+2)\right]} = \mu_1'$$

The behaviour of  $\mu(x)$  of WRD for varying values of parameters  $\theta$  and  $\alpha$  are shown in Figure 5.1.



**Figure 5.1:** Behavior of  $\mu(x)$  of the WRD for varying values of parameters  $\theta$  and  $\alpha$ 

#### 6. Stochastic Ordering

The stochastic ordering of positive continuous random variables is an important tool for examining their comparative behaviour. A random variable X is said to be smaller than a random variable Y in the

- stochastic order  $(X \leq_{st} Y)$  if  $F_X(x) \geq F_Y(x)$  for all x
- hazard rate order  $(X \leq_{hr} Y)$  if  $h_X(x) \geq h_Y(x)$  for all x
- mean residual life order  $(X \leq_{mrl} Y)$  if  $m_X(x) \leq m_Y(x)$  for all x
- likelihood ratio order  $(X \leq_{lr} Y)$  if  $\frac{f_X(x)}{f_Y(x)}$  decreases in x.

The following important interpretations due to Shaked and Shanthikumar [10] are well known for establishing the stochastic ordering of distributions.

$$\begin{array}{c} X \leq_{lr} Y \Rightarrow X \leq_{hr} Y \Rightarrow X \leq_{mrl} Y \\ \downarrow \\ X \leq_{st} Y. \end{array}$$

The WRD is ordered with respect to the strongest 'likelihood ratio' ordering as shown in the following theorem.

**Theorem 6.1.** Let  $X^{\sim}WRD(\theta_1, \alpha_1)$  and  $Y^{\sim}WRD(\theta_2, \alpha_2)$ . If  $\theta_1 > \theta_2$  and  $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2$  (or  $\alpha_1 < \alpha_2$  and  $\theta_1 = \theta_2$ ), then  $X \leq_{lr} Y$  and hence  $X \leq_{hr} Y$ ,  $X \leq_{mrl} Y$  and  $X \leq_{st} Y$ .

Proof. We have

$$\frac{f_X(x;\theta_1,\alpha_1)}{f_Y(x;\theta_2,\alpha_2)} = \frac{\theta_1^{\alpha_1+3} \left(\theta_2^3 + \alpha_2^3 + 3\alpha_2^2 + 2\alpha_2\right) \Gamma(\alpha_2)}{\theta_2^{\alpha_2+3} \left(\theta_1^3 + \alpha_1^3 + 3\alpha_1^2 + 2\alpha_1\right) \Gamma(\alpha_1)} x^{\alpha_1-\alpha_2} e^{-(\theta_1-\theta_2)x}.$$

Now,

$$\ln \frac{f_X(x;\theta_1,\alpha_1)}{f_Y(x;\theta_2,\alpha_2)} = \ln \left( \frac{\theta_1^{\alpha_1+3}\left(\theta_2^3+\alpha_2^3+3\alpha_2^2+2\alpha_2\right)\Gamma(\alpha_2)}{\theta_2^{\alpha_2+3}\left(\theta_1^3+\alpha_1^3+3\alpha_1^2+2\alpha_1\right)\Gamma(\alpha_1)} \right) + (\alpha_1-\alpha_2)\ln x - (\theta_1-\theta_2)x.$$

This gives

$$\frac{d}{dx}\ln\left(\frac{f_X(x;\theta_1,\alpha_1)}{f_Y(x;\theta_2,\alpha_2)}\right) = \frac{\alpha_1-\alpha_2}{x} - (\theta_1-\theta_2).$$

Thus, if  $(\alpha_1 = \alpha_2 \text{ and } \theta_1 \ge \theta_2)$  or  $(\alpha_1 < \alpha_2 \text{ and } \theta_1 \ge \theta_2)$ , then  $\frac{d}{dx} \ln \left( \frac{f_X(x;\theta_1,\alpha_1)}{f_Y(x;\theta_2,\alpha_2)} \right) < 0$ . This means that  $X \le_{lr} Y$  and hence  $X \le_{hr} Y, X \le_{mrl} Y$  and  $X \le_{st} Y$ . This shows flexibility of WRD over Rama distribution.

#### 7. Maximum Likelihood Estimation of Parameters

Let  $(x_1, x_2, x_3, ..., x_n)$  be a random sample of size *n* from WRD (2.1). The likelihood function, L of WRD is given by

$$L = \left[\frac{\theta^{\alpha+3}}{\Gamma(\alpha)\left\{\theta^3 + \alpha^3 + 3\alpha^2 + 2\alpha\right\}}\right]^n \prod_{i=1}^n x_i^{\alpha-1}\left(1 + x_i^3\right) e^{-n\theta\bar{x}}$$

The natural log likelihood function is thus obtained as

$$\ln L = n \left[ (\alpha + 3) \ln \theta - \ln \left\{ \theta^3 + \alpha \left( \alpha + 1 \right) \left( \alpha + 2 \right) \right\} - \ln \Gamma(\alpha) \right] + (\alpha - 1) \sum_{i=1}^n \ln \left( x_i \right) + \sum_{i=1}^n \ln \left( 1 + x_i^3 \right) - n \theta \bar{x}.$$

The maximum likelihood estimates ( $\hat{\theta}$ , ) of ( $\theta, \alpha$ ) is the solution of the following log likelihood equations.

$$\frac{\partial \ln L}{\partial \theta} = \frac{n(\alpha+3)}{\theta} - \frac{3n\theta^2}{\theta^3 + \alpha^3 + 3\alpha^2 + 2\alpha} - n\,\bar{x} = 0$$

$$\frac{\partial \ln L}{\partial \alpha} = n \ln \theta - \frac{n \left( 3\alpha^2 + 6\alpha + 2 \right)}{\theta^3 + \alpha^3 + 3\alpha^2 + 2\alpha} - n \psi(\alpha) + \sum_{i=1}^n \ln x_i = 0$$

where  $\bar{x}$  is the sample mean and  $\psi(\alpha)$  is the digamma function defined as

$$\psi(\alpha) = \frac{d}{d\alpha} \ln \Gamma(\alpha)$$

The MLE's  $\begin{pmatrix} \wedge & \alpha \\ \theta, & \alpha \end{pmatrix}$  of parameters of WRD  $(\theta, \alpha)$  can be computed directly by solving the natural log likelihood equation using Newton-

Raphson iteration available in R-software till sufficiently close estimates of  $\overset{}{\theta}$  and  $\overset{}{\alpha}$  are obtained. In this paper, initial values of  $\theta$  and  $\alpha$  are taken  $\theta = 0.5$  and  $\alpha = 1.5$ , respectively.

#### 8. A Numerical Example

A numerical example of real lifetime data has been presented to test the goodness of fit of WRD over other one parameter and two parameter life time distribution. The following data represent the tensile strength, measured in GPa, of 69 carbon fibers tested under tension at gauge lengths of 20mm, available in Bader and Priest [9].

1.3121.3141.4791.5521.7001.8031.8611.8651.9441.9581.9661.9972.0062.0212.0272.0552.0632.0982.1402.1792.2242.2402.2532.2702.2722.2742.3012.3012.3592.3822.3822.4262.4342.4352.4782.4902.5112.5142.5352.5542.5662.5702.5862.6292.6332.6422.6482.6842.6972.7262.7702.7732.8002.8092.8182.8212.8482.8802.9543.0123.0673.0843.0903.0963.1283.2333.4333.5853.585

For this data set, WRD has been fitted along with one parameter exponential, Lindley, Rama distributions and two – parameter gamma distribution Gompertz distribution, generalized exponential distribution (GED) introduced by Gupta and Kundu [6], lognormal distribution ,weighted Sujatha distribution (WSD) introduced by Shanker and Shukla [8] and WLD. The pdf and cdf of gamma, Gompertz, lognormal, GED, WSD and WLD are presented in table 1. The ML estimates, values of  $-2\ln L$ , Akaike Information criteria (AIC), K-S statistics and p-value of the fitted distributions are presented in table 2. The AIC and K-S Statistics are computed using the following formulae:  $AIC = -2\ln L + 2k$  and K-S = Sup  $|F_n(x) - F_0(x)|$ , where k = the number of parameters, n = the sample size,  $F_n(x)$  is the empirical (sample)

cumulative distribution function, and  $F_0(x)$  is the theoretical cumulative distribution function. The best distribution is the distribution corresponding to lower values of  $-2\ln L$ , AIC, and K-S statistics.

Distributions	pdf	cdf
WSD	$f(x;\theta,\alpha) = \frac{\theta^{\alpha+2}}{\theta^2 + \alpha \theta + \alpha(\alpha+1)} \frac{x^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} \left(1 + x + x^2\right) e^{-\theta x}$	$F(x;\theta,\alpha,\beta) = 1 - \frac{\{\theta^2 + \alpha\theta + \alpha(\alpha+1)\}\Gamma(\alpha,\theta x) + (\theta x)^{\alpha}(\theta x + \theta + \alpha + 1)e^{-\theta x}}{\{\theta^2 + \alpha\theta + \alpha(\alpha+1)\}\Gamma(\alpha)}$
WLD	$f(x; \theta, \alpha) = \frac{\theta^{\alpha+1}}{(\theta+\alpha)} \frac{x^{\alpha-1}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} (1+x) e^{-\theta x}$	$F(x; \theta, \alpha) = 1 - \frac{(\theta + \alpha)\Gamma(\alpha, \theta x) + (\theta x)^{\alpha} e^{-\theta x}}{(\theta + \alpha)\Gamma(\alpha)}$
GED	$f(x; \theta, \alpha) = \theta \alpha (1 - e^{-\theta x})^{\alpha - 1} e^{-\theta x}$	$F(x; \boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{\alpha}) = (1 - e^{-\boldsymbol{\theta}x})^{\boldsymbol{\alpha}}$
Gamma	$f(x; \theta, \alpha) = \frac{\theta^{\alpha}}{\Gamma(\alpha)} e^{-\theta x} x^{\alpha - 1}$	$F\left(x;oldsymbol{ heta},oldsymbol{lpha} ight)=1-rac{\Gamma(lpha,oldsymbol{ heta}x)}{\Gamma(lpha)}$
Lognormal	$f(x; \theta, \alpha) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi\alpha x}} e^{-\frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{\log x - \theta}{\alpha}\right)^2}$	$F(x; \boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{\alpha}) = \phi\left(rac{\log x - \boldsymbol{\theta}}{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} ight)$
Lindley	$f(x; \theta) = \frac{\theta^2}{\theta + 1} (1 + x) e^{-\theta x}$	$F(x;\theta) = 1 - \left[1 + \frac{\theta x}{\theta + 1}\right]e^{-\theta x}$
Gompertz	$f(x; \boldsymbol{\theta}, \boldsymbol{\alpha}) = \boldsymbol{\theta} e^{\boldsymbol{\alpha} x - \frac{\boldsymbol{\theta}}{\boldsymbol{\alpha}} (e^{\boldsymbol{\alpha} x} - 1)}$	$F(x; \theta, \alpha) = 1 - e^{-\frac{\theta}{\alpha}(e^{\alpha x} - 1)}$

Table 1: The pdf and the cdf of fitted distributions

Distribution	Team sheet		$-2\ln L$	AIC	K-S	P-value
	$\stackrel{\wedge}{\theta}$	$\hat{\alpha}$				
WRD	9.5764	20.7494	98.76	102.76	0.055	0.983
WSD	9.7387	22.3612	99.99	103.99	0.057	0.975
WLD	9.6265	22.8938	101.95	105.95	0.059	0.973
Gamma	9.5380	23.3820	100.07	104.07	0.058	0.962
GED	2.0331	87.2847	109.24	113.24	0.087	0.613
Lognormal	0.8751	0.2124	102.72	106.73	0.103	0.713
Gompertz	0.0080	2.0420	107.25	111.250	0.085	0.673
Rama	0.130106		211.49	213.49	0.324	0.000
Lindley	0.0702		238.38	240.38	0.401	0.000
Exponential	0.4079		261.73	263.73	0.447	0.000

Table 2: MLE's, - 2ln L, AIC, K-S Statistics and p-values of the fitted distributions

It is quite obvious from table 2 that WRD is competing well with two parameter lifetime distributions and gives a quite satisfactory fit the considered distributions. This means that, like other two-parameter lifetime distributions, WRD is also an important two-parameter lifetime distribution for modeling real lifetime data.

#### 9. Concluding Remarks

A two-parameter weighted Rama distribution (WRD) which includes one parameter Rama distribution proposed by Shanker [1] has been suggested for modelling lifetime data from engineering. Its statistical properties including shapes of the probability density function for varying values of parameters, coefficients of variation, skewness, kurtosis, and index of dispersion have been studied. Its reliability measures including hazard rate function, mean residual life function, and the stochastic ordering have been discussed. The method of maximum likelihood has been discussed for estimating its parameters. The goodness of fit of the proposed distribution has been explained with a real lifetime data from engineering and the fit has been found quite satisfactory over one parameter exponential, Lindley and Rama distributions and two- parameter gamma, Gompertz, generalized exponential, lognormal, weighted Sujatha and weighted Lindley distributions.

#### Acknowledgments

This is a text of acknowledgments. Do not forget people who have assisted you on your work. Do not exaggerate with thanks. If your work has been paid by a Grant, mention the Grant name and number here.

#### References

- [1] R. Shanker, Rama distribution and Its Application, Int. J. Stat. Appl., 7(1) (2017), 26-35.
- [2] R. A. Fisher, The effects of methods of ascertainment upon the estimation of frequencies, Ann. Eugenics, 6 (1934), 13 25.
- [3] C. R. Rao, On discrete distributions arising out of methods of ascertainment In: Patil, G.P.(eds) Classical and Contagious Discrete Distributions, Statistical Publishing Society, Calcutta, 1965, pp.320 – 332.
- [4] G. P. Patil, C. R. Rao, The Weighted distributions: A survey and their applications, In applications of Statistics (Ed P.R. Krishnaiah0, North Holland Publications Co., Amsterdam, 1977, pp.383 – 405.
- [5] G. P. Patil, C. R. Rao, Weighted distributions and size-biased sampling with applications to wild-life populations and human families, Biometrics, 34 (1978), 179 189.
- [6] R. D. Gupta, D. Kundu, Generalized exponential distribution, Aust. New Zealand J. Stat., 41(2) (1999), 173-188.
- [7] M. E. Ghitany, F. Alqallaf, D. K. Al-Mutairi, H. A. Husain, A two-parameter weighted Lindley distribution and its applications to survival data, Mat. Comput. Simulation, 81 (2011), 1190-1201
- [8] R. Shanker, K. K. Shukla, A Two-Parameter Weighted Sujatha Distribution and its application, Int. J. Appl. Math., 57(3) (2018), 106-121.
- [9] M. G. Bader, A. M. Priest, Statistical Aspects of Fiber and Bundle Strength in Hybrid Composites, In; T. Hayashi, K. Kawata, S. Umekawa, (Eds), Progress in Science in Engineering Composites, ICCM-IV, Tokyo, 1982, pp. 1129 – 1136.
- [10] M. Shaked, J. G. Shanthikumar, Stochastic Orders and Their Applications, Academic Press, New York, 1994.
- [11] M. E. Ghitany, B. Atieh, S. Nadarajah, Lindley distribution and its Application, Mat. Comput. Simulation, 78 (2008), 493 506

- [12] D. V. Lindley, *Fiducial distributions and Bayes' theorem*, J. Royal Stat. Soc., Series B, **20** (1958), 102-107.
  [13] R. Shanker, F. Hagos, S. Sujatha, *On modeling of Lifetimes data using exponential and Lindley distributions*, Biometrics Biostat. Int. J., **2**(5) (2015), 1-9.

Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications, 2 (2) (2019) 59-64 Research paper

UJMA

Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma ISSN 2619-9653 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.32323/ujma.473514



## Hyperbolic Fibonacci Sequence

Fügen Torunbalcı Aydın<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Yıldız Technical University, Faculty of Chemical and Metallurgical Engineering, Department of Mathematical Engineering, 34220, Istanbul, Turkey

\*Corresponding author

#### **Article Info**

#### Abstract

Keywords: Hyperbolic number, Fibonacci number, Hyperbolic Fibonacci number, Hyperbolic Fibonacci Pibonacci vector.
2010 AMS: 11B37, 11B39.
Received: 22 October 2018
Accepted: 23 January 2019
Available online: 28 June 2018

In this paper, we investigate the hyperbolic Fibonacci sequence and the hyperbolic Fibonacci numbers. Furthermore, we give recurrence relations, the golden ratio and Binet's formula for the hyperbolic Fibonacci sequence and Lorentzian inner product, cross product and mixed product for the hyperbolic Fibonacci vectors.

#### 1. Introduction

For the Fibonacci sequence

 $1, 1, 2, 3, 5, 8, 13, 21, 34, 55, 89, 144, 233, \dots, F_n, \dots$ 

defined by the recurrence relation

$$F_n = F_{n-1} + F_{n-2}$$
,  $(n \ge 3)$ 

with  $F_1 = F_2 = 1$ , it is well known that the n-th term of the Fibonacci sequence  $(F_n)$  [1]-[3]. Some recent generalizations have produced a variety of new and extended results, [4]-[8].

Hyperbolic numbers have applications in different areas of mathematics and theoretical physics. In particular, they are related to the Lorentz-Minkowski (Space-time) geometry in the plane as well as complex numbers are to Euclidean one [9]. The work on the function theory for hyperbolic numbers can be found in [10]-[15]. The set of hyperbolic numbers  $\mathbb{H}$  can be described in the form as

$$\mathbb{H} = \{ z = x + hy \mid h \notin \mathbb{R}, h^2 = 1, x, y \in \mathbb{R} \}.$$

$$(1.1)$$

Addition, substraction and multiplication of any two hyperbolic numbers  $z_1$  and  $z_2$  are defined by

$$z_1 \pm z_2 = (x_1 + hy_1) \pm (x_2 + hy_2) = (x_1 \pm x_2) + h(y_1 \pm y_2),$$
  

$$z_1 \times z_2 = (x_1 + hy_1) \times (x_2 + hy_2) = x_1 x_2 + y_1 y_2 + h(x_1 y_2 + y_1 x_2).$$
(1.2)

On the other hand, the division of two hyperbolic numbers are given by

$$\frac{z_1}{z_2} = \frac{x_1 + hy_1}{x_2 + hy_2}$$

$$\frac{(x_1 + hy_1)(x_2 - hy_2)}{(x_2 + hy_2)(x_2 - hy_2)} = \frac{x_1x_2 + y_1y_2}{x_2^2 - y_2^2} + h \frac{(x_1y_2 + y_1x_2)}{x_2^2 - y_2^2}.$$
(1.3)

Email address and ORCID number: faydin@yildiz.edu.tr, 0000-0002-4953-1078 (F. Torunbalcı Aydın)

If  $x_2^2 - y_2^2 \neq 0$ , then the division  $\frac{z_1}{z_2}$  is possible. Therefore, the hyperbolic number system is a non-division algebra. The hyperbolic conjugation of z = x + hy is defined by

$$\overline{z} = z^{\dagger} = x - hy, \ \overline{\overline{z}} = z.$$

For any  $z_1$ ,  $z_2$  hyperbolic numbers, can be written as follows:

$$\begin{aligned} \overline{z_1 + z_2} &= \overline{z_1} + \overline{z_2}, \\ \overline{z_1 \times z_2} &= \overline{z_1} \times \overline{z_2}, \\ \left\| \overrightarrow{z} \right\|^2 &= z \times \overline{z} = x^2 - y^2 \end{aligned}$$

where z is time-like if  $\|\vec{z}\|^2 > 0$ , light-like if  $\|\vec{z}\|^2 = 0$  and space-like if  $\|\vec{z}\|^2 < 0$ . The ring of hyperbolic numbers has zero-divisors. Moreover, these zero-divisors are also idempotent elements  $\{e, e^{\dagger}\}$  for hyperbolic numbers, given by

$$e = \frac{1+h}{2}, \ e^{\dagger} = \frac{1-h}{2}.$$

where  $ee^{\dagger} = 0$ ,  $e^2 = e$ ,  $(e^{\dagger})^2 = e^{\dagger}$ ,  $e + e^{\dagger} = 1$  and  $e - e^{\dagger} = k$ . Then, each hyperbolic number *z* can be written as follows:

$$z = x + hy = (x + y)e + (x - y)e^{\dagger} = z_1e + z_2e^{\dagger}.$$

These numbers are also called double, split, perplex, Lorentz and duplex numbers [12].

#### 2. Hyperbolic Fibonacci sequence

The hyperbolic Fibonacci sequence defined by

$$\widetilde{F}_n = F_n + hF_{n+1}, \ (h^2 = 1)$$
(2.1)

with  $\widetilde{F}_1 = 1 + h$ ,  $\widetilde{F}_2 = 1 + 2h$  where  $h^2 = 1$ . That is, the hyperbolic Fibonacci sequence  $\widetilde{F}_n$  is

$$h, 1+h, 1+2h, 2+3h, 3+5h, \dots, (1+h)F_n+hF_{n-1}, \dots$$
(2.2)

Using the equations (2.1) and (2.2), it was obtained

$$F_{n+1} = (1+h)F_{n+1} + hF_n$$

$$\widetilde{F}_{n+2} = (1+2h)F_{n+1} + (1+h)F_n$$

$$\widetilde{F}_{n+3} = (2+3h)F_{n+1} + (1+2h)F_n$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\widetilde{F}_{n+r} = (F_n + hF_{n+1})F_{r+1} + (F_{n-1} + hF_n)F_r$$

$$\vdots$$
(2.3)

For the hyperbolic Fibonacci sequence, it was obtained the following properties:

$$\begin{split} & \tilde{F}_{n+1}^2 + \tilde{F}_n^2 = 2\,\tilde{F}_{2n+1} + F_{2n+2}\,, \\ & \tilde{F}_{n+1}^2 - \tilde{F}_{n-1}^2 = 2\,\tilde{F}_{2n} + F_{2n+1}\,, \\ & \tilde{F}_{n+r} = \tilde{F}_n F_{r+1} + \tilde{F}_{n-1} F_r \quad (n \geq 3) \\ & \tilde{F}_{n-1}\,\tilde{F}_{n+1} - \tilde{F}_n^2 = h\,(-1)^n\,, \\ & \tilde{F}_{n-r}\,\tilde{F}_{n+r} - \tilde{F}_n^2 = h\,(-1)^{n-r+1}\,F_r^2\,, \\ & \tilde{F}_n^2 + h\,F_{n+1}^2 = \tilde{F}_{2n+1}\,, \\ & \tilde{F}_n\,\tilde{F}_m + \tilde{F}_{n+1}\,\tilde{F}_{m+1} = 2\,\tilde{F}_{n+m+1} + F_{n+m+2}\,, \\ & \tilde{F}_n\,\tilde{F}_{m+1} - \tilde{F}_{n+1}\,\tilde{F}_m = h\,(-1)^m\,F_{n-m}\,, \\ & \frac{\tilde{F}_{n+r} + (-1)^r\,\tilde{F}_{n-r}}{\tilde{F}} = L_r = F_{r+1} + (-1)^rF_{r-1}\,. \end{split}$$

**Theorem 2.1.** If  $\widetilde{F}_n$  is the hyperbolic Fibonacci number, then

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\frac{\widetilde{F}_{n+1}}{\widetilde{F}_n}=\frac{\alpha^2}{\alpha^2-1}$$

where  $\alpha = (1 + \sqrt{5})/2 = 1.618033.$  is the golden ratio.

*Proof.* We have for the Fibonacci number  $F_n$ ,

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\frac{F_{n+1}}{F_n}=\alpha$$

where  $\alpha = (1 + \sqrt{5})/2 = 1.618033...$  is the golden ratio [3].

Then, using this limit value for the hyperbolic Fibonacci number  $\widetilde{F}_n$ , we obtain

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{F_{n+1}}{\tilde{F}_n} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{F_{n+1} + hF_{n+2}}{F_n + hF_{n+1}} = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{(F_{n+1} + hF_{n+2})(F_n - hF_{n+1})}{F_n^2 - F_{n+1}^2}$$
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{F_{n+1}(F_n - F_{n+2}) + h(F_n F_{n+2} - F_{n+1}^2)}{(F_n^2 - F_{n+1}^2)}$$
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{-F_{n+1}^2}{F_n^2 - F_{n+1}^2} + h\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{(-1)^{n+1}}{F_n^2 - F_{n+1}^2}$$
$$= \frac{-\alpha^2}{1 - \alpha^2} + 0$$
$$= \frac{\alpha^2}{\alpha^2 - 1}$$

where the identities  $F_{n+2} = F_n + F_{n+1}$  and  $F_{n+1}F_{n-1} - F_n^2 = (-1)^n$  are used.

**Theorem 2.2.** The Binet formula <sup>1</sup> for the hyperbolic Fibonacci sequence is as follows;

$$\widetilde{F}_n = \frac{1}{\alpha - \beta} \left( \bar{\alpha} \, \alpha^n - \bar{\beta} \, \beta^n \right).$$

Proof. If we use definition of the hyperbolic Fibonacci sequence and substitute first equation in footnote, then we get

$$\widetilde{F}_{n} = F_{n} + h F_{n+1}$$

$$= \left(\frac{\alpha^{n} - \beta^{n}}{\alpha - \beta}\right) + h\left(\frac{\alpha^{n+1} - \beta^{n+1}}{\alpha - \beta}\right)$$

$$= \frac{\alpha^{n} \left(1 + h\alpha\right) - \beta^{n} \left(1 + h\beta\right)}{\alpha - \beta}$$

$$= \frac{\overline{\alpha} \alpha^{n} - \overline{\beta} \beta^{n}}{\alpha - \beta}$$

where  $\overline{\alpha} = 1 + h \alpha$  and  $\overline{\beta} = 1 + h \beta$ .

#### 3. Hyperbolic Fibonacci vectors

Let  $\overrightarrow{z_1} = (x_1, x_2, x_3)$  and  $\overrightarrow{z_2} = (y_1, y_2, y_3)$  be vectors in  $\mathbb{R}^3$ . The Lorentzian inner product of  $z_1$  and  $z_2$  is defined as [16]

$$z_1 \cdot z_2 = \langle \overrightarrow{z_1}, \overrightarrow{z_2} \rangle_L = x_1 y_1 + x_2 y_2 - x_3 y_3.$$

This space denote by  $\mathbb{L}^{2,1}$  or *Lorentz*  $3-space \mathbb{L}^3$ . A hyperbolic Fibonacci vector is defined by

$$\overline{\widetilde{\mathbf{F}}_{n}} = (\widetilde{\mathbf{F}}_{n}, \widetilde{\mathbf{F}}_{n+1}, \widetilde{\mathbf{F}}_{n+2})$$

.

Also, from equations (2.1) and (2.3) it can be expressed as

$$\vec{\widetilde{F}}_{n} = \vec{F}_{n} + h \vec{F}_{n+1}$$

where  $\overrightarrow{\mathbf{F}}_{n} = (F_{n}, F_{n+1}, F_{n+2})$  and  $\overrightarrow{\mathbf{F}}_{n+1} = (F_{n+1}, F_{n+2}, F_{n+3})$  are the hyperbolic Fibonacci vectors. The product of the hyperbolic Fibonacci vector  $\overrightarrow{\mathbf{F}}_{n}$  and the scalar  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$  is given by

$$\lambda \overrightarrow{\widetilde{F}_{n}} = \lambda \overrightarrow{F}_{n} + h \lambda \overrightarrow{F}_{n+1}$$

and  $\overrightarrow{\widetilde{F}_n}$  and  $\overrightarrow{\widetilde{F}_m}$  are equal if and only if

$$F_n = F_m$$
  
 $F_{n+1} = F_{m+1}$   
 $F_{n+2} = F_{m+2}.$ 

<sup>1</sup>Binet formula is the explicit formula to obtain the n-th Fibonacci and Lucas numbers. It is well known that for the Fibonacci and Lucas numbers, Binet formulas are

$$F_n=\frac{\alpha^n-\beta^n}{\alpha-\beta}$$

$$L_n = \alpha^n + \beta^n$$

and

respectively, where  $\alpha + \beta = 1$ ,  $\alpha - \beta = \sqrt{5}$ ,  $\alpha\beta = -1$  and  $\alpha = (1 + \sqrt{5})/2$ ,  $\beta = (1 - \sqrt{5})/2$ , [7],[8].

Some examples of the hyperbolic Fibonacci vectors can be given easily as;

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{F}'_{1} &= (\widetilde{F}_{1}, \widetilde{F}_{2}, \widetilde{F}_{3}) \\ &= (F_{1}, F_{2}, F_{3}) + h(F_{2}, F_{3}, F_{4}) \\ &= (1+h, 1+2h, 2+3h) \\ \overrightarrow{\widetilde{F}_{2}} &= (\widetilde{F}_{2}, \widetilde{F}_{3}, \widetilde{F}_{4}) \\ &= (F_{2}, F_{3}, F_{4}) + h(F_{3}, F_{4}, F_{5}) \\ &= (1+2h, 2+3h, 3+5h) \end{split}$$

**Theorem 3.1.** Let  $\overrightarrow{\widetilde{F}_n}$  and  $\overrightarrow{\widetilde{F}_m}$  be two hyperbolic Fibonacci vectors. The Lorentzian inner product of  $\overrightarrow{\widetilde{F}_n}$  and  $\overrightarrow{\widetilde{F}_m}$  is given by

$$\left\langle \widetilde{\widetilde{F}_{n}}, \widetilde{\widetilde{F}_{m}} \right\rangle_{L} = \left( F_{n+m+1} - F_{n+m+4} \right) + h\left( 3F_{n+m+2} + 2F_{n+m+3} - F_{n+1}F_{m+1} \right).$$

$$(3.1)$$

*Proof.* The Lorentzian inner product of  $\overrightarrow{\widetilde{F}}_{n} = (\widetilde{F}_{n}, \widetilde{F}_{n+1}, \widetilde{F}_{n+2})$  and  $\overrightarrow{\widetilde{F}}_{m} = (\widetilde{F}_{m}, \widetilde{F}_{m+1}, \widetilde{F}_{m+2})$  defined by

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \vec{\mathbf{F}}_{n}^{'}, \vec{\mathbf{F}}_{m}^{'} \right\rangle_{L} &= \widetilde{F}_{n} \widetilde{F}_{m} + \widetilde{F}_{n+1} \widetilde{F}_{m+1} - \widetilde{F}_{n+2} \widetilde{F}_{m+2} \\ &= \left\langle \vec{\mathbf{F}}_{n}, \vec{\mathbf{F}}_{m} \right\rangle + \left\langle \vec{\mathbf{F}}_{n+1}, \vec{\mathbf{F}}_{m+1} \right\rangle \\ &+ h \left[ \left\langle \vec{\mathbf{F}}_{n}, \vec{\mathbf{F}}_{m+1} \right\rangle + \left\langle \vec{\mathbf{F}}_{n+1}, \vec{\mathbf{F}}_{m} \right\rangle \right] \end{split}$$

where  $\overrightarrow{F_n} = (F_n, F_{n+1}, F_{n+2})$  is the hyperbolic Fibonacci vector. Also, the equations (1.1), (1.2) and (1.3), we obtain

$$\left\langle \vec{\mathbf{F}}_{n}, \vec{\mathbf{F}}_{m} \right\rangle = F_{n}F_{m} + F_{n+1}F_{m+1} - F_{n+2}F_{m+2}$$
(3.2)

$$\left\langle \vec{\mathbf{F}}_{n+1}, \vec{\mathbf{F}}_{m+1} \right\rangle = F_{n+1}F_{m+1} + F_{n+2}F_{m+2} - F_{n+3}F_{m+3}$$
(3.3)

$$\left\langle \overrightarrow{\mathbf{F}}_{n}, \overrightarrow{\mathbf{F}}_{m+1} \right\rangle = F_{n}F_{m+1} + F_{n+1}F_{m+2} - F_{n+2}F_{m+3}$$
(3.4)

and

$$\vec{F}_{n+1}, \vec{F}_{m} \rangle = F_{n+1}F_m + F_{n+2}F_{m+1} - F_{n+3}F_{m+2}$$
(3.5)

Then from equation (3.2), (3.3), (3.4) and (3.5), we have the equation (3.1).

**Special Case-1:** For the Lorentzian inner product of the hyperbolic Fibonacci vectors  $\vec{F}_n$  and  $\vec{F}_{n+1}$ , we get

$$\left\langle \vec{\widetilde{F}}_{n}, \vec{\widetilde{F}}_{n+1} \right\rangle_{L} = \widetilde{F}_{n}\widetilde{F}_{n+1} + \widetilde{F}_{n+1}\widetilde{F}_{n+2} - \widetilde{F}_{n+2}\widetilde{F}_{n+3} = \left\langle \vec{F}_{n}, \vec{F}_{n+1} \right\rangle + \left\langle \vec{F}_{n+1}, \vec{F}_{n+2} \right\rangle + h\left[ \left\langle \vec{F}_{n}, \vec{F}_{n+2} \right\rangle + \left\langle \vec{F}_{n+1}, \vec{F}_{n+1} \right\rangle \right] = (F_{2n+2} - F_{2n+5}) + h(2F_{2n+3} + F_{2n+5} - F_{n+2}F_{n+3})$$

and

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \overrightarrow{\widetilde{\mathbf{F}}}_{n}, \overrightarrow{\widetilde{\mathbf{F}}}_{n} \right\rangle_{L} &= \widetilde{F}_{n}^{2} + \widetilde{F}_{n+1}^{2} - \widetilde{F}_{n+2}^{2} \\ &= \left\langle \overrightarrow{\mathbf{F}}_{n}, \overrightarrow{\mathbf{F}}_{n} \right\rangle + \left\langle \overrightarrow{\mathbf{F}}_{n+1}, \overrightarrow{\mathbf{F}}_{n+1} \right\rangle + h\left\langle \overrightarrow{\mathbf{F}}_{n}, \overrightarrow{\mathbf{F}}_{n+1} \right\rangle \\ &= (F_{2n+1} - F_{2n+4}) + 2h(F_{2n+2} - F_{n+2}F_{n+3}). \end{split}$$

Then for the Lorentzian inner product of the hyperbolic vector <sup>2</sup>, we have, using identities of the Fibonacci numbers

$$\begin{array}{rcl} F_n^2 + F_{n+1}^2 & = & F_{2n+1} \\ F_{n+3}^2 - F_{n+1}^2 & = & F_{2n+2} \\ F_n F_m + F_{n+1} F_{m+1} & = & F_{n+m+1} \end{array}$$

(see, [11]), we have

$$\left\| \overrightarrow{\widetilde{F}_{n}} \right\|^{2} = \left\langle \overrightarrow{\widetilde{F}_{n}}, \overrightarrow{\widetilde{F}_{n}} \right\rangle_{L} = \widetilde{F}_{n}^{2} + \widetilde{F}_{n+1}^{2} - \widetilde{F}_{n+2}^{2} = (F_{2n+1} - F_{2n+2}) + 2h(F_{2n+2} - 2F_{n+2}F_{n+3}).$$

<sup>2</sup>Lorentzian inner product of hyperbolic number as follows:

$$\langle \overrightarrow{z}, \overrightarrow{z} \rangle_L = x_1^2 + x_2^2 - x_3^2, [11].$$

.

The Lorentzian cross product [16],[17] of the vectors  $\overrightarrow{z_1}$  and  $\overrightarrow{z_2}$  in  $\mathbb{L}^3$  is

$$\vec{z_1} \times_L \vec{z_2} = \begin{vmatrix} -i & -j & k \\ x_1 & x_2 & x_3 \\ y_1 & y_2 & y_3 \end{vmatrix}$$
$$= -i(x_2y_3 - x_3y_2) + j(x_1y_3 - x_3y_1) + k(x_1y_2 - x_2y_1).$$

**Theorem 3.2.** Let  $\overrightarrow{\widetilde{F}_n}$  and  $\overrightarrow{\widetilde{F}_m}$  be two hyperbolic Fibonacci vectors. The Lorentzian cross product of  $\overrightarrow{\widetilde{F}_n}$  and  $\overrightarrow{\widetilde{F}_m}$  is given by

$$\overrightarrow{\widetilde{F}}_{n} \times_{L} \overrightarrow{\widetilde{F}}_{m} = h \left(-1\right)^{m} F_{n-m} \left(i+j+k\right).$$
(3.6)

*Proof.* The Lorentzian cross product of  $\vec{F}_n = \vec{F}_n + h \vec{F}_{n+1}$  and  $\vec{F}_m = \vec{F}_m + h \vec{F}_{m+1}$  defined by

$$\vec{\widetilde{F}_{n}} \times \vec{\widetilde{F}_{m}} = (\vec{F}_{n} \times \vec{F}_{m}) + (\vec{F}_{n+1} \times \vec{F}_{m+1}) + h(\vec{F}_{n} \times \vec{F}_{m+1} + \vec{F}_{n+1} \times \vec{F}_{m})$$

where  $\overrightarrow{F}_{n}$  is the hyperbolic Fibonacci vector and  $\overrightarrow{F}_{n} \times \overrightarrow{F}_{m}$  is the Lorentzian cross product for the hyperbolic Fibonacci vectors  $\overrightarrow{F}_{n}$  and  $\overrightarrow{F}_{m}$ , Now, we calculate the cross products  $\overrightarrow{F}_{n} \times \overrightarrow{F}_{m}$ ,  $\overrightarrow{F}_{n+1} \times \overrightarrow{F}_{m+1}$ ,  $\overrightarrow{F}_{n} \times \overrightarrow{F}_{m+1}$  and  $\overrightarrow{F}_{n+1} \times \overrightarrow{F}_{m}$ : Using the property  $F_{m}F_{n+1} - F_{m+1}F_{n} = (-1)^{n}F_{m-n}$ , we get

$$\overline{\mathbf{F}}_{\mathbf{n}} \times \overline{\mathbf{F}}_{\mathbf{m}} = (-1)^m F_{n-m} \left( i + j + k \right) \tag{3.7}$$

$$\vec{F}_{n+1} \times \vec{F}_{m+1} = (-1)^{m+1} F_{n-m} (i+j+k)$$
(3.8)

$$\vec{\mathbf{F}}_{n} \times \vec{\mathbf{F}}_{m+1} = (-1)^{m+1} F_{n-m-1} \left( i + j + k \right)$$
(3.9)

and

$$\vec{\mathbf{F}}_{n+1} \times \vec{\mathbf{F}}_{m} = (-1)^{m} F_{n-m+1} (i+j+k).$$
(3.10)

Then from the equations (3.7), (3.8), (3.9) and (3.10), we obtain the equation (3.6).

**Theorem 3.3.** Let  $\overrightarrow{F_n}$ ,  $\overrightarrow{F_m}$  and  $\overrightarrow{F_\ell}$  be the hyperbolic Fibonacci vectors. The Lorentzian mixed product of these vectors is

$$\left\langle \vec{\widetilde{F}_{n}} \times_{L} \vec{\widetilde{F}_{m}}, \vec{\widetilde{F}_{\ell}} \right\rangle = 0.$$
(3.11)

Proof. Using the properties

$$\overrightarrow{\vec{F}_{n}} \times \overrightarrow{\vec{F}_{m}} = (\overrightarrow{F}_{n} \times \overrightarrow{F}_{m}) + (\overrightarrow{F}_{n+1} \times \overrightarrow{F}_{m+1}) + h(\overrightarrow{F}_{n} \times \overrightarrow{F}_{m+1} + \overrightarrow{F}_{n+1} \times \overrightarrow{F}_{m})$$

and

$$\overrightarrow{\widetilde{\mathbf{F}}}_{\ell} = \overrightarrow{\mathbf{F}}_{\ell} + h \overrightarrow{\mathbf{F}}_{\ell+1}$$

we can write,

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \vec{\vec{F}}_{n} \times_{L} \vec{\vec{F}}_{m}, \vec{\vec{F}}_{\ell} \right\rangle &= \left\langle \vec{F}_{n} \times \vec{F}_{m}, \vec{F}_{\ell} \right\rangle + \left\langle \vec{F}_{n+1} \times \vec{F}_{m+1}, \vec{F}_{\ell} \right\rangle \\ &+ h \left[ \left\langle \vec{F}_{n} \times \vec{F}_{m}, \vec{F}_{\ell+1} \right\rangle + \left\langle \vec{F}_{n+1} \times \vec{F}_{m+1}, \vec{F}_{\ell+1} \right\rangle \right] \\ &+ h \left[ \left\langle \vec{F}_{n} \times \vec{F}_{m+1}, \vec{F}_{\ell} \right\rangle + \left\langle \vec{F}_{n+1} \times \vec{F}_{m}, \vec{F}_{\ell} \right\rangle \right] \\ &+ \left\langle \vec{F}_{n} \times \vec{F}_{m+1}, \vec{F}_{\ell+1} \right\rangle + \left\langle \vec{F}_{n+1} \times \vec{F}_{m}, \vec{F}_{\ell+1} \right\rangle. \end{split}$$

Then from equations (3.7), (3.8), (3.9) and (3.10) and by using the Lorentzian inner product definition of the hyperbolic number, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\langle (i+j+k), \overrightarrow{\mathbf{F}_{\ell}} \right\rangle &= F_{\ell} + F_{\ell+1} - F_{\ell+2} = 0, \\ \left\langle (i+j+k), \overrightarrow{\mathbf{F}_{\ell+1}} \right\rangle &= F_{\ell+1} + F_{\ell+2} - F_{\ell+3} = 0 \end{split}$$

Thus, we have the equation (3.11).

#### 4. Conclusion

The hyperbolic Fibonacci sequence defined by

$$\widetilde{F}_n = F_n + h F_{n+1}, \ (h^2 = 1),$$

with  $\tilde{F}_1 = 1 + h$ ,  $\tilde{F}_2 = 1 + 2h$  where  $h^2 = 1$ ,.

In addition, limit for the hyperbolic Fibonacci sequence and Binet's formula for the hyperbolic Fibonacci sequence is given. Furthermore, vectors and the Lorentzian inner product, cross product and mixed product of these vectors are given.

#### References

- [1] A. F. Horadam, Complex Fibonacci numbers and Fibonacci quaternions, American Math. Monthly 70(1963), 289-291.
- T. Koshy, Fibonacci and Lucas Numbers with Applications, John Wiley and Sons, Proc., New York-Toronto, 2001.
- [3] S. Vajda, Fibonacci and Lucas Numbers the Golden Section, Ellis Horrowood Limited Publ., England, 1989.
- [4] G. Berzsenyi, Sums of Product of Generalized Fibonacci Numbers, Fibonacci Quart., 13(4), (1975), 343-344. [5] A. F. Horadam, A Generalized Fibonacci sequence, American Math. Monthly, 68, (1961), 455-459.
- [6] A. F. Horadam, Basic properties of a certain generalized sequence of numbers, Fibonacci Quart., 3(3), (1965), 161-176.
- [7] M. R. Iyer, Identities involving generalized Fibonacci numbers, Fibonacci Quart., 7(1), (1969), 66-73.
- [8] J. E. Walton and A. F. Horadam, Some further identities for the generalized Fibonacci sequence, Fibonacci Quart., 12(3), (1974), 272-280.
  [9] F. Catoni, R. Boccaletti, R. Cannata, V. Catoni, E. Nichelatti and P. Zampatti, The Mathematics of Minkowski Space-Time, Birkhauser, Basel, 2008.
- [10] H. Gargoubi and S. Kossentini, *f-algebra structure on hyperbolic numbers*, Adv. Appl. Clifford Algebr., **26**(4), (2016), 1211-1233.
- [11] A. E. Motter and A. F. Rosa, Hyperbolic calculus, Adv. Appl. Clifford Algebr., 8(1), (1998), 109-128.
- [12] B. Jancewicz, The extended Grassmann algebra of R3, in Clifford (Geometric) Algebras with Applications and Engineering, Birkhauser, Boston, (1996),
- 389-421. [13] D. Khadjiev and Y. Göksal, Applications of hyperbolic numbers to the invariant theory in two-dimensional pseudo-Euclidean space, Adv. Appl. Clifford Algebr., 26, (2016), 645-668.
- [14] A. N. Güncan and Y. Erbil, *The q-Fibonacci hyperbolic functions*, Appl. Math. Inf. Sci. 8 (1L), (2014), 81-88.
   [15] L. Barreira, L. H. Popescu and C. Valls, *Hyperbolic Sequences of Linear Operators and Evolution Maps*, Milan J. Math., 84, (2016), 203-216.
- [16] J. G. Ratcliffe, Foundations of Hyperbolic Manifolds, Springer-Verlag, 1994.
- [17] K. Akutagawa and S. Nishikawa, The Gauss Map and Spacelike Surfaces with Prescribed Mean Curvature in Minkowski 3-Space, Thöko Math., J., 42, (1990), 67-82.

**UJMA** 

**Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications** 

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma ISSN 2619-9653 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.32323/ujma.481052



## Hyperspaces of Superparacompact Spaces and Continuous Maps

Adilbek Ataxanovich Zaitov<sup>1\*</sup> and Davron Ilxomovich Jumaev<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1\*</sup>Tashkent institute of architecture and civil engineering, Tashkent, Uzbekistan \*Corresponding author

Article Info	Abstract
Keywords: Finite-component cover, Hy- perspace, Superparacompact space, Ty- chonoff map 2010 AMS: 54B20, 54C10. Received: 9 November 2018	In the present paper we establish that the space $\exp_{\beta} X$ of compact subsets of a Tychonoff space <i>X</i> is superparacompact iff <i>X</i> is so. Further, we prove the Tychonoff map $\exp_{\beta} f$ : $\exp_{\beta} X \to \exp_{\beta} Y$ is superparacompact iff a given map $f: X \to Y$ is superparacompact.
Accepted: 9 April 2019	
Available online: 28 June 2019	

#### 1. Introduction

In the present paper under space we mean a topological  $T_1$ -space, under compact a Hausdorff compact space and under map a continuous map.

A collection  $\omega$  of subsets of a set *X* is said [1] to be *star-countable* (respectively, *star-finite*) if each element of  $\omega$  intersects at most a countable (respectively, finite) set of elements of  $\omega$ . A collection  $\omega$  of subsets of a set *X* refines a collection  $\Omega$  of subsets of *X* if for each element  $A \in \omega$  there is an element  $B \in \Omega$  such that  $A \subset B$ . They also say that  $\omega$  is *a refinement* of  $\Omega$ .

A finite sequence of subsets  $M_0, ..., M_s$  of a set X is [2] a *chain* connecting sets  $M_0$  and  $M_s$ , if  $M_{i-1} \cap M_i \neq \emptyset$  for i = 1, ..., s. A collection  $\omega$  of subsets of a set X is said to be *connected* if for any pair of sets  $M, M' \subset X$  there exists a chain in  $\omega$  connecting sets M and M'. The maximal connected subcollections of  $\omega$  are called *components* of  $\omega$ . A star-finite open cover of a space X is said to be *a finite-component* cover if the number of elements of each component is finite. A space X is said to be *superparacompact* if every open cover of X has a finite-component cover which refines it.

Note that any compact space is superparacompact, and any superparacompact space is strongly paracompact. Infinite discrete space is superparacompact, but it is not compact. Real line is strongly paracompact, but it is not superparacompact.

For a collection  $\omega = \{O_{\alpha} : \alpha \in A\}$  of subsets of a space *X* we suppose  $[\omega] = [\omega]_X = \{[O_{\alpha}]_X : \alpha \in A\}$ . For a space *X*, its some subspace *W* and a set  $B \subset X \setminus W$  they say [2] that an open cover  $\lambda$  of the space *W* pricks out the set *B* in *X* if  $B \cap (\cup[\lambda]_X) = \emptyset$ .

The following criterion plays a key role in investigation the class of superparacompact spaces.

**Theorem 1.1.** [3] A Tychonoff space X is superparacompact iff for every closed set F in  $\beta X$  lying in the growth  $\beta X \setminus X$  there exists a finite-component cover  $\lambda$  of X pricking out F in  $\beta X$  (i. e.  $F \cap (\cup [\lambda]_{\beta X}) = \emptyset$ ).

D.Buhagiar and T.Miwa offered the following criterion of superparacompactness.

**Theorem 1.2.** [4] A Tychonoff space X is superparacompact iff for every closed set F in perfect compactification bX lying in the growth  $bX \setminus X$  there is a finite-component cover  $\lambda$  of X pricking out F in bX (i. e.  $F \cap (\cup[\lambda]_{bX}) = \emptyset$ ).

Let us recall a notion of the perfect compactification. For a topological space *X* and its subset *A* a set  $Fr_XA = [A]_X \cap [X \setminus A]_X = [A]_X \setminus Int_XA$  is called [5] a boundary of *A*.

Let vX be a compact extension of a Tychonoff space X. If  $H \subset X$  is an open set in X, then by O(H) (or by  $O_{vX}(H)$ ) we denote a maximal open set in vX satisfying  $O_{vX}(H) \cap X = H$ . It is easy to see that

$$O_{\nu X}(H) = \bigcup_{\substack{\Gamma \in \tau_{\nu X}, \\ \Gamma \cap X = H}} \Gamma,$$

Email addresses and ORCID numbers: adilbek\_zaitov@mail.ru, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2248-0442 (A. A. Zaitov), d-a-v-ron@mail.ru, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5387-3639 (D. I. Jumaev)

where  $\tau_{vX}$  is the topology of the space vX.

A compactification vX of a Tychonoff space X is called *perfect with respect to an open set* H in X, if the equality  $[Fr_XH]_{vX} = Fr_{vX}O_{vX}(X)$ holds. If vX is perfect with respect to every open set in X, then it is called *a perfect compactification* of the space X ([1], P. 232). A compactification vX of a space X is perfect iff for any two disjoint open sets  $U_1$  and  $U_2$  in X the equality  $O(U_1 \cup U_2) = O(U_1) \cup O(U_2)$  is carried out. The Stone-Cčch compactification  $\beta X$  of X is perfect. The equality  $O(U_1 \cup U_2) = O(U_1) \cup O(U_2)$  is satisfied for every pair of open sets  $U_1$  and  $U_2$  in X iff X is normal, and the compactification vX coincides with the Stone-Cčch compactification  $\beta X$ , i. e.  $vX \cong \beta X$ . Let X be a space. By expX we denote a set of all nonempty closed subsets of X. A family of sets of the view

$$O\langle U_1,...,U_n\rangle = \{F \in \exp X : F \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^n U_n, F \cap U_1 \neq \emptyset, ..., F \cap U_n \neq \emptyset\}$$

forms a base of a topology on  $\exp X$ , where  $U_1, \ldots, U_n$  are open nonempty sets in X. This topology is called *the Vietoris topology*. A space  $\exp X$  equipped with Vietoris topology is called *hyperspace* of X. For a compact space X its hyperspace  $\exp X$  is also a compact space (for details, see [6], [7], [8]).

Note for any space X it is well known that

$$[O\langle U_1,...,U_n\rangle]_{\exp X} = O\langle [U_1]_X,...,[U_n]_X\rangle.$$

Let  $f: X \to Y$  be continuous map of compacts,  $F \in \exp X$ . We put

$$(\exp f)(F) = f(F)$$

This equality defines a map  $\exp f : \exp X \to \exp Y$ . For a continuous map f the map  $\exp f$  is continuous. Really, it follows from the formula

$$(\exp f)^{-1}O\langle U_1, ..., U_m \rangle = O\langle f^{-1}(U_1), ..., f^{-1}(U_m) \rangle$$

what one can check directly. Note that if  $f: X \to Y$  is an epimorphism, then exp *f* is also an epimorphism. For a Tychonoff space *X* we put

 $\exp_{\beta} X = \{F \in \exp\beta X : F \subset X\}.$ 

It is clear, that  $\exp_{\beta} X \subset \exp X$ . Consider the set  $\exp_{\beta} X$  as a subspace of the space  $\exp X$ . For a Tychonoff spaces X the space  $\exp_{\beta} X$  is also a Tychonoff space with respect to the induced topology.

For a continuous map  $f: X \to Y$  of Tychonoff spaces we put

$$\exp_{\beta} f = \left( \exp\beta f \right) \big|_{\exp_{\beta} X},$$

where  $\beta f : \beta X \to \beta Y$  is the Stone-Cěch compactification [5] of *f* (it is unique).

As it is well-known the action of functors on various categories of topological spaces and their continuous maps is one of the main problems of theory of covariant functors, in the present paper we investigate the action of the functor exp (the construction of taking of a hyperspace of a given space) on superparacompact spaces (section 2) and superparacompact maps (section 3).

#### 2. Hyperspace of superparacompact spaces

It is well known that for a Tychonoff space X the set  $\exp_{\beta} X$  is everywhere dense in  $\exp \beta X$ , i. e.  $\exp \beta X$  is a compactification of the space  $\exp_{\beta} X$ . We claim  $\exp \beta X$  is a perfect compactification of  $\exp_{\beta} X$ . At first we will prove the following technical statement.

**Lemma 2.1.** Let  $\gamma X$  be a compact extension of a space X and, V and W be disjoint open sets in  $\gamma X$ . Let  $V^X = X \cap V$  and  $W^X = X \cap W$ . Then the following equality is true:

$$[X \setminus V^X]_{\gamma X} \cap [X \setminus W^X]_{\gamma X} = [X \setminus (V^X \cup W^X)]_{\gamma X}.$$

*Proof.* It is clear that  $[X \setminus V^X]_{\gamma X} \cap [X \setminus W^X]_{\gamma X} \supset [X \setminus (V^X \cup W^X)]_{\gamma X}$ . Let  $x \in [X \setminus V^X]_{\gamma X} \cap [X \setminus W^X]_{\gamma X}$ . Then each open neighbourhood Ox in  $\gamma X$  of x intersects with the sets  $X \setminus V^X$  and  $X \setminus W^X$ . Hence,  $Ox \not\subset V^X$  and  $Ox \not\subset W^X$ . Therefore, since  $V^X \cap W^X = \emptyset$ , we have  $Ox \not\subset V^X \cup W^X$ , i. e.  $Ox \cap X \setminus (V^X \cup W^X) \neq \emptyset$ . By virtue of arbitrariness of the neighbourhood Ox we conclude that  $x \in [X \setminus (V^X \cup W^X)]_{\gamma X}$ .  $\Box$ 

**Theorem 2.2.** For a Tychonoff space X the space  $\exp \beta X$  is a perfect compactification of the space  $\exp_{\beta} X$ .

*Proof.* It is enough to consider basic open sets. Let  $U_1$  and  $U_2$  be disjoint open sets in X. Since  $\beta X$  is perfect compactification of X we have  $O_{\beta X}(U_1 \cup U_2) = O_{\beta X}(U_1) \cup O_{\beta X}(U_2)$ . Consider open sets

$$O\langle U_i \rangle = \{F : F \in \exp_\beta X, F \subset U_i\}, \qquad i = 1, 2$$

in  $\exp_{\beta} X$ . It is clear, that  $O\langle U_1 \rangle \cap O\langle U_2 \rangle = \emptyset$ . We will show that

$$O_{\exp\beta X}(O\langle U_1\rangle \cup O\langle U_2\rangle) = O_{\exp\beta X}(O\langle U_1\rangle) \cup O_{\exp\beta X}(O\langle U_2\rangle).$$

The inclusion  $\supset$  follows from the definition of the set O(H) (see [1], P. 234). That is why it is enough to show the inverse inclusion. Let  $\Phi \subset \beta X$  be a closed set such that  $\Phi \notin O_{\exp\beta X}(O\langle U_1 \rangle) \cup O_{\exp\beta X}(O\langle U_2 \rangle)$ . Then  $\Phi \in \exp\beta X \setminus O_{\exp\beta X}(O\langle U_i \rangle)$ , i = 1, 2. From [1] (see, P. 234) we have

$$\exp\beta X \setminus O_{\exp\beta X}(O\langle U_i \rangle) = [\exp_\beta X \setminus O\langle U_i \rangle]_{\exp\beta X}, \qquad i = 1, 2.$$

Hence  $\Phi \in [\exp_{\beta} X \setminus O(U_i)]_{\exp_{\beta} X}$ , i = 1, 2. Since  $O(U_1) \cap O(U_2) = \emptyset$  by Lemma 2.1 we have

$$[\exp_{\beta} X \setminus O\langle U_1 \rangle]_{\exp\beta X} \cap [\exp_{\beta} X \setminus O\langle U_2 \rangle]_{\exp\beta X} = [\exp_{\beta} X \setminus O(\langle U_1 \rangle \cup O\langle U_2 \rangle)]_{\exp\beta X}$$

Therefore,  $\Phi \in [\exp_{\beta}X \setminus O_{\exp_{\beta}X}(O\langle U_1 \rangle \cup O\langle U_2 \rangle)]_{\exp_{\beta}X}$ , what is equivalent  $\Phi \in \exp_{\beta}X \setminus O_{\exp_{\beta}X}(\langle U_1 \rangle \cup \langle U_2 \rangle)$  (see [1], P. 234). In other words,  $\Phi \notin O_{\exp_{\beta}X}(\langle U_1 \rangle \cup \langle U_2 \rangle)$ . Thus, we have established that inclusion  $O_{\exp_{\beta}X}(\langle U_1 \rangle \cup \langle U_2 \rangle) \subset O_{\exp_{\beta}X}(O\langle U_1 \rangle) \cup O_{\exp_{\beta}X}(O\langle U_2 \rangle)$  is also fair.

**Lemma 2.3.** Let  $U_1, \ldots, U_n$ ;  $V_1, \ldots, V_m$  be open subsets of a space X. Then  $O(U_1, \ldots, U_n) \cap O(V_1, \ldots, V_m) \neq \emptyset$  iff for each  $i \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$  and for each  $j \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$  there exists, respectively  $j(i) \in \{1, \ldots, m\}$  and  $i(j) \in \{1, \ldots, n\}$ , such that  $U_i \cap V_{j(i)} \neq \emptyset$  and  $U_{i(j)} \cap V_j \neq \emptyset$ .

*Proof.* Assume that for every  $i \in \{1, ..., n\}$  there exists  $j(i) \in \{1, ..., m\}$  such that  $U_i \cap V_{j(i)} \neq \emptyset$  and for every  $j \in \{1, ..., m\}$  there exists  $i(j) \in \{1, ..., n\}$  such that  $U_{i(j)} \cap V_j \neq \emptyset$ . For any pair  $(i, j) \in \{1, ..., n\} \times \{1, ..., m\}$  for which  $U_i \cap V_j \neq \emptyset$ , choose a point  $x_{ij} \in U_i \cap V_j$  and make a closed set F consisting of these points. Then  $F \subset \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} U_i$  and  $F \subset \bigcup_{j=1}^{m} V_j$ . Besides,  $F \cap U_i \neq \emptyset$ , i = 1, ..., n, and  $F \cap V_j \neq \emptyset$ , j = 1, ..., m. Therefore,  $F \in O\langle U_1, ..., U_n \rangle \cap O\langle V_1, ..., V_m \rangle$ .

Suppose there exists  $i_0 \in \{1, ..., n\}$  such that  $U_{i_0} \cap V_j = \emptyset$  for all  $j \in \{1, ..., m\}$ . Then  $U_{i_0} \cap \bigcup_{j=1}^m V_j = \emptyset$  and for each  $F \in O\langle U_1, ..., U_n \rangle$ we have  $F \not\subset \bigcup_{j=1}^m V_j$ . Hence,  $F \notin O\langle V_1, ..., V_m \rangle$ . Similarly, every  $\Gamma \in O\langle V_1, ..., V_m \rangle$  lies in  $\bigcup_{j=1}^m V_j$  what implies  $\Gamma \cap U_{i_0} = \emptyset$ . From here  $\Gamma \notin O\langle U_1, ..., U_n \rangle$ . Thus,  $O\langle U_1, ..., U_n \rangle \cap O\langle V_1, ..., V_m \rangle = \emptyset$ .

**Lemma 2.4.** Let  $\upsilon$  be a finite-component cover of a Tychonoff space X. Then the family  $\exp_{\beta} \upsilon = \{O(U_1, \ldots, U_n) : U_i \in \upsilon, i = 1, \ldots, n; n \in \mathbb{N}\}$  is a finite-component cover of the space  $\exp_{\beta} X$ .

*Proof.* Let  $O(G_1, \ldots, G_k)$  be an element of  $\exp_{\beta} v$ . Each  $G_i \in v$  intersects with finite elements of v. Let  $|\{\alpha : G_i \cap U_\alpha \neq \emptyset, U_\alpha \in v\}| = n_i$ ,  $i = 1, 2, \ldots, k$ . Denote  $\gamma = \{G_i \cap U_j : G_i \cap U_j \neq \emptyset, i = 1, 2, \ldots, k, U_j \in v\}$ . Then  $|\gamma| \le n_1 \cdot \ldots \cdot n_k$ . Therefore, the set  $O(G_1, \ldots, G_k)$  crosses not more then  $\prod_{i=1}^k n_i$  elements of  $\exp_{\beta} v$ . It means that the collection  $\exp_{\beta} v$  is star-finite.

Let  $F \in \exp_{\beta} X$ . There is a subfamily  $v_F \subset v$  such that  $F \subset \bigcup_{U \in v_F} U$ . From a cover  $\{F \cap U : U \in v_F, F \cap U \neq \emptyset\}$  of the compact F it is possible to allocate a finite subcover  $\{F \cap U_i : i = 1, ..., m\}$ . We have  $F \in O(U_1, ..., U_m)$ . So, the family  $\exp_{\beta} v$  is a cover of  $\exp_{\beta} X$ . On the other hand by the definition of Vietoris topology the cover  $\exp_{\beta} v$  is open. Thus,  $\exp_{\beta} v$  is a star-finite open cover of  $\exp_{\beta} X$ . We will show now that all components of the  $\exp_{\beta} v$  are finite.

Let  $M = O(G_1, ..., G_s)$  and  $M' = O(G'_1, ..., G'_t)$  be arbitrary elements of  $\exp_\beta v$ . Further, let  $\gamma_{G_iG'_j} = \{U_l^{ij} : l = 1, 2, ..., n_{ij}\}$  be the maximal chain of v connecting  $G_i$  and  $G'_i$ , i = 1, 2, ..., s; j = 1, 2, ..., t. By definition these sets satisfy the following properties:

(1)  $U_1^{ij} = G_i$ , i = 1, ..., s; j = 1, ..., t;(2)  $U_{n_ij}^{ij} = G'_j$ , i = 1, ..., s; j = 1, ..., t;(3)  $U_l^{ij} \cap U_{l+1}^{ij} \neq \emptyset$ ,  $l = 1, ..., n_{ij} - 1; i = 1, ..., s; j = 1, ..., t.$ 

If s < t we have  $O\langle G_1, \ldots, G_s \rangle = O\langle U_1^{1j}, \ldots, U_1^{sj}, U_1^{i_1(s+1)}, \ldots, U_1^{i_t,st} \rangle$ , where  $j = 1, \ldots, t$  and  $i_1, \ldots, i_{t-s} \in \{1, \ldots, s\}$ . Further,  $O\langle G_1', \ldots, G_t' \rangle = O\langle U_{n_{i1}}^{i_1}, \ldots, U_{n_{it}}^{i_t} \rangle$ ,  $i = 1, \ldots, s$ . Thus, the cover  $\exp_\beta v$  has a chain connecting the given sets  $M = O\langle G_1, \ldots, G_s \rangle$  and  $M' = O\langle G_1', \ldots, G_t' \rangle$ . The case s > t is analogously.

Now using Lemma 2.1 and calculating directly we find that each maximal chain of  $\exp_{\beta} v$  connecting the sets  $M = O\langle G_1, \dots, G_s \rangle$  and  $\frac{t}{s}$ 

$$M' = O\langle G'_1, \dots, G'_t \rangle$$
 has no more than  $\prod_{\substack{i=1, \ j=1}} n_{ij}$  elements. Thus, all components of  $\exp_\beta v$  is finite.

**Theorem 2.5.** For a Tychonoff space X its hyperspace  $\exp_{\beta} X$  is superparacompact iff X is superparacompact.

*Proof.* As the superparacompactness is inherited to the closed subsets [2], the superparacompactness of  $\exp_{\beta} X$  implies superparacompactness of the closed subset  $X \subset \exp_{\beta} X$ .

Let  $\Omega$  be an open cover of  $\exp_{\beta} X$ . For each element  $G \in \Omega$  there exists  $O_G \langle U_1, \dots, U_n \rangle$  such that  $O_G \langle U_1, \dots, U_n \rangle \subset G$ , where  $U_1, \dots, U_n$  are open sets in X. We can choose sets  $G \in \Omega$  so that a collection of sets  $O_G \langle U_1, \dots, U_n \rangle$  forms a cover of  $\exp_{\beta} X$ , what we denote by  $\Omega'$ . It is easy to see that a collection  $\omega' = \bigcup_{O_G \langle U_1, \dots, U_n \rangle \in \Omega'} \{U_1, \dots, U_n\}$  is an open cover of X. There exists a finite-component cover  $\omega$  of X which

refines  $\omega'$ . Then by Lemma 2.4 the collection

$$\exp_{\beta} \omega = \{ O\langle V_1, \ldots, V_k \rangle : V_i \in \omega, \ i = 1, \ldots, n; \ n \in \mathbb{N} \}$$

#### **3.** Superparacompactness of the map $\exp_{\beta} f$

For a continuous map  $f: (X, \tau_X) \to (Y, \tau_Y)$  and  $O \in \tau_Y$  a preimage  $f^{-1}O$  is called *a tube* (above *O*). Remind, a continuous map  $f: X \to Y$  is called [2] a  $T_0$ -map, if for each pair of distinct points  $x, x' \in X$ , such that f(x) = f(x'), at least one of these points has an open neighbourhood in *X* which does not contain another point. A continuous map  $f: X \to Y$  is called *totally regular*, if for each point  $x \in X$  and every closed set *F* in *X* not containing *x* there exists an open neighbourhood *O* of f(x) such that in the tube  $f^{-1}O$  the sets  $\{x\}$  and *F* are functional separable. Totally regular  $T_0$ -map is said to be *a Tychonoff map*.

Obviously, each continuous map  $f: X \to Y$  of a Tychonoff space X into a topological space Y is a Tychonoff map. In this case owing to the set  $\exp_{\beta} X$  is a Tychonoff space concerning to Vietoris topology for every Tychonoff space X, the map  $\exp_{\beta} f: \exp_{\beta} X \to \exp_{\beta} Y$  is a Tychonoff map.

A continuous, closed map  $f: X \to Y$  is said to be *compact* if the preimage  $f^{-1}y$  of each point  $y \in Y$  is compact. A continuous map  $f: X \to Y$  is compact iff for each point  $y \in Y$  and every cover  $\omega$  of the fibre  $f^{-1}y$ , consisting of open sets in X, there is an open neighbourhood O of y in Y such that the tube  $f^{-1}O$  can be covered with a finite subfamily of  $\omega$ .

A compact map  $bf : b_f X \to Y$  is said to be *a compactification* of a continuous map  $f : X \to Y$  if X is everywhere dense in  $b_f X$  and  $bf|_X = f$ . On the set of all compactifications of the map f it is possible to introduce a partial order: for the compactifications  $b_1 f : b_{1f} X \to Y$  and  $b_2 f : b_{2f} X \to Y$  of f we put  $b_1 f \le b_2 f$  if there is a natural map of  $b_{2f} X$  onto  $b_{1f} X$ . B. A. Pasynkov showed that for each Tychonoff map  $f : X \to Y$  there exists its maximal compactification  $g : Z \to Y$ , which he denoted by  $\beta f$ , and the space Z where this maximal compactification defines by  $\beta_f X$ . To within homeomorphism for a given Tychonoff map f its maximal compactification  $\beta f$  is unique.

**Remark 3.1.** Note that the maps  $b_1 f$ ,  $b_2 f$ ,  $\beta f$  are compactifications of the map f. The spaces  $b_{1f}X$ ,  $b_{2f}$ ,  $\beta_f X$  are some extensions of X but they are not obliged to be compactifications.

A Tychonoff map  $f: X \to Y$  is said to be *superparacompact*, if for every closed set F in  $\beta_f X$  lying in the growth  $\beta_f X \setminus X$  there exists a finite-component cover  $\lambda$  of X pricking out F in  $\beta_f X$  (i. e.  $F \cap (\cup [\lambda]_{\beta_f X}) = \emptyset$ ) [3].

It is easy to see that one can define superparacompactness of a map as follows: a map  $f: X \to Y$  is superparacompact if for each  $y \in Y$  and every open cover  $\Upsilon$  of  $f^{-1}y$  in X there exists an open neighbourhood O of y in Y such that  $\Upsilon$  has a finite-component cover v of  $f^{-1}O$  in X which refines  $\Upsilon$ .

**Definition 3.2.** A compactification  $bf : b_f X \to Y$  of a Tychonoff map  $f : X \to Y$  is said to be perfect compactification of f if for each point  $y \in Y$  and for every disjoint open sets  $U_1$  and  $U_2$  in X there exists an open neighbourhood  $O \subset Y$  of y such that the equality

$$O_{b_{f}X}(U_{1} \cup U_{2}) \cap bf^{-1}O = \left(O_{b_{f}X}(U_{1}) \cup O_{b_{f}X}(U_{2})\right) \cap bf^{-1}O$$

holds.

Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a continuous map of a Tychonoff space X into a space Y. It is well known there exists a compactification vX of X such that f has a continuous extension  $vf: vX \to Y$  on vX. It is clear, vf is a perfect compactification of f. The following result is an analog of Theorem 1.2 for a case of maps.

**Theorem 3.3.** Let  $bf : b_f X \to Y$  be a perfect compactification of a Tychonoff map  $f : X \to Y$ . The map f is superparacompact iff for every closed set F in  $b_f X$  lying in the growth  $b_f X \setminus X$  there exists a finite-component cover  $\lambda$  of X pricking out the set F in  $b_f X$ .

*Proof.* The proof is carried out similar to the proof of Theorem 1.1  $\Pi$  from [2].

Evidently a restriction  $f|_{\Phi}: \Phi \to Y$  of a superparacompact map  $f: X \to Y$  on the closed subset  $\Phi \subset X$  is a superparacompact map. The following result is a variant of Theorem 2.2 for a case of maps.

**Theorem 3.4.** Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a Tychonoff map. Then the map  $\exp_{\beta} \beta f : \exp_{\beta} \beta_f X \to \exp_{\beta} Y$  is a perfect compactification of  $\exp_{\beta} f : \exp_{\beta} X \to \exp_{\beta} Y$ .

*Proof.* The proof is similar to the proof of Theorem 2.2. Here the equality

$$(\exp_{\beta}\beta f)^{-1}O\langle U_1,...,U_m\rangle = O\langle \beta f^{-1}(U_1),...,\beta f^{-1}(U_m)\rangle$$

is used.

The following statement is the main result of this section.

**Theorem 3.5.** The Tychonoff map  $\exp_{\beta} f : \exp_{\beta} X \to \exp_{\beta} Y$  is superparacompact iff a map  $f : X \to Y$  is superparacompact.

*Proof.* Let  $\exp_{\beta} f : \exp_{\beta} X \to \exp_{\beta} Y$  be a superparacompact map. It implies that  $f : X \to Y$  is a superparacompact map since  $X \cong \exp_1 X$  is closed set in  $\exp_{\beta} X$ .

Let now  $f: X \to Y$  be a superparacompact map. Consider arbitrary  $\Gamma \in \exp_{\beta} Y$  and an open cover  $\Omega$  of  $(\exp_{\beta} f)^{-1}(\Gamma) = \{F \in \exp_{\beta} X : f(F) = \Gamma\}$  in  $\exp_{\beta} X$ . For each element  $G \in \Omega$  there exists  $O_G \langle U_1, \dots, U_n \rangle$  such that  $O_G \langle U_1, \dots, U_n \rangle \subset G$ , where  $U_1, \dots, U_n$  are open sets in X. We can choose sets  $G \in \Omega$  so that a collection of sets  $O_G \langle U_1, \dots, U_n \rangle$  forms a cover of  $(\exp_{\beta} f)^{-1}(\Gamma)$ , what we denote by  $\Omega'$ . It is easy to see that a collection  $\omega' = \bigcup_{O_G \langle U_1, \dots, U_n \rangle \in \Omega'} \{U_1, \dots, U_n\}$  is an open cover of  $f^{-1}\Gamma$  in X. For each  $y \in \Gamma$  there exists an open neighbourhood

 $O_y$  of y in Y such that the collection  $\omega_y = \{U \cap f^{-1}O_y : U \in \omega'\}$  is an open cover of  $f^{-1}y$  in X and  $\omega_y$  has a finite-component cover  $\omega'_y$  of  $f^{-1}O_y$  in X which refines  $\omega_y$ . Gather such  $O_y$  and construct an open cover  $\{O_y : y \in \Gamma\}$  of  $\Gamma$  in Y. Since  $\Gamma \in \exp_\beta Y$  by construction of hyperspace,  $\Gamma$  is a compact subset of Y. Consequently, there exists a finite open subcover  $\gamma = \{O_{y_1}, \dots, O_{y_n}\}$  in Y, which covers  $\Gamma$ . Put

 $\boldsymbol{\omega} = \bigcup_{O_{y_i} \in \boldsymbol{\gamma}} \boldsymbol{\omega}'_{y_i}$ . Then  $\boldsymbol{\omega}$  is an open cover of  $f^{-1}\left(\bigcup_{U \in \boldsymbol{\omega}} U\right)$  in *X*. By the construction  $\boldsymbol{\omega}$  is a finite-component cover, and it refines  $\boldsymbol{\omega}'$ . Hence,

 $\exp_{\beta} \omega \text{ is a finite-component cover of } (\exp_{\beta} f)^{-1} O(O_{y_1}, \dots, O_{y_n}) = \langle f^{-1} O_{y_1}, \dots, f^{-1} O_{y_n} \rangle \text{ in } \exp_{\beta} X \text{ and it refines } \Omega.$ So, for each  $\Gamma \in \exp_{\beta} Y$  and every open cover  $\Omega$  of  $(\exp_{\beta} f)^{-1}\Gamma$  in  $\exp_{\beta} X$  there exists an open neighbourhood  $O(O_{y_1}, \dots, O_{y_n})$  of  $\Gamma$ in  $\exp_{\beta} Y$  such that  $\Omega$  has a finite-component cover  $\exp_{\beta} \omega$  of  $(\exp_{\beta} f)^{-1} O(O_{y_1}, \dots, O_{y_n})$  in  $\exp_{\beta} X$  which refines  $\Omega$ . Thus, the map  $\exp_{\beta} f : \exp_{\beta} X \to \exp_{\beta} Y$  is superparacompact. 

**Corollary 3.6.** Let  $f: X \to Y$  be a superparacompact map and  $\Phi$  be a closed set in  $\exp_{\beta} \beta_f X$  such that  $\Phi \subset \exp_{\beta} \beta_f X \setminus \exp_{\beta} X$ . Then there exists a finite-component cover  $\Omega$  of  $\exp_{\beta} X$  pricking out  $\Phi$  in  $\exp_{\beta} \beta_f X$  (i. e.  $\Phi \cap (\cup [\Omega]_{\exp_{\beta} \beta_f X}) = \emptyset$ ).

**Corollary 3.7.** The functor  $\exp_{\beta}$  lifts onto category of superparacompact spaces and their continuous maps.

#### Acknowledgments

The authors would like to acknowledge the comprehensive backing of professor Sh.Ayupov. Also the authors would like to express gratitude to the reviewers and Prof. Dr. Fuat Usta for the revealed shortcomings, the specified remarks, corrections and useful advices.

#### References

- [1] A. V. Arkhangelsky, V. I. Ponomarev. Fundamentals of the General Topology: Problems and Exercises. D.Reidel Publishing Company. 1983. 415 pp (Originally published as: Osnovy Obsheii Topologii v Zadachakh i Uprajneniyakh, by A. V. Arkhangelsky, V. I. Ponomarev, Izdatel'stvo 'Nauka' Moscow, 1974).
- [2] D. K. Musayev, B. A. Pasynkov, On compactness and completeness properties of topological spaces and continuous maps, Tashkent: 'Fan'. 1994. -124 pp.
  [3] D. K. Musayev, On compactness and completeness properties of topological spaces and continuous maps, – Tashkent: 'NisoPoligraf'. 2011. – 216 pp.
  [4] D. K. Musayev, On compactness and completeness properties of topological spaces and continuous maps, – Tashkent: 'NisoPoligraf'. 2011. – 216 pp.
- [4] D. Buhagiar, T. Miwa, On Superparacompact and Lindelof GO-Spaces, Houston J. Math., (24)3, (1998), 443 457.
- [5] R. Engelking, General Topology, Polish Scientific Publishers. Warszawa. 1977.
- V. V. Fedorchuk, V. V. Filippov, General Topology. Basic Constructions (in Russian). Moscow. Fizmatlit. 2006. [6]
- [7] R. Bartsch, Hyperspaces in topological categories, //arXiv:1410.3137v2 [math.GN] September 4, 2018. P. 13.
  [8] V. Gutev, Hausdorff continuous sections, J. Math. Soc. Japan., (66) 2, (2014), pp. 523-534. doi: 10.2969/jmsj/06620523

**UJMA** 

Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma ISSN 2619-9653 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.32323/ujma.484532



# Exponential Growth of Solutions for Nonlinear Coupled Viscoelastic Wave Equations

Erhan Pişkin<sup>1\*</sup> and Şeyhmus Altındağ<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Mathematics, Dicle University, 21280 Diyarbakır, Turkey \*Corresponding author

#### **Article Info**

#### Abstract

Keywords: Exponential growth, Nonlinear damping term, Viscoelastic wave equations.
2010 AMS: 35B44, 35L52.
Received: 17 November 2018
Accepted: 9 April 2019
Available online: 28 June 2019

In this work, we consider an initial-boundary value problem related to the nonlinear coupled viscoelastic equations

$$\begin{cases} |u_t|^j u_{tt} - \Delta u_{tt} - div \left( |\nabla u|^{\alpha - 2} \nabla u \right) - \Delta u + \int_0^t g(t - s) \Delta u ds + |u_t|^{m - 1} u_t = f_1(u, v), \\ |v_t|^j v_{tt} - \Delta v_{tt} - div \left( |\nabla v|^{\beta - 2} \nabla v \right) - \Delta v + \int_0^t h(t - s) \Delta v ds + |v_t|^{r - 1} v_t = f_2(u, v). \end{cases}$$

We will show the exponential growth of solutions with positive initial energy.

#### 1. Introduction

In this work we consider the following coupled system of viscoelastic wave equations:

$$\begin{aligned} &|u_t|^j u_{tt} - \Delta u_{tt} - div \left( |\nabla u|^{\alpha - 2} \nabla u \right) - \Delta u + \int_0^t g(t - s) \Delta u ds + |u_t|^{m - 1} u_t = f_1(u, v), \ (x, t) \in \Omega \times (0, T), \\ &|v_t|^j v_{tt} - \Delta v_{tt} - div \left( |\nabla v|^{\beta - 2} \nabla v \right) - \Delta v + \int_0^t h(t - s) \Delta v ds + |v_t|^{r - 1} v_t = f_2(u, v), \ (x, t) \in \Omega \times (0, T), \\ &u(x, t) = v(x, t) = 0, \\ &u(x, 0) = u_0(x), \ u_t(x, 0) = u_1(x), \\ &v(x, 0) = v_0(x), \ v_t(x, 0) = v_1(x), \\ &x \in \Omega, \\ &x \in \Omega, \end{aligned}$$
(1.1)

where  $\Omega$  is a bounded domain in  $\mathbb{R}^n$  (n = 1, 2, 3) with smooth boundary  $\partial \Omega$ , the constants j > 0,  $\alpha \ge 2$ ,  $\beta \ge 2$ ,  $m \ge 1$ ,  $r \ge 1$ . Here,  $f_1(u, v)$  and  $f_2(u, v)$  are nonlinear functions defined as

$$\begin{cases} f_1(u,v) = a |u+v|^{2(p+1)} (u+v) + b |u|^p |u|^{p+2}, \\ f_2(u,v) = a |u+v|^{2(p+1)} (u+v) + b |v|^p |v|^{p+2} \end{cases}$$
(1.2)

in which the constants a > 0, b > 0, and p satisfies

$$\begin{cases} p > -1, & n = 1, 2, \\ -1 (1.3)$$

Let

$$f_1(u,v) = \frac{\partial F(u,v)}{\partial u}$$
 and  $f_2(u,v) = \frac{\partial F(u,v)}{\partial v}$ ,

Email addresses and ORCID numbers: episkin@dicle.edu.tr, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-6587-4479 (E. Pişkin), altindag.s@hotmail.com, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1863-2909 (§. Altındağ)

where

$$F(u,v) = \frac{1}{2(p+2)} \left[ a |u+v|^{2(p+2)} (u+v) + 2b |uv|^{p+2} \right].$$

There are two positive constants  $c_0$ ,  $c_1$  such that

$$c_0\left(|u|^{2(r+2)}+|v|^{2(r+2)}\right) \le 2(r+2)F(u,v) \le c_1\left(|u|^{2(r+2)}+|v|^{2(r+2)}\right)$$

As a special case, for  $\alpha = \beta = 2$ , the system (1.1) becomes the following system

$$\begin{cases} |u_t|^j u_{tt} - \Delta u_{tt} - \Delta u + \int_0^t g(t-s) \Delta u ds + |u_t|^{m-1} u_t = f_1(u,v), \\ |v_t|^j v_{tt} - \Delta v_{tt} - \Delta v + \int_0^t h(t-s) \Delta v ds + |v_t|^{r-1} v_t = f_2(u,v). \end{cases}$$
(1.4)

Liu [1] proved decay of the solutions for system (1.4) under some appropriate functions  $f_1$  and  $f_2$ . Later, Said-Houari [2] studied exponential growth of the solutions for system (1.4). When j = 0 and without the  $\Delta u_{tt}$ ,  $\Delta v_{tt}$  terms, the system (1.4) has been investigated by some authors and results concerning local and global existence, blow up, decay of the solutions were obtained [3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8]. Hao et al. [9] considered global nonexistence of the solution of (1.1), with negative initial energy.

Motivated by the above papers, in this work we prove the exponential growth of solutions for the problem (1.1), with positive initial energy. This work is organized as follows: In section 2, we present some lemmas and notations needed later of this paper. In section 3, exponential growth of the solution is proved.

#### 2. Preliminaries

In this part, we give some assumptions and lemmas which will be used throughout this paper. Let  $\|.\|$  and  $\|.\|_p$  denote the usual  $L^2(\Omega)$  norm and  $L^p(\Omega)$  norm, respectively.

Now, we make the following assumptions on the  $C^1$ -nonnegative and nonincreasing relaxation functions g and h:

$$1 - \int_{0}^{\infty} g(s) ds = l > 0, \quad 1 - \int_{0}^{\infty} h(s) ds = k > 0$$
(2.1)

and  $\forall s \geq 0$ 

$$g'(s) \le 0, \ h'(s) \le 0.$$
 (2.2)

Let us define

$$I(t) = I(u,v) = \left(1 - \int_{0}^{t} g(s) ds\right) \|\nabla u\|^{2} + \left(1 - \int_{0}^{t} h(s) ds\right) \|\nabla v\|^{2} - 2(p+2) \int_{\Omega} F(u,v) dx + (g \circ \nabla u + h \circ \nabla v) + \frac{1}{\alpha} \|\nabla u\|_{\alpha}^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{\beta} \|\nabla v\|_{\beta}^{\beta},$$
(2.3)

$$J(t) = J(u,v) = \frac{1}{2} \left( 1 - \int_{0}^{t} g(s) ds \right) \|\nabla u\|^{2} + \frac{1}{2} \left( 1 - \int_{0}^{t} h(s) ds \right) \|\nabla v\|^{2}$$

$$- \int_{\Omega} F(u,v) dx + \frac{1}{2} \left( g \circ \nabla u + h \circ \nabla v \right) + \frac{1}{\alpha} \|\nabla u\|_{\alpha}^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{\beta} \|\nabla v\|_{\beta}^{\beta}$$
(2.4)

and

$$E(t) = \frac{1}{j+2} \left( \|u_t\|_{j+2}^{j+2} + \|v_t\|_{j+2}^{j+2} \right) + \frac{1}{2} \left( \|\nabla u_t\|^2 + \|\nabla v_t\|^2 \right) + \frac{1}{2} \left( 1 - \int_0^t g(s) \, ds \right) \|\nabla u\|^2 + \frac{1}{2} \left( 1 - \int_0^t h(s) \, ds \right) \|\nabla v\|^2 - \int_{\Omega} F(u, v) \, dx + \frac{1}{2} \left( g \circ \nabla u + h \circ \nabla v \right) + \frac{1}{\alpha} \|\nabla u\|_{\alpha}^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{\beta} \|\nabla v\|_{\beta}^{\beta}$$
(2.5)

where

$$\left(\phi\circ\psi\right)(t) = \int_{0}^{t} \phi\left(t-\tau\right) \int_{\Omega} |\psi(t)-\psi(\tau)|^{2} dx d\tau.$$

**Lemma 2.1.** E(t) is a nonincreasing function for  $t \ge 0$  and

$$E'(t) = -\left( \|u_t\|_{m+1}^{m+1} + \|v_t\|_{m+1}^{m+1} \right) + \frac{1}{2} \left( g' \circ \nabla u + h' \circ \nabla v \right) - \frac{1}{2} \left( g(t) \|\nabla u\|^2 + h(t) \|\nabla v\|^2 \right) \leq 0.$$
(2.6)

*Proof.* Multiplying the first and second equation of (1.1) by  $u_t$  and  $v_t$ , respectively, integrating over  $\Omega \times [0, t]$ , then adding them together and integrating by parts, we obtain (2.6).

#### 3. Exponential growth of solutions

In this part, we are going to consider the exponential growth of the solution for the problem (1.1). Firstly, we give following two lemmas.

**Lemma 3.1.** [10, 11]. Suppose that (1.3) holds. Let (u, v) for  $\eta > 0$ 

$$\begin{aligned} \|u+v\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} + 2 \|uv\|_{p+2}^{p+2} &\leq \eta \left[\frac{1}{\alpha} \|\nabla u\|_{\alpha}^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{\beta} \|\nabla v\|_{\beta}^{\beta} \right. \\ &+ I_1 \|\nabla u\|^2 + I_2 \|\nabla v\|^2 \left.\right]^{p+2}, \end{aligned}$$

where

$$\begin{split} I_1 &= \int\limits_{\Omega_1} |u_t| \left( |u|^{2p+3} + |v|^{2p+3} + |u|^{p+1} |v|^{p+2} \right) dx, \\ I_2 &= \int\limits_{\Omega_2} |v_t| \left( |u|^{2p+3} + |v|^{2p+3} + |u|^{p+2} |v|^{p+1} \right) dx \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \Omega_1 &= \{(x,t) : |u(x,t)| \leq 1, \ |v(x,t)| \leq 1\},\\ \Omega_2 &= \{(x,t) : |u(x,t)| \leq 1, \ |v(x,t)| \geq 1\}. \end{split}$$

**Lemma 3.2.** [10, 11]. Suppose that (1.3) holds. Let (u, v) be the solution of problem (1.1). Assume further that  $E(0) < E_1$  and

$$\left[\frac{1}{\alpha} \left\|\nabla u_{0}\right\|_{\alpha}^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{\beta} \left\|\nabla v_{0}\right\|_{\beta}^{\beta} + I(0)\right]^{\frac{1}{2}} > \alpha_{1}.$$

Then, there exists a constant  $\alpha_2 > \alpha_1$  such that

$$\left[ \frac{1}{\alpha} \|\nabla u\|_{\alpha}^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{\beta} \|\nabla v\|_{\beta}^{\beta} + I(t) \right]^{\frac{1}{2}} > \alpha_{2},$$
$$\left( \|u + v\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} + \|uv\|_{p+2}^{p+2} \right)^{\frac{1}{2(p+2)}} > B\alpha_{2},$$

for all  $t \in (0,T)$ , where

$$B = \eta^{\frac{1}{2(p+2)}}, \ \alpha_1 = B^{-\frac{p+2}{p+1}}, \ E_1 = \left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{2(p+2)}\right)\alpha_1^2.$$

**Theorem 3.3.** Suppose that (1.3) holds. Assume further that

$$\max\{j+2, m+1, r+1\} < 2(p+2),$$

$$E\left(0\right) < E_1$$

and (2.1), (2.2) hold. There exist constant  $\gamma$  such that

$$\max\{\alpha,\beta\} < \gamma < 2(p+2)$$

and

$$\min\{l,k\} > \frac{1/(2\gamma)}{(\gamma/2) - 1 + 1/(2\gamma)}.$$

Then, any solution of (1.1) grows exponentially.

*Proof.* We define the functional

$$H(t) = E_1 - E(t).$$
 (3.1)

From (2.1), (2.5) and Lemma 3.2, we have

$$\begin{aligned} 0 &< H(0) \leq H(t) \\ &\leq E_{1} - E(t) \\ &= E_{1} - \frac{1}{j+2} \left( \|u_{t}\|_{j+2}^{j+2} + \|v_{t}\|_{j+2}^{j+2} \right) - \frac{1}{2} \left( \|\nabla u_{t}\|^{2} + \|\nabla v_{t}\|^{2} \right) \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \left( 1 - \int_{0}^{t} g(s) \, ds \right) \|\nabla u\|^{2} - \frac{1}{2} \left( 1 - \int_{0}^{t} h(s) \, ds \right) \|\nabla v\|^{2} \\ &+ \int_{\Omega} F(u, v) \, dx - \frac{1}{2} \left( g \circ \nabla u + h \circ \nabla v \right) - \frac{1}{\alpha} \|\nabla u\|_{\alpha}^{\alpha} - \frac{1}{\beta} \|\nabla v\|_{\beta}^{\beta} \\ &< E_{1} - \frac{1}{2} \alpha_{2}^{2} + \frac{1}{2(p+2)} \left( \|u\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} + \|v\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} \right) \\ &< \frac{C_{1}}{2(p+2)} \left( \|u\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} + \|v\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} \right). \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.2)$$

Let us define the functional

$$L(t) = H(t) + \frac{\varepsilon}{j+1} \int_{\Omega} \left( |u_t|^j u_t u + |v_t|^j v_t v \right) dx - \varepsilon \int_{\Omega} \left( \Delta u u_t + \Delta v v_t \right) dx,$$
(3.3)

where  $\varepsilon$  is a small positive constants to be determined later. By differentiating with respect to *t* and using (3.3) and (1.1), we have

$$L'(t) = H'(t) + \varepsilon \int_{\Omega} \left[ \left( |u_t|^j u_{tt}u + |v_t|^j v_{tt}v \right) + \frac{1}{j+1} \left( |u_t|^{j+2} + |v_t|^{j+2} \right) \right] dx$$
  
+  $\varepsilon \left( \|\nabla u_t\|^2 + \|\nabla v_t\|^2 \right) - \varepsilon \int_{\Omega} \left( u \Delta u_{tt} + v \Delta v_{tt} \right) dx$   
=  $H'(t) + \frac{\varepsilon}{j+1} \left( \|u_t\|_{j+2}^{j+2} + \|v_t\|_{j+2}^{j+2} \right) - \varepsilon \int_{\Omega} \left( u |u_t|^{m-1} u_t + v |v_t|^{r-1} v_t \right) dx$   
+  $\varepsilon \left( \|\nabla u_t\|^2 + \|\nabla v_t\|^2 \right) - \varepsilon \left( \|\nabla u\|^2 + \|\nabla v\|^2 \right) - \varepsilon \left( \|\nabla u\|_{\alpha}^{\alpha} + \|\nabla v\|_{\beta}^{\beta} \right)$   
+  $2\varepsilon (p+2) \int_{\Omega} F(u,v) dx + \varepsilon \left( \int_{0}^{t} g(s) ds \right) \|\nabla u\|^2 + \varepsilon \left( \int_{0}^{t} h(s) ds \right) \|\nabla v\|^2$   
+  $\varepsilon \int_{0}^{t} g(t-s) \int_{\Omega} \nabla u [\nabla u(s) - \nabla u(t)] dx ds$   
+  $\varepsilon \int_{0}^{t} h(t-s) \int_{\Omega} \nabla v [\nabla v(s) - \nabla v(t)] dx ds.$  (3.4)

Using Cauchy-Schwarz and Young's inequalities, we get

$$\int_{0}^{t} g(t-s) \int_{\Omega} \nabla u [\nabla u(s) - \nabla u(t)] dx ds \leq \int_{0}^{t} g(t-s) \left( \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u(t)|^{2} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u(s) - \nabla u(t)|^{2} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} ds$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{t} g(t-s) \|\nabla u(t)\| \|\nabla u(s) - \nabla u(t)\| ds$$

$$\leq \int_{0}^{t} g(t-s) \left( \lambda \|\nabla u(s) - \nabla u(t)\|^{2} + \frac{1}{4\lambda} \|\nabla u(t)\|^{2} \right) ds$$

$$\leq \lambda \int_{0}^{t} g(t-s) \|\nabla u(s) - \nabla u(t)\|^{2} ds + \frac{1}{4\lambda} \int_{0}^{t} g(t-s) \|\nabla u(t)\|^{2} ds$$

$$\leq \lambda (g \circ \nabla u) + \frac{1}{4\lambda} \left( \int_{0}^{t} g(s) ds \right) \|\nabla u(t)\|^{2}.$$
(3.5)

Similarly, we obtain

$$\int_{0}^{t} h(t-s) \int_{\Omega} \nabla v \left[ \nabla v(s) - \nabla v(t) \right] dx ds \le \lambda \left( h \circ \nabla v \right) + \frac{1}{4\lambda} \left( \int_{0}^{t} h(s) ds \right) \| \nabla v(t) \|^{2}.$$
(3.6)

Inserting (3.5) and (3.6) into (3.4), we have

$$L'(t) \geq H'(t) + \frac{\varepsilon}{j+1} \left( \|u_t\|_{j+2}^{j+2} + \|v_t\|_{j+2}^{j+2} \right) - \varepsilon \int_{\Omega} \left( u \|u_t\|_{\alpha}^{m-1} \|u_t + v\|_t\|_{r-1}^{r-1} \|v_t\| \right) dx$$

$$+ \varepsilon \left( \|\nabla u_t\|^2 + \|\nabla v_t\|^2 \right) - \varepsilon \left( \|\nabla u\|^2 + \|\nabla v\|^2 \right) - \varepsilon \left( \|\nabla u\|_{\alpha}^{\alpha} + \|\nabla v\|_{\beta}^{\beta} \right)$$

$$+ 2\varepsilon (p+2) \int_{\Omega} F(u,v) dx + \varepsilon \left( \int_{\Omega} g(s) ds \right) \|\nabla u\|^2 + \varepsilon \left( \int_{\Omega} h(s) ds \right) \|\nabla v\|^2$$

$$+ \varepsilon \lambda \left( g \circ \nabla u + h \circ \nabla v \right) + \frac{\varepsilon}{4\lambda} \left[ \left( \int_{0}^{t} g(s) ds \right) \|\nabla u\|^2 + \left( \int_{0}^{t} h(s) ds \right) \|\nabla v\|^2 \right].$$

$$(3.7)$$

By the definition of E(t) and (3.1), we obtain

$$\int_{\Omega} F(u,v) dx = H(t) - E_1 + \frac{1}{j+2} \left( \|u_t\|_{j+2}^{j+2} + \|v_t\|_{j+2}^{j+2} \right) + \frac{1}{2} \left( \|\nabla u_t\|^2 + \|\nabla v_t\|^2 \right) + \frac{1}{2} \left( 1 - \int_0^t g(s) ds \right) \|\nabla u\|^2 + \frac{1}{2} \left( 1 - \int_0^t h(s) ds \right) \|\nabla v\|^2 + \frac{1}{2} \left( g \circ \nabla u + h \circ \nabla v \right) + \frac{1}{\alpha} \|\nabla u\|_{\alpha}^{\alpha} + \frac{1}{\beta} \|\nabla v\|_{\beta}^{\beta}.$$
(3.8)

Substituting (3.8) into (3.7), we get

$$L'(t) \geq H'(t) + \varepsilon \left(\frac{1}{j+1} + \frac{\gamma}{j+2}\right) \left( \|u_t\|_{j+2}^{j+2} + \|v_t\|_{j+2}^{j+2} \right) - \varepsilon \int_{\Omega} \left( u |u_t|^{m-1} u_t + v |v_t|^{r-1} v_t \right) dx$$

$$+ \varepsilon \left( 1 + \frac{\gamma}{2} \right) \left( \|\nabla u_t\|^2 + \|\nabla v_t\|^2 \right) + \gamma \varepsilon H(t) - \varepsilon \gamma E_1 + \varepsilon \left( 2\left(p+2\right) - \gamma \right) \int_{\Omega} F(u,v) dx$$

$$+ \varepsilon \left[ \left(\frac{\gamma}{2} - 1\right) - \left(\frac{\gamma}{2} - 1 + \frac{1}{4\lambda}\right) \int_{0}^{\infty} g(s) ds \right] \|\nabla u\|^2$$

$$+ \varepsilon \left[ \left(\frac{\gamma}{2} - 1\right) - \left(\frac{\gamma}{2} - 1 + \frac{1}{4\lambda}\right) \int_{0}^{\infty} h(s) ds \right] \|\nabla v\|^2$$

$$+ \varepsilon \left(\frac{\gamma}{2} - \lambda\right) \left( g \circ \nabla u + h \circ \nabla v \right) + \varepsilon \left(\frac{\gamma}{\alpha} - 1\right) \|\nabla u\|_{\alpha}^{\alpha} + \varepsilon \left(\frac{\gamma}{\beta} - 1\right) \|\nabla v\|_{\beta}^{\beta}. \tag{3.9}$$

By using the Young's inequality, we get

$$\int_{\Omega} |u_t|^{m-1} u_t u dx \leq \frac{\delta_1^{m+1}}{m+1} \|u\|_{m+1}^{m+1} + \frac{m \delta_1^{-\frac{m+1}{m}}}{m+1} \|u_t\|_{m+1}^{m+1} \\
\leq \frac{\delta_1}{m+1} \|u\|_{m+1}^{m+1} + \frac{m \delta_1^{-\frac{m+1}{m}}}{m+1} H'(t)$$
(3.10)

and

$$\int_{\Omega} |v_t|^{r-1} v_t v dx \leq \frac{\delta_2^{r+1}}{r+1} \|v\|_{r+1}^{r+1} + \frac{r\delta_2^{-\frac{r+1}{r}}}{r+1} \|v_t\|_{r+1}^{r+1} \\
\leq \frac{\delta_2^{r+1}}{r+1} \|v\|_{r+1}^{r+1} + \frac{r\delta_2^{-\frac{r+1}{r}}}{r+1} H'(t).$$
(3.11)

Since  $L^{2(p+2)}\left(\Omega\right) \hookrightarrow L^{m+1}\left(\Omega\right)$  and  $L^{2(p+2)}\left(\Omega\right) \hookrightarrow L^{r+1}\left(\Omega\right)$ , we have

$$\left(\|u\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} + \|v\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)}\right)^{m} \|u\|_{m+1}^{m+1} \le C_2 \left(\|u\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} + \|v\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)}\right)^{m+\frac{m+1}{2(p+2)}}$$
(3.12)

and

$$\left(\|u\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} + \|v\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)}\right)^{r} \|v\|_{r+1}^{r+1} \le C_{3} \left(\|u\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} + \|v\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)}\right)^{r+\frac{r+1}{2(p+2)}}.$$
(3.13)

We use the following algebraic inequality

$$z^{\nu} \le z + 1 \le \left(1 + \frac{1}{a}\right)(z + a), \quad \forall z \ge 0, \ 0 < \nu \le 1,$$
(3.14)

we obtain, for  $t \ge 0$ ,

$$\left( \|u\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} + \|v\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} \right)^{m+\frac{m+1}{2(p+2)}} \le d \left( \|u\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} + \|v\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} + H(0) \right)$$

$$\le d \left( \|u\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} + \|v\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} + H(t) \right)$$

$$(3.15)$$

and

$$\left( \|u\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} + \|v\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} \right)^{r + \frac{r+1}{2(p+2)}} \le d \left( \|u\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} + \|v\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} + H(0) \right)$$

$$\le d \left( \|u\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} + \|v\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} + H(t) \right)$$

$$(3.16)$$

for  $d = 1 + \frac{1}{H(0)}$ . By (3.9)-(3.13),(3.15) and (3.16), we have

$$\begin{split} L'(t) &\geq \left(1 + \frac{m\delta_1^{-\frac{m+1}{m}}}{m+1} + \frac{r\delta_2^{-\frac{r+1}{r}}}{r+1}\right) H'(t) + \varepsilon \left(\frac{1}{j+1} + \frac{\gamma}{j+2}\right) \left(\|u_t\|_{j+2}^{j+2} + \|v_t\|_{j+2}^{j+2}\right) \\ &- \left(\frac{\delta_1^{m+1}c_2d}{m+1} + \frac{\delta_2^{r+1}c_3d}{r+1}\right) \left(\|u\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} + \|v\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)}\right) \\ &+ \varepsilon \left(\gamma - \left(\frac{\delta_1^{m+1}c_2d}{m+1} + \frac{\delta_2^{r+1}c_3d}{r+1}\right)\right) H(t) \\ &+ \varepsilon \left(1 + \frac{\gamma}{2}\right) \left(\|\nabla u\|^2 + \|\nabla v\|^2\right) + \varepsilon \left(2\left(p+2\right) - \gamma(p+2)\right) \int_{\Omega} F(u,v) dx \\ &+ \varepsilon \left[\left(\frac{\gamma}{2} - 1\right) - \left(\frac{\gamma}{2} - 1 + \frac{1}{4\lambda}\right) \int_{0}^{\infty} g(s) ds\right] \|\nabla u\|^2 \\ &+ \varepsilon \left(\frac{\gamma}{2} - \lambda\right) \left(g \circ \nabla u + h \circ \nabla v\right) \\ &+ \varepsilon \left[\left(\frac{\gamma}{2} - 1\right) - \left(\frac{\gamma}{2} - 1 + \frac{1}{4\lambda}\right) \int_{0}^{\infty} h(s) ds\right] \|\nabla v\|^2 \\ &+ \varepsilon \left(\frac{\gamma}{\alpha} - 1\right) \|\nabla u\|_{\alpha}^{\alpha} + \varepsilon \left(\frac{\gamma}{\beta} - 1\right) \|\nabla v\|_{\beta}^{\beta}. \end{split}$$

By use (3.2) and since

$$\min\left\{\frac{\gamma}{\alpha}-1, \ \frac{\gamma}{\beta}-1\right\} > 0$$

and

$$1+\frac{\gamma}{2}>0$$

we obtain

$$\begin{split} L'(t) &\geq MH'(t) + \varepsilon \left(\frac{1}{j+1} + \frac{\gamma}{j+2}\right) \left( \|u_t\|_{j+2}^{j+2} + \|v_t\|_{j+2}^{j+2} \right) + \varepsilon \left(\gamma - K_1\right) H(t) \\ &+ \varepsilon K_2 \left( \|\nabla u\|_{\alpha}^{\alpha} + \|\nabla v\|_{\beta}^{\beta} \right) + \varepsilon K_3 \left( \|\nabla u\|^2 + \|\nabla v\|^2 \right) \\ &+ \varepsilon \left(\frac{\gamma}{2} - \lambda\right) \left(g \circ \nabla u + h \circ \nabla v\right) + \varepsilon \left(1 + \frac{\gamma}{2}\right) \left( \|\nabla u_t\|^2 + \|\nabla v_t\|^2 \right) \\ &+ \varepsilon \left( \frac{\left(2\left(p+2\right) - \gamma(p+2)\right)C_1}{2\left(p+2\right)} - K_1 \right) \left( \|u\|_{2\left(p+2\right)}^{2\left(p+2\right)} + \|v\|_{2\left(p+2\right)}^{2\left(p+2\right)} \right), \end{split}$$

where

$$M = 1 + \frac{m\delta_1^{-\frac{m+1}{m}}}{m+1} + \frac{r\delta_2^{-\frac{r+1}{r}}}{r+1},$$
  

$$K_1 = \frac{\delta_1^{m+1}c_2d}{m+1} + \frac{\delta_2^{r+1}c_3d}{r+1},$$
  

$$K_2 = \min\left\{\frac{\gamma}{\alpha} - 1, \frac{\gamma}{\beta} - 1\right\}$$

and

$$K_{3} = \left(\frac{\gamma}{2} - 1\right) - \left(\frac{\gamma}{2} - 1 + \frac{1}{4\lambda}\right) \max\left(\int_{0}^{\infty} g(s) \, ds, \int_{0}^{\infty} h(s) \, ds\right).$$

Choose  $\delta_1, \delta_2$  appropriate such that

$$b_1 = \gamma - K_1 > 0, \ b_2 = \frac{(2(p+2) - \gamma(p+2))C_1}{2(p+2)} - K_1 > 0 \text{ and } M > 0.$$

Then, we can find positive constants  $b_1$  and  $b_2$  such that

$$L'(t) \ge MH'(t) + \varepsilon \left(\frac{1}{j+1} + \frac{\gamma}{j+2}\right) \left( \|u_t\|_{j+2}^{j+2} + \|v_t\|_{j+2}^{j+2} \right) \\ + \varepsilon K_2 \left( \|\nabla u\|_{\alpha}^{\alpha} + \|\nabla v\|_{\beta}^{\beta} \right) + \varepsilon \left(1 + \frac{\gamma}{2}\right) \left( \|\nabla u_t\|^2 + \|\nabla v_t\|^2 \right) \\ + \varepsilon b_1 H(t) + \varepsilon b_2 \left( \|u\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} + \|v\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} \right) \ge 0.$$

Because of  $H'(t) \ge 0$ , there exists constants t > 0 such that

$$L'(t) \ge \tilde{K}(H(t) + \|u_t\|_{j+2}^{j+2} + \|v_t\|_{j+2}^{j+2} + \|\nabla u\|_{\alpha}^{\alpha} + \|\nabla v\|_{\beta}^{\beta} + \|\nabla u_t\|^2 + \|\nabla v_t\|^2 + \|u\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} + \|v\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)}) \ge 0$$
(3.17)

where  $\tilde{K} = \min \left\{ \varepsilon b_1, \varepsilon \left( \frac{1}{j+1} + \frac{\gamma}{j+2} \right), \varepsilon K_2, \varepsilon \left( 1 + \frac{\gamma}{2} \right), \varepsilon b_2 \right\}$ . On the other hand, we can choose  $\varepsilon$  smaller so that

$$L(0) = H(0) + \varepsilon \int_{\Omega} (u_0 u_1 + v_0 v_1) \, dx > 0.$$
(3.18)

Furthermore, we have

$$L(t) \ge L(0), \ t \ge 0.$$
 (3.19)

Next we estimate L(t). Using Young's inequality, we obtain

.

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} |u_t|^{j+1} u dx \right| \le \frac{\mu_1^{j+2}}{j+2} \|u\|_{j+2}^{j+2} + \frac{(j+1)\mu_1^{-\frac{j+2}{j+1}}}{j+2} \|u_t\|_{j+2}^{j+2}, \, \forall \mu_1 > 0.$$
(3.20)

Next, using the embedding  $L^{2(p+2)}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^{j+2}(\Omega)$ , the estimate (3.20) becomes

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} |u_t|^{j+1} u dx \right| \le C \left( \|u\|_{2(p+2)}^{j+2} + \|u_t\|_{j+2}^{j+2} \right)$$
$$\le C \left( \left( \|u\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} \right)^{\frac{j+2}{2(p+2)}} + \|u_t\|_{j+2}^{j+2} \right).$$

Since 2(p+2) > j+2 and H(t) > H(0), use the inequality (3.14), we have

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} |u_{t}|^{j+1} u dx \right| \leq C \left[ \left( 1 + \frac{1}{H(0)} \right) \left( \|u\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} + H(0) \right) + \|u_{t}\|_{j+2}^{j+2} \right]$$
$$\leq C \left[ \left( 1 + \frac{1}{H(0)} \right) \left( \|u\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} + H(t) \right) + \|u_{t}\|_{j+2}^{j+2} \right].$$
(3.21)

Similarly, we have

$$\left| \int_{\Omega} |v_t|^{j+1} v dx \right| \le C \left[ \left( 1 + \frac{1}{H(0)} \right) \left( \|v\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} + H(t) \right) + \|v_t\|_{j+2}^{j+2} \right].$$
(3.22)

By Green identity and Hölder's inequality, we get c

$$-\int_{\Omega} u_t \Delta u dx = \int_{\Omega} \nabla u \nabla u_t dx$$
  
$$\leq \left( \int_{\Omega} (\nabla u)^2 dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} \left( \int_{\Omega} (\nabla u_t)^2 dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$
  
$$= \|\nabla u\| \|\nabla u_t\|, \qquad (3.23)$$

similarly

$$-\int_{\Omega} v_t \Delta v dx \le \|\nabla v\| \, \|\nabla v_t\| \,. \tag{3.24}$$

Next, using the embedding  $L^{\alpha}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^{2}(\Omega)$  and  $L^{\beta}(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^{2}(\Omega)$  the estimate (3.23) and (3.24) becomes

$$\begin{cases} \|\nabla u\| \|\nabla u_t\| \le C \|\nabla u\|_{\alpha} \|\nabla u_t\|, \\ \|\nabla v\| \|\nabla v_t\| \le C \|\nabla v\|_{\beta} \|\nabla v_t\|. \end{cases}$$

$$(3.25)$$

By Young's inequality (3.25), we get

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla u\|_{\alpha} \|\nabla u_{t}\| &\leq \frac{1}{2} \left( \|\nabla u\|_{\alpha}^{2} + \|\nabla u_{t}\|^{2} \right), \\ \|\nabla v\|_{\beta} \|\nabla v_{t}\| &\leq \frac{1}{2} \left( \|\nabla v\|_{\alpha}^{2} + \|\nabla v_{t}\|^{2} \right). \end{aligned}$$

$$(3.26)$$

Since  $\alpha \geq 2$ ,  $\beta \geq 2$  and H(t) > H(0), the inequality (3.14) yields

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla u\|_{\alpha}^{2} &= \left(\|\nabla u\|_{\alpha}^{\alpha}\right)^{\frac{1}{\alpha}} \\ &\leq \left(1 + \frac{1}{H(0)}\right) \left(\|\nabla u\|_{\alpha}^{\alpha} + H(0)\right) \\ &\leq \left(1 + \frac{1}{H(0)}\right) \left(\|\nabla u\|_{\alpha}^{\alpha} + H(t)\right) \end{aligned}$$
(3.27)

and

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla v\|_{\beta}^{2} &= \left(\|\nabla v\|_{\beta}^{\beta}\right)^{\frac{1}{\beta}} \\ &\leq \left(1 + \frac{1}{H(0)}\right) \left(\|\nabla v\|_{\beta}^{\beta} + H(0)\right) \\ &\leq \left(1 + \frac{1}{H(0)}\right) \left(\|\nabla v\|_{\beta}^{\beta} + H(t)\right). \end{aligned}$$
(3.28)

Combining (3.20)-(3.28), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left| \frac{\varepsilon}{j+1} \int_{\Omega} \left( |u_t|^j u_t u + |v_t|^j v_t v \right) dx - \varepsilon \int_{\Omega} \left( \Delta u u_t + \Delta v v_t \right) dx \right| \\ \leq \mu(H(t) + \|u_t\|_{j+2}^{j+2} + \|v_t\|_{j+2}^{j+2} + \|\nabla u\|_{\alpha}^{\alpha} + \|\nabla v\|_{\beta}^{\beta} + \|\nabla u_t\|^2 + \|\nabla v_t\|^2 \\ + \|u\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} + \|v\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)}). \end{aligned}$$

Thus, we obtain

.

$$L(t) \leq C^{*}(H(t) + \|u_{t}\|_{j+2}^{j+2} + \|v_{t}\|_{j+2}^{j+2} + \|\nabla u\|_{\alpha}^{\alpha} + \|\nabla v\|_{\beta}^{\beta} + \|\nabla u_{t}\|^{2} + \|\nabla v_{t}\|^{2} + \|u\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)} + \|v\|_{2(p+2)}^{2(p+2)}).$$
(3.29)

A combination of (3.17) and (3.29) yields

$$L(t) \le C^* L'(t) \text{ for all } t \ge 0, \tag{3.30}$$

where  $C^*$  is a some positive constants. Integrating the differential inequality (3.30) between 0 and t gives the following estimate for L(t),

$$L(t) \ge L(0) e^{t/C^*}.$$

This completes the proof.

#### 4. Conclusion

In this paper, we obtained a exponential growth of solutions for a nonlinear coupled viscoelastic wave equations with nonlinear damping terms. This improves and extends many results in the literature such as (Houari [2], Pişkin [5]).

#### Acknowledgement

The authors are grateful to DUBAP (ZGEF.17.009) for research funds.

#### References

- [1] W. Liu, Uniform decay of solutions for a quasilinear system of viscoelastic equations, Nonlinear Anal., 71 (2009) 2257-2267.
- [2] B.S. Houari, Exponential growth of positive initial-energy solutions of a system of nonlinear viscoelastic wave equations with damping and source terms, Z. Angew. Math. Phys., 62 (2011) 115-133.
- [3] X. Han, M. Wang, Global existence and blow-up solutions for a system of nonlinear viscoelastic wave equations with damping and source, Nonlinear Anal., 71 (2009) 5427-5450.
- S.A. Messaoudi , B.S. Houari, Global nonexistence of positive initial-energy solutions of a system of nonlinear viscoelastic wave equations with damping and source terms, J. Math. Anal. Appl., **365** (2010) 277-287. [4] [5] E. Pişkin, A lower bound for the blow up time of a system of viscoelastic wave equations with nonlinear damping and source terms, J. Nonlinear Funct.
- Anal., 2017 (2017) 1-9.
- [6] E. Pişkin, Global nonexistence of solutions for a system of viscoelastic wave equations with weak damping terms, Malaya Journal of Matematik, 3(2) (2015) 168-174. [7] B.S. Houari, S.A. Messaoudi, A. Guesmia, General decay of solutions of a nonlinear system of viscoelastic wavw equations, Nonlinear Differ. Equ.
- [7] B.S. Houart, S.A. Messaoudi, A. Guesmia, General decay of solutions of a nonlinear system of viscoelastic wave equations, Nonlinear Differ. Equ. Appl., 18 (2011) 659-684.
  [8] Y. Zhao, Q. Wang, Blow-up of arbitrarily positive initial energy solutions for a viscoelastic wave system with nonlinear damping and source terms, Boundary Value Problems, 35 (2018) 1-13.
  [9] J. Hao, S. Niu, H. Men, Global nonexistence of solutions for nonlinear coupled viscoelastic wave equations with damping and source terms, Boundary
- Value Problems, 250 (2014) 1-11. [10] L. Fei, G. Hongjun, Global nonexistence of positive initial energy solutions for coupled nonlinear wave equations with damping and source terms, Abst.
- Appl. Anal., 2011 (2011) 1-14. [11] J. Hao, L. Cai, Global existence and blow up of solutions for nonlinear coupled wave equations with viscoelastic terms, Math. Meth. Appl. Sci., 39 (2016) 1977-1989.

**UJMA** 

**Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications** 

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma ISSN 2619-9653 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.32323/ujma.539127



## **Statistical Convergence of Nets Through Directed Sets**

AR. Murugan<sup>1</sup>, J. Dianavinnarasi<sup>1</sup> and C. Ganesa Moorthy <sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Mathematics, Alagappa University, Karaikudi-630 004, India. <sup>\*</sup>Corresponding author

Abstract			
The concept of statistical convergence based on asymptotic density is introduced in this article through nets. Some possible extensions of classical results for statistical convergence of sequences are obtained in this article, with extensions to nets.			

#### 1. Introduction

The concept of statistical convergence was introduced independently by H. Fast [10] and by H. Steinhaus in [34] as an applicable concept that generalizes the classical concept of usual convergence. This convergence was studied for sequences of numbers in [11, 12, 31], for sequences of elements in uniform spaces in [4, 21], for sequences of elements in paranormed spaces in [2, 14], for sequences of elements in topological groups in [6], for sequences of elements in metric spaces in [3], for sequences of elements in topological vector spaces in [20], and for sequences of elements in topological vector lattices in [1]. There are articles [26, 27], which study statistical convergence of double sequences and generalized sequences. There are generalizations of this concept through ideals in the articles [15, 16, 17, 32]. Almost all applicable statistical convergence ideas depend on asymptotic densities of sets. These sets may be subsets of N,  $N \times N$ ,  $N \times N \times N$ , ..., where N represents the set of all natural numbers. So, if the concept of asymptotic density for subsets of directed sets is introduced, then the concept of statistical convergence for nets can be introduced. This is done in the present article. For this purpose, a natural restriction is made on directed sets. The restriction is the following:

For the directed sets  $(D, \leq)$  considered in this article, to each  $\beta \in D$ , the set  $\{\alpha \in D : \alpha \leq \beta\}$  is finite and the set  $\{\alpha \in D : \alpha \geq \beta\}$  is infinite. It is assumed that all directed sets considered in this article satisfy this condition.

All directed sets considered through N,  $N \times N$ ,  $N \times N \times N$ , ..., in earlier studies for statistical convergence satisfy this condition. Thus, a common extension is proposed in this article.

There is an article [17], which discusses statistical convergence of nets through ideals, but not through a concept of asymptotic density. The present article presents statistical convergence of nets through a concept of asymptotic density for directed sets.

The articles [7, 8, 9, 18, 19, 22, 23, 24, 25, 28, 29, 35, 36, 37, 38, 39] are related to this study of the concept. There are articles related to summability through statistical convergence (see [11, 33]) and articles for generalizations of asymptotic density (see [5]). Let us first introduce a concept of asymptotic density for our purpose.

#### 2. Asymptotic density

A definition of asymptotic density for a special class of directed sets is presented in this section. This definition considers with the classical definition for the directed set of natural numbers.

**Definition 2.1.** Let  $(D, \leq)$  be a directed set that satisfies the condition mentioned above. To each  $\alpha \in D$ , let  $D_{\alpha} = \{\beta \in D : \beta \leq \alpha\}$  and  $|D_{\alpha}|$  denote the cardinality of  $D_{\alpha}$ . The lower asymptotic density of a nonempty subset A of D is defined as the number  $\liminf_{\alpha \in D} \frac{|A \cap D_{\alpha}|}{|D_{\alpha}|}$  and the upper asymptotic density of A is defined as the number  $\limsup_{\alpha \in D} \frac{|A \cap D_{\alpha}|}{|D_{\alpha}|}$ .

*Email addresses and ORCID numbers*: armurgn@gmail.com, https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3119-7531 (AR. Murugan), josephdiana4866@gmail.com, https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3119-7531 (J. Dianavinnarasi), ganesamoorthyc@gmail.com, https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3119-7531 (C. Ganesa Moorthy )

\_\_\_\_\_

If the upper and lower densities are equal, then the common number is called the asymptotic density of A and it is denoted by  $\delta(A;D)$ . Thus,  $\delta(A;D) = \lim_{\alpha \in D} \frac{|A \cap D_{\alpha}|}{|D_{\alpha}|}$ , in the real interval [0,1]. If A is an empty subset, it is assumed that  $\delta(A;D) = 0$ . Here, for  $x_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{R}$ , the real line,

$$\liminf_{\alpha\in D} x_{\alpha} = \sup_{\beta\in D} \inf_{\alpha\geq\beta} x_{\alpha}$$

and

80

 $\limsup_{\alpha\in D} x_{\alpha} = \inf_{\beta\in D} \sup_{\alpha\geq\beta} x_{\alpha}.$ 

**Example 2.2.** Let  $D = \{(x_1, x_2, x_3) : x_i \in N, i = 1, 2, 3\}$ . Define  $\leq$  on D by:  $(x_1, x_2, x_3) \leq (y_1, y_2, y_3)$  if and only if  $x_1 \leq y_1, x_2 \leq y_2$  and  $x_3 \leq y_3$ . Then, to each  $(y_1, y_2, y_3) \in D$ , the set  $\{(x_1, x_2, x_3) \in D : (x_1, x_2, x_3) \leq (y_1, y_2, y_3)\}$  is finite, and it contains  $y_1 \cdot y_2 \cdot y_3$  elements. Let  $A = \{(x, x, x) : x \in N\}$ . Then,  $\delta(A; D) = 0$ .

**Example 2.3.** Let D = N be the directed set with the usual order relation. Then, to each  $\alpha \in D$ ,  $D_{\alpha} = \{\beta \in D : \beta \leq \alpha\}$  has precisely  $\alpha$  elements. The asymptotic density introduced in Definition 2.1 for D coincides with the classical asymptotic density for subsets of N.

**Definition 2.4.** Let  $(D^{(1)}, \leq^{(1)})$  and  $(D^{(2)}, \leq^{(2)})$  be two directed sets. Let  $D = D^{(1)} \times D^{(2)}$ . Define the product order  $\leq$  in D by:  $(x_1, x_2) \leq (y_1, y_2)$  if and only if  $x_1 \leq^{(1)} y_1$  and  $x_2 \leq^{(2)} y_2$ . Observe again that to each  $\alpha \in D$ , the set  $D_{\alpha} = \{\beta \in D : \beta \leq \alpha\}$  is finite. This definition can be extended to any Cartesian product of a finite number of directed sets.

**Remark 2.5.** If  $A \subseteq D^{(1)}$ , and if  $\delta(A; D^{(1)})$  exists then  $\delta(A \times D^{(2)}; D) = \delta(A; D^{(1)})$ ; for the notations used in the previous Definition 2.4. *Moreover, if*  $B \subseteq D^{(2)}$  and  $\delta(A; D^{(1)}) = 0$  then  $\delta(A \times B; D) = \delta(A; D^{(1)})$ .

**Proposition 2.6.** Let *D* be one among the directed sets  $N, N \times N, N \times N, N \times N, \dots$ , when *N* is endowed with the usual order, and the other sets are endowed with the corresponding product orders. Then, to each  $\gamma \in D$ ,

 $\delta({\alpha \in D : \alpha \text{ not greater than or equal to } \gamma}; D) = 0$ , and hence  $\delta({\alpha \in D : \alpha \geq \gamma}; D) = 1$ 

*Proof.* It is easy to verify the relation  $\delta(\{x \in D : \alpha \ge \gamma\}; D) = 1$ .

**Example 2.7.** Consider the set N with the following different order relation.  $m \le n$  if and only if m divides n. Then, N is a directed set with the properties mentioned in the introduction. Fix  $k \in N \setminus \{1\}$ . Let  $A = \{n \in N : n \text{ is not greater than or equal to } k\} = N \setminus \{k, 2k, 3k, \dots\} = N \setminus kN$  (say).

(say). If  $m \in N \setminus kN$  and if  $D_m = \{n \in N : n \le m\}$ , then, for  $i \in D_m$ ,  $i \in N \setminus kN$  and hence  $A \cap D_m = D_m$ . This shows that  $\limsup_{m \to \infty} \frac{|A \cap D_m|}{|D_m|} = 1$ . If  $m = k^i$  for some i > 1, then  $D_m = \{n \in N : n \le m\} = \{1, k, 2k, \dots, k^i\}$ , when  $A \cap D_m = \{1\}$ . This shows that  $\liminf_{m \to \infty} \frac{|A \cap D_m|}{|D_m|} = 0$ . In particular,  $\delta(A;N)$  does not exist. However, if  $A = \{n \in N : n \text{ is not greater than or equal to } 1\} = N \setminus \{1\}$ , then  $\delta(A;N) = 1$ . Now, let  $D = N \setminus \{1\}$  and consider the order relation defined above. To each  $\beta \in D$ , let  $D_\beta = \{\alpha \in D : \alpha \le \beta\}$ . For a fixed  $\gamma \in D$ , let  $B = \{\alpha \in D : \alpha \ge \gamma\}$ . Then,  $\limsup_{\beta \in D} \frac{|B \cap D_\beta|}{|D_\beta|} = 1 > 0$ .

**Definition 2.8.** A directed set is said to satisfy the condition (\*), if to each fixed  $\gamma \in D$ , for the set  $B = \{\alpha \in D : \alpha \ge \gamma\}$ , it is true that  $\limsup_{\beta \in D} \frac{|B \cap D_{\beta}|}{|D_{\beta}|} > 0$ , when  $D_{\beta} = \{\alpha \in D : \alpha \le \beta\}$ .

#### 3. Statistical convergence

The classical concept of statistical convergence is generalized in this section. Some new fundamental properties are derived.

**Definition 3.1.** Let  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  be a net in a topological space  $(X, \tau)$  and let  $x \in X$ . Let us say that  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  converges statistically to x in  $(X, \tau)$ , if, to each  $U \in \tau$  such that  $x \in U$ , the relation  $\delta(\{\alpha \in D : x_{\alpha} \notin U\}; D) = 0$  is true.

Let us first verify the uniqueness of statistical limits in Hausdorff spaces.

**Proposition 3.2.** Suppose  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  be a net in a Hausdorff space  $(X, \tau)$  such that it converges statistically to x and y in X. Then, x = y.

*Proof.* Suppose  $x \neq y$ . Then, there are disjoint open sets U and V such that  $x \in U$  and  $y \in V$ . Then,

$$\{\alpha \in D : x_{\alpha} \notin U\} \cup \{\alpha \in D : x_{\alpha} \notin V\} = \{\alpha \in D : x_{\alpha} \notin U \cap V\} = D.$$

But,  $\delta(\{\alpha \in D : x_\alpha \notin U\} \cup \{\alpha \in D : x_\alpha \notin V\}; D) = 0$  and  $\delta(D; D) = 1$ ; which is a contradiction. Therefore, x = y. Observe that  $\delta(A \cup B; D) = 0$ , whenever  $\delta(A; D) = 0$  and  $\delta(B; D) = 0$ , for subsets *A* and *B* of *D*.

**Proposition 3.3.** Let  $(D^{(1)}, \leq^{(1)})$ ,  $(D^{(2)}, \leq^{(2)})$  and  $(D, \leq)$  be as in Definition 2.4. Let  $(X, \tau_X)$  and  $(Y, \tau_Y)$  be given topological spaces. Let  $\tau$  be the product topology on  $X \times Y$ . Let  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D^{(1)}}$  and  $(y_{\beta})_{\beta \in D^{(2)}}$  be two nets in X and Y respectively. Then,  $((x_{\alpha}, y_{\beta}))_{(\alpha,\beta)\in D}$  converges statistically to some (x, y) in  $(X \times Y, \tau)$  if and only if  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D^{(1)}}$  converges statistically to x in  $(X, \tau_X)$  and  $(y_{\beta})_{\beta \in D^{(2)}}$  converges statistically to y in  $(Y, \tau_Y)$ .

*Proof.* Suppose,  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D^{(1)}}$  converges statistically to x in  $(X, \tau_X)$  and  $(y_{\beta})_{\beta \in D^{(2)}}$  converges statistically to y in  $(Y, \tau_Y)$ . Fix  $U \in \tau_X$  and  $V \in \tau_Y$  such that  $x \in U$  and  $y \in V$ .

$$\delta(\{\alpha \in D^{(1)} : x_{\alpha} \notin U\}; D^{(1)}) = 0 \text{ and } \delta(\{\beta \in D^{(2)} : y_{\beta} \notin V\}; D^{(2)}) = 0$$

By Remark 2.5,

$$\delta(\{\alpha \in D^{(1)} : x_{\alpha} \notin U\} \times D^{(2)} \cup D^{(1)} \times \{\beta \in D^{(2)} : y_{\beta} \notin V\}; D) = 0.$$

Thus,

$$\delta(\{(\alpha,\beta)\in D:(x_{\alpha},y_{\beta})\notin U\times V\};D)=0.$$

This implies that,  $((x_{\alpha}, y_{\beta}))_{(\alpha,\beta) \in D}$  converges statistically to (x, y) in  $(X \times Y, \tau)$ . Conversely, assume that  $((x_{\alpha}, y_{\beta}))_{(\alpha,\beta) \in D}$  converges statistically to (x, y) in  $(X \times Y, \tau)$ . Fix an open neighborhood U of x in  $(X, \tau_X)$ . Then,

$$\delta(\{(\alpha,\beta)\in D: (x_{\alpha},y_{\beta})\notin U\times Y\};D)=0.$$

So,  $\delta(\{\alpha \in D^{(1)} : x_{\alpha} \notin U\}; D^{(1)}) = 0$ . This implies that,  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D^{(1)}}$  converges statistically to x in  $(X, \tau_X)$ . Similarly,  $(y_{\beta})_{\beta \in D^{(2)}}$  converges statistically to y in  $(Y, \tau_Y)$ .

**Proposition 3.4.** Let  $(X, \tau_X)$ ,  $(Y, \tau_Y)$  and  $(X \times Y, \tau)$  be as in the previous Proposition 3.3. Let  $(x_\alpha)_{\alpha \in D}$  be a net that converges statistically to some x in  $(X, \tau_X)$ , for some directed set  $(D, \leq)$ . Let  $(y_\alpha)_{\alpha \in D}$  be a net that converges statistically to some y in  $(Y, \tau_Y)$ . Then,  $((x_\alpha, y_\alpha))_{\alpha \in D}$  converges statistically to (x, y) in  $(X \times Y, \tau)$ . On the other hand, if  $((x_\alpha, y_\alpha))_{\alpha \in D}$  converges statistically to some (x, y) in  $(X \times Y, \tau)$  then  $(x_\alpha)_{\alpha \in D}$  converges statistically to x in  $(X, \tau_X)$  and  $(y_\alpha)_{\alpha \in D}$  converges statistically to y in  $(Y, \tau_Y)$ .

*Proof.* Suppose  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  converges statistically to *x* and  $(y_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  converges statistically to *y*. Let *U* be an open neighbourhood of *x* in X and *V* be an open neighbourhood of *y* in Y. Then,

$$\delta(\{\alpha \in D : x_{\alpha} \notin U\} \cup \{\alpha \in D : y_{\alpha} \notin V\}; D) = 0.$$

That is

$$\delta(\{\alpha \in D : (x_{\alpha}, y_{\alpha}) \notin U \times V\}; D) = 0.$$

So,  $((x_{\alpha}, y_{\alpha}))_{\alpha \in D}$  converges statistically to (x, y). Conversely assume that  $((x_{\alpha}, y_{\alpha}))_{\alpha \in D}$  converges statistically to (x, y). Let *U* be an open neighbourhood of *x*. Then,

$$\delta(\{\alpha \in D : (x_{\alpha}, y_{\alpha}) \notin U \times Y\}; D) = 0.$$

That is

$$\delta(\{\alpha \in D : x_{\alpha} \notin U\}; D) = 0.$$

This implies that,  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  converges statistically to x. Similarly  $(y_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  converges statistically to y.

**Remark 3.5.** Proposition 3.3 and Proposition 3.4 can be extended to any Cartesian product of a finite number of spaces.

**Proposition 3.6.** Let  $(X, \tau_X)$  and  $(Y, \tau_Y)$  be topological spaces and let  $f : (X, \tau_X) \to (Y, \tau_Y)$  be a function which is continuous at a point x in X. Let  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  be a net that converges statistically to some x in  $(X, \tau_X)$ . Then,  $(f(x_{\alpha}))_{\alpha \in D}$  converges statistically to f(x) in  $(Y, \tau_Y)$ .

*Proof.* Let U be an open neighbourhood of f(x) in  $(Y, \tau_Y)$ . Then, there is an open neighbourhood V of x in  $(X, \tau_X)$  such that  $f(V) \subseteq U$ . Then,

$$\{\alpha \in D : f(x_{\alpha}) \notin U\} \subseteq \{\alpha \in D : x_{\alpha} \notin V\}$$
 and  $\delta(\{\alpha \in D : x_{\alpha} \notin V\}; D) = 0.$ 

So,  $\delta(\{\alpha \in D : f(x_{\alpha}) \notin U\}; D) = 0$ . This proves that  $(f(x_{\alpha}))_{\alpha \in D}$  converges statistically to f(x) in  $(Y, \tau_Y)$ .

**Proposition 3.7.** Let  $D^{(1)}, D^{(2)}$  and D be as in Proposition 3.3. Let  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D^{(1)}}$  and  $(y_{\beta})_{\beta \in D^{(2)}}$  be two nets in a topological vector space X over the field of real numbers or the field of complex numbers. Let  $(a_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D^{(1)}}$  be a net of scalars. If  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D^{(1)}}, (y_{\beta})_{\beta \in D^{(2)}}$  and  $(a_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D^{(1)}}$  converge statistically to x, y and a respectively, then  $(x_{\alpha} + y_{\beta})_{(\alpha,\beta) \in D}$  and  $(a_{\alpha}y_{\beta})_{(\alpha,\beta) \in D}$  converge statistically to x + y and ay respectively.

*Proof.* Use Proposition 3.3 and Proposition 3.6. Observe that, it has been assumed that, the addition and the scalar multiplication in a topological vector space are jointly continuous.  $\Box$ 

**Proposition 3.8.** Let  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  and  $(y_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  be two nets in a topological vector space X; with respect to a common directed set D. Let  $(a_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  be a net of scalars. If  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$ ,  $(y_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  and  $(a_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  converge statistically to x, y and a respectively, then  $(x_{\alpha} + y_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  and  $(a_{\alpha}y_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  converge statistically to x + y and ay respectively.

*Proof.* Use Proposition 3.4 and Proposition 3.6.

**Remark 3.9.** One may derive results similar to Proposition 3.7 and Proposition 3.8 for the structures, topological groups, topological rings, and topological algebras.

#### 4. Statistically Cauchy nets

The concept of statistically Cauchy nets is to be introduced for uniform spaces. For the concepts and notations in uniform spaces, one may refer to the book of Kelley [13] on General topology. The following definition agrees with the known definitions for statistically Cauchy sequences and statistically Cauchy double sequences (see [11, 26, 30]).

**Definition 4.1.** Let  $(X, \mathfrak{U})$  be a uniform space with a uniformity  $\mathfrak{U}$ . A net  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  in X is said to be statistically Cauchy if, for given  $U \in \mathfrak{U}$ , there is a  $\gamma \in D$  such that

 $\delta(\{\alpha \in D : (x_{\alpha}, x_{\gamma}) \notin U, \alpha \geq \gamma\}; D) = 0.$ 

It is easy to verify that every Cauchy net is a statistically Cauchy net, and hence every converging net is a statistically Cauchy net in a uniform space. It is also possible to prove that statistical convergence implies statistical Cauchyness in a uniform space.

**Proposition 4.2.** Let D be a directed set. Then, every statistically convergent net  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  in a uniform space is statistically Cauchy.

*Proof.* Let  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  be a net which converges statistically to x in a uniform space  $(X, \mathfrak{U})$ . Fix  $U \in \mathfrak{U}$ . Find a symmetric  $V \in \mathfrak{U}$  such that  $V \circ V \subseteq U$ . For this V,

$$\delta(\{\alpha \in D : (x_{\alpha}, x) \notin V\}; D) = 0$$

and hence there is a  $\gamma \in D$  such that  $(x_{\gamma}, x) \in V$ . Then,

$$\{\alpha \in D : (x_{\alpha}, x_{\gamma}) \notin U\} \subseteq \{\alpha \in D : (x_{\alpha}, x) \notin V\}.$$

Thus,

$$\delta(\{\alpha \in D : (x_{\alpha}, x_{\gamma}) \notin U, \alpha \geq \gamma\}; D) = 0.$$

This proves that  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  is statistically Cauchy.

Let us recall the order in product of two directed sets described in Definition 2.4.

**Proposition 4.3.** Let  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  be a net that is statistically Cauchy in a uniform space  $(X, \mathfrak{U})$ . Then, for given  $U \in \mathfrak{U}$ , there is a  $\gamma \in D$  such that

$$\delta(\{(\alpha,\beta)\in D\times D: (x_{\alpha},x_{\beta})\notin U,\alpha\geq\gamma,\beta\geq\gamma\};D\times D)=0.$$

*Proof.* Fix  $U \in \mathfrak{U}$ . Find a symmetric  $V \in \mathfrak{U}$  such that  $V \circ V \subseteq U$ . For this V, there is a  $\gamma \in D$  such that  $\delta(\{\alpha \in D : (x_{\alpha}, x_{\gamma}) \notin V, \alpha \geq \gamma\}; D) = 0$ . Since

 $\begin{aligned} \{(\alpha,\beta) \in D \times D : (x_{\alpha},x_{\beta}) \notin U, \alpha \geq \gamma, \beta \geq \gamma\} &\subseteq \{(\alpha,\beta) \in D \times D : (x_{\alpha},x_{\gamma}) \notin V \\ or (x_{\beta},x_{\gamma}) \notin V, \alpha \geq \gamma, \beta \geq \gamma\} \\ &\subseteq (\{\alpha \in D : (x_{\alpha},x_{\gamma}) \notin V, \alpha \geq \gamma\} \times D) \\ &\cup (D \times \{\beta \in D : (x_{\beta},x_{\gamma}) \notin V, \beta \geq \gamma\}), \end{aligned}$ 

by Remark 2.5,

$$\delta(\{(\alpha,\beta)\in D\times D: (x_{\alpha},x_{\beta})\notin U,\alpha\geq\gamma,\beta\geq\gamma\};D\times D)=0.$$

**Proposition 4.4.** Let  $D^{(1)}, D^{(2)}$  and D be as in Proposition 3.3. Let  $(X, \mathfrak{U}_X)$  and  $(Y, \mathfrak{U}_Y)$  be two uniform spaces. Let  $\mathfrak{U}$  be the product uniformity on  $X \times Y$ . Let  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D^{(1)}}$  and  $(y_{\beta})_{\beta \in D^{(2)}}$  be two nets in X and Y respectively. Then,  $((x_{\alpha}, y_{\beta}))_{(\alpha,\beta)\in D}$  is statistically Cauchy in  $(X \times Y, \mathfrak{U})$  if  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D^{(1)}}$  is statistically Cauchy in  $(X, \mathfrak{U}_X)$  and  $(y_{\beta})_{\beta \in D^{(2)}}$  is statistically Cauchy in  $(Y, \mathfrak{U}_Y)$ . Moreover, if  $D^{(1)}$  and  $D^{(2)}$  satisfy the condition (\*) mentioned in Definition 2.8, and  $((x_{\alpha}, y_{\beta}))_{(\alpha,\beta)\in D}$  is statistically Cauchy in  $(X \times Y, \mathfrak{U})$ , then  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D^{(1)}}$  is statistically Cauchy in  $(Y, \mathfrak{U}_Y)$ .

*Proof.* The proof follows from the set relation: For  $U \in \mathfrak{U}_X$ ,  $V \in \mathfrak{U}_Y$ ,  $\gamma_1 \in D^{(1)}$  and for  $\gamma_2 \in D^{(2)}$ , it is true that

$$\begin{aligned} \{(\alpha,\beta)\in D:((x_{\alpha},x_{\gamma_{1}}),(y_{\beta},y_{\gamma_{2}}))\notin U\times V,(\alpha,\beta)\geq (\gamma_{1},\gamma_{2})\} &= (\{\alpha\in D^{(1)}:(x_{\alpha},x_{\gamma_{1}})\notin U,\alpha\geq \gamma_{1}\}\times\{\beta\in D^{(2)}:\beta\geq \gamma_{2}\})\\ &\cup (\{\alpha\in D^{(1)}:\alpha\geq \gamma_{1}\}\times\{\beta\in D^{(2)}:(y_{\beta},y_{\gamma_{2}})\notin V,\beta\geq \gamma_{2}\}).\end{aligned}$$

**Proposition 4.5.** Let  $(X, \mathfrak{U}_X)$  and  $(Y, \mathfrak{U}_Y)$  be two uniform spaces. Let  $\mathfrak{U}$  be the product uniformity on  $X \times Y$ . Let  $(x_\alpha)_{\alpha \in D}$  and  $(y_\alpha)_{\alpha \in D}$  be nets in X and Y respectively. Then,  $((x_\alpha, y_\alpha))_{\alpha \in D}$  is statistically Cauchy in  $X \times Y$  if and only if  $(x_\alpha)_{\alpha \in D}$  is statistically Cauchy in X and  $(y_\alpha)_{\alpha \in D}$  is statistically Cauchy in X.

*Proof.* Suppose  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  and  $(y_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  be statistically Cauchy. Fix  $U \in \mathfrak{U}_X$  and  $V \in \mathfrak{U}_Y$ . Then, there is a  $\gamma \in D$  such that

$$\delta(\{\alpha \in D : (x_{\alpha}, x_{\gamma}) \notin U, \alpha \ge \gamma\}; D) = 0 \text{ and } \delta(\{\alpha \in D : (y_{\alpha}, y_{\gamma}) \notin V, \alpha \ge \gamma\}; D) = 0.$$

The statistically Cauchyness of  $((x_{\alpha}, y_{\alpha}))_{\alpha \in D}$  follows from the relation:

$$\{\alpha \in D : (x_{\alpha}, x_{\gamma}) \notin U \quad \text{or} \quad (y_{\alpha}, y_{\gamma}) \notin V, \ \alpha \geq \gamma\} \quad \subseteq \{\alpha \in D : (x_{\alpha}, x_{\gamma}) \notin U, \alpha \geq \gamma\} \cup \{\alpha \in D : (y_{\alpha}, y_{\gamma}) \notin V, \alpha \geq \gamma\}$$

Conversely, assume that  $((x_{\alpha}, y_{\alpha}))_{\alpha \in D}$  is statistically Cauchy. Fix  $U \in \mathfrak{U}$ . Then, there is a  $\gamma \in D$  such that

$$\delta(\{\alpha \in D : (x_{\alpha}, x_{\gamma}) \notin U, \alpha \ge \gamma\}; D) = \delta(\{\alpha \in D : (x_{\alpha}, x_{\gamma}) \notin U \text{ or } (y_{\alpha}, y_{\gamma}) \notin Y \times Y, \alpha \ge \gamma\}; D) = 0.$$

This shows that  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  is statistically Cauchy. Similarly,  $(y_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  is statistically Cauchy.

**Proposition 4.6.** Let  $f: (X, \mathfrak{U}) \to (Y, \mathfrak{V})$  be a uniformly continuous function from a uniform space  $(X, \mathfrak{U})$  into a uniform space  $(Y, \mathfrak{V})$ . Let  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  be a statistically Cauchy net in  $(X, \mathfrak{U})$ . Then,  $(f(x_{\alpha}))_{\alpha \in D}$  is a statistically Cauchy net in  $(Y, \mathfrak{V})$ .

*Proof.* Fix  $V \in \mathfrak{V}$ . Find a  $U \in \mathfrak{U}$  such that  $(f(x), f(y)) \in V$ , whenever  $(x, y) \in U$ . Find a  $\gamma \in D$  such that  $\delta(\{\alpha \in D : (x_{\alpha}, x_{\gamma}) \notin U, \alpha \geq \gamma\}; D) = 0$ .

Then,

$$\delta(\{\alpha \in D : (f(x_{\alpha}), f(x_{\gamma})) \notin V, \alpha \ge \gamma\}; D) = 0,$$

because

$$\{\alpha \in D : (f(x_{\alpha}), f(x_{\gamma})) \notin V, \alpha \ge \gamma\} \subseteq \{\alpha \in D : (x_{\alpha}, x_{\gamma}) \notin U, \alpha \ge \gamma\}.$$

**Remark 4.7.** Let  $(X, \tau)$  be a topological vector space. The usual uniformity on X implies the following: A net  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  is Cauchy in X if and only if for every neighbourhood U of 0 there is a  $\gamma \in D$  such that

 $\delta(\{\alpha \in D : x_{\alpha} - x_{\gamma} \notin U, \alpha \geq \gamma\}; D) = 0.$ 

One can derive the following Proposition 4.8 and Proposition 4.9 which are similar to Proposition 3.7 and Proposition 3.8.

**Proposition 4.8.** Let  $D^{(1)}, D^{(2)}, D, (x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D^{(1)}}, (y_{\beta})_{\beta \in D^{(2)}}, (a_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D^{(1)}}$  and X be as in Proposition 3.7. Let  $x \in X$  and a be a scalar. If  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D^{(1)}}, (y_{\beta})_{\beta \in D^{(2)}}$  and  $(a_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D^{(1)}}$  are statistically Cauchy, then  $(x_{\alpha} + y_{\beta})_{(\alpha,\beta)\in D}, (a_{\alpha}x)_{\alpha \in D^{(1)}}$  and  $(ax_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D^{(1)}}$  are statistically Cauchy.

*Proof.* Use Proposition 4.6 and Proposition 4.4.

**Proposition 4.9.** Let  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$ ,  $(y_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  and X be as in Proposition 3.8. If  $(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  and  $(y_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  are statistically Cauchy, then  $(x_{\alpha}+y_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D}$  is statistically Cauchy.

*Proof.* Use Proposition 4.5 and Proposition 4.6.

#### 5. Net Spaces

Corresponding to sequence spaces, net spaces can be constructed. The following construction is similar to the construction given in [31]. The following construction uses the Propositions 3.7, 3.8, 4.8 and 4.9. Since, verifications part is a direct one, it is omitted. Let  $(X, \tau)$  be a topological vector space with the natural uniformity  $\mathfrak{U}$  that induces the topology  $\tau$ . Let *D* be a fixed directed set. Let  $M = \{(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D} : \{x_{\alpha} : \alpha \in D\}$  is a bounded subset of  $X\}$ .

Let  $M_{cy} = \{(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D} \in M : (x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D} \text{ is statistically Cauchy}\}.$ Let  $M_{ct} = \{(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D} \in M : (x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D} \text{ converges statistically in } X\}.$ Let  $M_0 = \{(x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D} \in M : (x_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in D} \text{ converges statistically to zero in } X\}.$ 

To each balanced neighbourhood U of zero in X, define a function  $p_U$  on M by

 $p_U((x_{\alpha})_{\alpha\in D}) = \sup\{\lambda \ge 0 : \lambda x_{\alpha} \in U, \forall \alpha \in D\},\$ 

and define a subset  $N_U$  of M by

$$N_U = \{(x_\alpha)_{\alpha \in D} \in M : p_U((x_\alpha)_{\alpha \in D}) < 1\}.$$

Then, the collection of the sets of the form  $N_U$  forms a local base for M that makes M into a topological vector space under pointwise algebraic operations. Also,  $M_{cy}$  is a closed linear subspace of M. If  $(X, \mathfrak{U})$  is a complete topological vector space, then M is a complete topological vector space and  $M_{ct}$  and  $M_0$  are closed linear subspaces of M.

#### References

- [1] H. Albayrak, S. Pehlivan, Statistical convergence and statistical continuity on locally solid Riesz spaces, Topol. Appl., 159 (2012), 1887-1893.
- [2] A. Alotaibi, A. M. Alroqi, Statistical convergence in a paranorned space, J. Inequal. Appl., 39 (2012), 6 pages, doi: 10.1186/1029-242X-2012-39.
   [3] B. Bilalov, T. Nazarova, On statistical convergence in metric spaces, J. Math. Res., 7(1) (2015), 37-43.

- [4] B. Bilalov, T. Nazarova, On statistical tonergence in uniform spaces, St. Math. Res., 7(1) (2015), 57 45.
  [4] B. Bilalov, T. Nazarova, On statistical type convergence in uniform spaces, Bull. of the Iranian Math. Soc., 42(4) (2016), 975-986.
  [5] R. C. Buck, Generalized asymptotic density, Amer. J. Math., 75 (1953), 335-346.
  [6] H. Cakalli, On statistical convergence in topological groups, Pure Appl. Math. Sci., 43 (1996), 27-31.
  [7] E. Dündar, Y. Sever, Multipliers for bounded statistical convergence of double sequences, Int. Math. Forum., 7(52) (2012), 2581-2587.
- [8] E. Dündar, U. Ulusu, B. Aydin, J<sub>2</sub>-lacunary statistical convergence of double sequences of sets, Konuralp J. Math., 5(1) (2017), 1-10.
- [9] E. Dündar, U. Ulusu, F. Nuray, On ideal invariant convergence of double sequences and some properties, Creat. Math. Inform., 27(2) (2018), 161-169.
- [10] H. Fast, Sur la convergence statistique, Colloq. Math., 2 (1951), 241-244.
   [11] J. A. Fridy, On statistical convergence, Anal., 5 (1985), 301-313.
- [12] J. A. Fridy, Statistical limit points, Proc. Amer. Math. Soc., 118(4) (1993), 1187-1192.
- [13] J. L. Kelly, General topology, Springer, (1975).
- [14] E. Kolk, The statistical convergence in Banach spaces, Acta Comment. Univ. Tartu. Math., 928 (1991), 41-52.

- [15] P. Kotyrko, W. Wilcznski, T. Salat, *I-convergence*, Real Anal. Exchange, 26(2) (2000), 669-686.
  [16] B. K. Lahiri, P. Das, *I and I\*-convergence in topological spaces*, Math. Bohem., 130(2) (2005), 153-160.
  [17] B. K. Lahiri, P. Das, *I and I\*-convergence of nets*, Real Anal. Exchange, 33(2) (2007-2008), 431-442.
  [18] S. Loganathan, C. G. Moorthy, *A net convergence for Schauder double bases*, Asian-Eur, J. Math., 9(1) (2016), 1650010.
  [19] S. Loganathan, C. G. Moorthy, *A net convergence for Schauder double bases*, Asian-Eur, J. Math., 9(1) (2016), 1650010.
- [19] S. Loganathan, C. G. Moorthy, Block convergence of series in topological vector spaces, J. Ana, Num. Theor., 4(1) (2016), 61-69.
   [20] I. J. Maddox, Statistical convergence in a locally convex space, Math. Cambridge Phil. Soc., 104(1) (1988), 141-145.
- [21] G. D. Maio, L. D. R. Kocinac, Statistical convergence in topology, Topol. Appl., **156** (2008), 28-45.
   [22] C. G. Moorthy, A problem of Good on Hausdorff dimension, Mathematika, **39**(2) (1992), 244-246.
- [23] C. G. Moorthy, R. Vijaya, P. Venkatachalapathy, Hausdorff dimension of Cantor-like sets, Kyungpook Math. J., 32(2) (1992), 197-202.
- [24] C. G. Moorthy, I. Raj, Weak convergence of fixed point iterations in metric spaces, J. Optimiz. Theory App., 4(2) (2013), 189-192.
- [25] C. G. Moorthy, T. Ramasamy, Pringsheim convergence of double sequences for uniform boundedness principle, Asian-Eur. J. Math., 10(4) (2017), [750080.
  [26] M. Mursaleen, O. H. H. Edely, Statistical convergence of double sequences, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 288 (2003), 223-231.
- [27] M. Mursaleen, O. H. H. Edely, Generalized statistical convergence, Inform. Sci., 162(3-4) (2004), 287-294.
   [28] F. Nuray, U. Ulusu, E. Dündar, Lacunary statistical convergence of double sequences of sets, Soft Comput., 20(7) (2016), 2883-2888.
- [29] N. Pancarolu, E. Dündar, U. Ulusu, Asymptotically I<sub>go</sub>-statistical equivalence of sequences of sets defined by a modulus functions, Sakarya Univ. J. Sci., 22(6) (2018), 1857-1862.
- [30] D. Rath, B. C. Tripathy, On statistically convergent and statistically Cauchy sequences, Indian J. Pure appl. Math., 25(4) (1994), 381-386.
   [31] T. Salat, On statistically convergent sequences of real numbers, Math. Slovaca, 30(2) (1980), 139-150.
- [32] E. Savas, P. Das, A generalized statistical convergence via ideals, Appl. Math. Lett., 24(6) (2011), 826-830.
- [33] I. J. Schoenberg, The integrability of certain functions and related summability methods, Amer. Math. Monthly, 66(5) (1959), 361-375.
- [34] H. Steinhaus, Sur la convergence ordinaire et la convergence asymptotique, Colloq. Math., 2 (1951), 73-74.
- [35] U. Ulusu, F. Nuray, Lacunary statistical convergence of sequences of sets, Prog. Appl. Math., 4(2) (2012), 99-109.
  [36] U. Ulusu, E. Dündar, *I-Lacunary statistical convergence of sequences of sets*, Filomat, 28(8) (2014), 1567-1574.
- [37] U. Ulusu, Asymptotically ideal invariant equivalence, Creat. Math. Inform., 27(2) (2018), 215-220.
- [38] S. Yegul, E. Dündar, On statistical convergence of sequences of functions in 2-normed spaces, J. Class. Anal., 10(1) (2017), 49-57. [39] S. Yegul, E. Dündar, Statistical Convergence of Double Sequences of Functions and Some Properties In 2-Normed Spaces, Facta Universitatis, Ser.
  - Math. and Infor., 33(5) (2018), 705-719.

**UJMA** 

**Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications** 

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma ISSN 2619-9653 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.32323/ujma.543824



# Cyclic $(\alpha, \beta)$ -Admissible Mappings in Modular Spaces and Applications to Integral Equations

Müzeyyen Sangurlu Sezen<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Giresun University, Giresun, Turkey \*Corresponding author

#### **Article Info**

#### Abstract

Keywords: Cyclic  $(\alpha, \beta)$ -admissible mapping,  $(\alpha, \beta) - (\psi, \phi)$ -contractive mapping, Modular space. 2010 AMS: 47H10, 54H25. Received: 23 March 2019 Accepted: 3 May 2019 Available online: 28 June 2019 The main concern of this study is to present a generalization of Banach's fixed point theorem in some classes of modular spaces, where the modular is convex and satisfying the  $\Delta_2$ -condition. In this work, the existence and uniqueness of fixed point for  $(\alpha, \beta) - (\psi, \varphi) -$  contractive mapping and  $\alpha - \beta - \psi$ -weak rational contraction in modular spaces are proved. Some examples are supplied to support the usability of our results. As an application, the existence of a solution for an integral equation of Lipschitz type in a Musielak-Orlicz space is presented.

#### 1. Introduction and Preliminaries

It is well known fixed point theorems play important roles and have applications in mathematics analysis, particularly in differential and integral equations. One of the most popular fixed point theorem is Banach fixed point theorem [6]. By using this theorem, most authors have proved several fixed point theorems for various mappings [13, 21, 28]. Such as, Dutta and Choudhury proved  $(\psi, \phi)$ -contractive mappings in complete metric space [11]. Samet et al. introduced the concept of  $\alpha - \varphi$ - contractive type mappings and established various fixed point theorems [32]. Later, Salimi et al. modified the concept of  $\alpha - \varphi$ - contractive type mappings [31]. Alizadeh et al. [4] developed a new fixed point theorem in complete metric spaces. They introduced the concept of cyclic  $(\alpha, \beta)$ -admissible and  $(\alpha, \beta) - (\psi, \phi)$ -contractive mappings and established some fixed point results in metric spaces.

On the other hand, some authors introduced a new concept of modular vector spaces which are natural generalizations of many classical function spaces. Firstly, Nakano initiated the concept of modular spaces [26]. Later, some authors proved new fixed point theorems of Banach type in modular spaces [12, 18, 19, 22, 23, 24, 29, 33]. Then, also the concept of the fixed point theory was studied in modular metric, modular function and modular vector spaces. [1, 2, 3, 5, 8, 9, 10, 14, 15, 16, 17, 20, 30, 34].

In this work, some fixed point results as a generalization of Banach's fixed point theorem are presented using some convenient constants in the contraction assumption in modular spaces. Motivated by [4] and [25], some fixed point results for  $(\alpha, \beta) - (\psi, \phi)$ -contractive mappings in modular spaces are proved. Some examples are supplied in order to support the usability of our results. As an application the existence and uniqueness of solutions for an integral equation of Lipschitz type in a Musielak-Orlicz space are showed.

**Definition 1.1.** [25, 27] Let X be an arbitrary vector space. A functional  $\rho : X \to [0,\infty)$  is called a modular if, for any x, y in X, the following conditions hold:

(a)  $\rho(x) = 0$  if and only if x = 0,

(b)  $\rho(-x) = \rho(x)$ ,

(c)  $\rho(\alpha x + \beta y) \le \rho(x) + \rho(y)$ , whenever  $\alpha + \beta = 1$  and  $\alpha, \beta \ge 0$ .

If (c) is replaced with  $\rho(\alpha x + \beta y) \le \alpha^s \rho(x) + \beta^s \rho(y)$  where  $\alpha^s + \beta^s = 1$ ,  $\alpha, \beta \ge 0$ , and  $s \in (0, 1]$ , then  $\rho$  is called s-convex modular. If s = 1, then we say that  $\rho$  is convex modular. The following are some consequences of condition (c).

Remark 1.2. [7]

Email address and ORCID number: muzeyyen.sezen@giresun.edu.tr, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7520-6255 (M. Sangurlu Sezen)

- (a) For  $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$  with |a| < |b| we have  $\rho(ax) < \rho(bx)$  for all  $x \in X$ .
- (b) For  $a_1, ..., a_n \in \mathbb{R}^+$  with  $\sum_{i=1}^n a_i = 1$ , we have

$$\rho(\sum_{i=1}^n a_i x_i) = \rho(\sum_{i=1}^n x_i) \text{ for any } x_1, \dots, x_n \in X$$

**Remark 1.3.** [26] A modular  $\rho$  defines a corresponding modular space, i.e. the space is given by

$$X_{\rho} = \{ x \in X : \rho(\lambda x) \to 0 \text{ as } \lambda \to 0 \}.$$

**Definition 1.4.** A sequence  $\{x_n\}$  in modular space  $X_{\rho}$  is said to be:

- (a)  $\rho$ -convergent to  $x \in X_{\rho}$  if  $\rho(x_n x) \to 0$  as  $n \to \infty$ .
- (b)  $\rho$ -Cauchy if  $\rho(x_n x_m) \to 0$  as  $n, m \to \infty$ .
- (c)  $X_{\rho}$  is called  $\rho$ -complete if any  $\rho$ -Cauchy sequence is  $\rho$ -convergent.
- (d)  $\rho$  satisfies  $\Delta_2$ -condition if  $\rho(2x_n) \to 0$  as  $n \to \infty$ , whenever  $\rho(x_n) \to 0$  as  $n \to \infty$ .

**Definition 1.5.** [4] Let  $T: X \to X$  be a mapping and  $\alpha, \beta: X \to \mathbb{R}^+$  be two functions. We say that T is a cyclic  $(\alpha, \beta)$ -admissible mapping *if* 

(i)  $\alpha(x) \ge 1$  for some  $x \in X$  implies  $\beta(Tx) \ge 1$ , (ii)  $\beta(x) \ge 1$  for some  $x \in X$  implies  $\alpha(Tx) \ge 1$ .

**Definition 1.6.** [4] Let  $\Psi$  be the set of continuous and increasing functions  $\psi : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$  and  $\Phi$  be the set of lower semicontinuous functions  $\phi : [0, \infty) \to [0, \infty)$  such that  $\phi(t) = 0$  iff t = 0. Let X be a metric space and  $T : X \to X$  be a cyclic  $(\alpha, \beta)$ -admissible mapping. We say that T is a  $(\alpha, \beta) - (\psi, \phi)$ -contractive mapping if

 $\alpha(x)\beta(y) \ge 1 \Rightarrow \psi(d(Tx,Ty)) \le \psi(d(x,y)) - \phi(d(x,y))$ 

*for*  $x, y \in X$ *, where*  $\psi \in \Psi$  *and*  $\phi \in \Phi$ *.* 

#### 2. Main Results

Let  $\Psi$  and  $\Phi$  be defined as in Definition 1.6. Let  $X_{\rho}$  be a nonempty set and  $T : X_{\rho} \to X_{\rho}$  be an arbitrary mapping. We say that  $x \in X_{\rho}$  is a fixed point of T, if x = Tx. We denote by Fix(T) the set of all fixed points of T. In the sequel, suppose the modular  $\rho$  is convex and satisfies the  $\Delta_2$ -condition.

**Definition 2.1.** Let  $X_{\rho}$  be a  $\rho$ -complete modular space and  $T: X_{\rho} \to X_{\rho}$  be a cyclic  $(\alpha, \beta)$ -admissible mapping. We say that T is a  $(\alpha, \beta) - (\psi, \phi)$ -contractive mapping if

$$\alpha(x)\beta(y) \ge 1 \Rightarrow \psi(\rho(Tx - Ty)) \le \psi(\rho(x - y)) - \phi(\rho(x - y))$$
(2.1)

for  $x, y \in X_{\rho}$ , where  $\psi \in \Psi$  and  $\phi \in \Phi$ .

**Theorem 2.2.** Let  $X_{\rho}$  be a  $\rho$ -complete modular space and  $T : X_{\rho} \to X_{\rho}$  be a  $(\alpha, \beta) - (\psi, \phi)$ -contractive mapping. Suppose that the following conditions hold:

- (a) there exists  $x_0 \in X_{\rho}$  such that  $\alpha(x_0) \ge 1$  and  $\beta(x_0) \ge 1$ ,
- (b) T is continuous, or
- (c) if  $\{x_n\}$  is a sequence in  $X_\rho$  such that  $x_n \to x$  and  $\beta(x_n) \ge 1$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , then  $\beta(x) \ge 1$ ,

then T has a fixed point. Moreover, if  $\alpha(x) \ge 1$  and  $\beta(y) \ge 1$  for all  $x, y \in Fix(T)$ , then T has a unique fixed point.

*Proof.* Define a sequence  $\{x_n\}$  by  $x_n = T^n x_0 = T x_{n-1}$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Since *T* is a cyclic  $(\alpha, \beta)$ -admissible mapping and  $\alpha(x_0) \ge 1$  then  $\beta(x_1) = \beta(Tx_0) \ge 1$  which implies  $\alpha(x_2) = \alpha(Tx_1) \ge 1$ . By continuing this process, we get  $\alpha(x_{2n}) \ge 1$  and  $\beta(x_{2n-1}) \ge 1$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Again, since *T* is a cyclic  $(\alpha, \beta)$ -admissible mapping and  $\beta(x_0) \ge 1$ , by the similar method, we have  $\beta(x_{2n}) \ge 1$  and  $\alpha(x_{2n-1}) \ge 1$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . That is,  $\alpha(x_n) \ge 1$  and  $\beta(x_n) \ge 1$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ . Equivalently,  $\alpha(x_{n-1})\beta(x_n) \ge 1$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Therefore by (2.1), we have

$$\psi(\rho(x_n - x_{n+1})) \le \psi(\rho(x_{n-1} - x_n)) - \phi(\rho(x_{n-1} - x_n)) \le \psi(\rho(x_{n-1} - x_n))$$
(2.2)

and since  $\psi$  is increasing, we get

$$\rho(x_n-x_{n+1}) \leq \rho(x_{n-1}-x_n)$$

for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . So,  $\{\rho_n := \rho(x_n - x_{n+1})\}$  is a non-increasing sequence of positive real numbers. Then, there exists  $r \ge 0$  such that  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \rho_n = r$ . We shall show that r = 0. By taking the limsup on both sides of (2.2), we have

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \rho(x_n - x_{n+1}) = 0.$$
(2.3)

Now, we want to show that  $\{x_{2n}\}$  is a Cauchy sequence. Suppose to the contrary, that  $\{x_{2n}\}$  is not a Cauchy sequence. Then, there are  $\varepsilon > 0$  and sequences  $\{m(k)\}$  and  $\{n(k)\}$  such that for all positive integers *k*, and for n(k) > m(k) > k, we have

$$\rho(x_{2n(k)} - x_{2m(k)}) \ge \varepsilon \text{ and } \rho(2(x_{2n(k)-1} - x_{2m(k)})) < \varepsilon.$$
(2.4)

Now for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \varepsilon &\leq \rho(x_{2n(k)} - x_{2m(k)}) \\ &\leq \rho(2(x_{2n(k)} - x_{2n(k)-1})) + \rho(2(x_{2n(k)-1} - x_{2m(k)})) \\ &< \rho(2(x_{2n(k)} - x_{2n(k)-1})) + \varepsilon. \end{split}$$

Taking the limit as  $k \to +\infty$  in the above inequality and using (2.3), we get

$$\lim \rho(x_{2n(k)} - x_{2m(k)}) = \varepsilon.$$
(2.5)

Since

$$\rho(x_{2n(k)+1} - x_{2m(k)+1}) = \rho(x_{2n(k)+1} - x_{2n(k)} + x_{2n(k)} - x_{2m(k)+1})$$
  
$$\leq \rho(2(x_{2n(k)+1} - x_{2n(k)})) + \rho(2(x_{2n(k)} - x_{2m(k)+1}))$$

and

$$\rho(2(x_{2n(k)} - x_{2m(k)+1})) = \rho(2(x_{2n(k)} - x_{2m(k)} + x_{2m(k)} - x_{2m(k)+1})) \le \rho(4(x_{2n(k)} - x_{2m(k)}) + \rho(4(x_{2m(k)} - x_{2m(k)+1})))$$

then by taking the limit as  $k \to +\infty$  in above inequality and using (2.3) and (2.5), we deduce that

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \rho(x_{2n(k)+1} - x_{2m(k)+1}) = \varepsilon.$$
(2.6)

Now, by (2.1) and  $\alpha(x_{2n(k)})\beta(x_{2m(k)}) \ge 1$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , we get

$$\psi(\rho(x_{2n(k)+1}-x_{2m(k)+1})) \le \psi(\rho(x_{2n(k)}-x_{2m(k)})) - \phi(\rho(x_{2n(k)}-x_{2m(k)})).$$
(2.7)

By taking the limsup on both sides of (2.7), applying (2.4) and (2.6), we obtain

$$\psi(\varepsilon) \leq \psi(\varepsilon) - \phi(\varepsilon).$$

That is,  $\varepsilon = 0$ , which is a contradiction. Hence  $\{x_n\}$  is a Cauchy sequence. Since  $X_\rho$  is a complete modular space, then there is a  $z \in X_\rho$  such that  $x_n \to z$  as  $n \to \infty$ . First, we assume that *T* is continuous. Hence, we deduce

$$Tz = \lim_{n \to \infty} Tx_n = \lim_{n \to \infty} x_{n+1} = z.$$

So z is a fixed point of T. Now, assume that (c) holds. That is,  $\alpha(x_n)\beta(z) \ge 1$ . From (2.1) we have

$$\psi(\rho(x_{n+1}-Tz)) \leq \psi(\rho(x_n-z)) - \phi(\rho(x_n-z)).$$

By taking the limsup on both sides of (2.8), we get  $\psi(\rho(z-Tz)) = 0$ . Then  $\rho(z-Tz) = 0$ . i.e., z = Tz. To prove the uniqueness of fixed point, suppose that z and  $z^*$  are two fixed points of T. From condition (c) we have,  $\alpha(z)\beta(z^*) \ge 1$ , it follows from (2.1) that

$$\psi(\rho(z-Tz^*)) \leq \psi(\rho(z-z^*)) - \phi(\rho(z-z^*)).$$

So  $\phi(\rho(z-z^*)) = 0$  and hence  $\rho(z-z^*) = 0$  i.e.,  $z = z^*$ .

**Corollary 2.3.** Let  $X_{\rho}$  be a  $\rho$ -complete modular space and  $T: X_{\rho} \to X_{\rho}$  be a cyclic  $(\alpha, \beta)$ -admissible mapping such that

 $\alpha(x)\beta(y)\psi(\rho(Tx-Ty)) \le \psi(\rho(x-y)) - \phi(\rho(x-y))$ 

for all  $x, y \in X_{\rho}$  where  $\psi \in \Psi$  and  $\phi \in \Phi$ . Suppose that the following assertions hold:

(a) there exists  $x_0 \in X_{\rho}$  such that  $\alpha(x_0) \ge 1$  and  $\beta(x_0) \ge 1$ ,

(b) T is continuous, or

(c) if  $\{x_n\}$  is a sequence in  $X_\rho$  such that  $x_n \to x$  and  $\beta(x_n) \ge 1$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , then  $\beta(x) \ge 1$ ,

then T has a fixed point. Moreover, if  $\alpha(x) \ge 1$  and  $\beta(y) \ge 1$  for all  $x, y \in Fix(T)$ , then T has a unique fixed point.

(2.8)

*Proof.* Let  $\alpha(x)\beta(y) \ge 1$  for  $x, y \in X_{\rho}$ . Then by (2.8), we have

$$\psi(\rho(Tx - Ty)) \le \psi(\rho(x - y)) - \phi(\rho(x - y)).$$

This implies that the inequality (2.1) holds. Therefore, the proof follows from Theorem 2.2.

**Corollary 2.4.** Let  $X_{\rho}$  be a  $\rho$ -complete modular space and  $T: X_{\rho} \to X_{\rho}$  be a cyclic  $(\alpha, \beta)$ -admissible mapping such that

$$(\alpha(x)\beta(y)+1)^{\psi(\rho(fx-fy))} \le 2^{\psi(\rho(x-y))-\phi(\rho(x-y))}$$

for all  $x, y \in X_{\rho}$  where  $\psi \in \Psi$  and  $\phi \in \Phi$ . Suppose that the following assertions hold:

(a) there exists  $x_0 \in X_{\rho}$  such that  $\alpha(x_0) \ge 1$  and  $\beta(x_0) \ge 1$ ,

(b) T is continuous, or

(c) if  $\{x_n\}$  is a sequence in  $X_{\rho}$  such that  $x_n \to x$  and  $\beta(x_n) \ge 1$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , then  $\beta(x) \ge 1$ ,

then T has a fixed point. Moreover, if  $\alpha(x) \ge 1$  and  $\beta(y) \ge 1$  for all  $x, y \in Fix(T)$ , then T has a unique fixed point.

**Example 2.5.** Let  $X_{\rho} = [-2, \infty] \to \mathbb{R}$ ,  $\rho(x) = |x|$  for all  $x \in X_{\rho}$ , and  $T : X_{\rho} \to X_{\rho}$  by

$$Tx = \begin{cases} \frac{x^2}{3} & , \quad x \in [-2,2] \\ \sqrt{x} & , \quad otherwise. \end{cases}$$

Define  $\psi, \phi: [0, +\infty) \to [0, +\infty)$  by  $\psi(t) = 3t, \phi(t) = t$  and  $\alpha, \beta: X_{\rho} \to [0, +\infty)$  by

$$\alpha(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & , x \in [-2, \frac{4}{3}] \\ 0 & , otherwise. \end{cases}$$

and

$$\boldsymbol{\beta}(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & , \quad x \in [\frac{4}{3}, 2] \\ 0 & , \quad otherwise. \end{cases}$$

Now, we prove that the hypotheses (a) and (c) of Corollary 2.4 are satisfied by T and hence T has a fixed point. Let  $\alpha(x) \ge 1$  for some  $x \in X_{\rho}$ . Then  $x \in [-2, \frac{4}{3}]$  and so  $Tx \in [\frac{4}{3}, 2]$ . Therefore,  $\beta(Tx) \ge 1$ . Similarly, if  $\beta(x) \ge 1$  then  $\alpha(x) \ge 1$ . Then T is a cyclic  $(\alpha, \beta)$ -admissible mapping and that the hypotheses (a) and (c) of Corollary 2.4 hold. Now, for all  $x \in [-2, \frac{4}{3}]$  and  $y \in [\frac{4}{3}, 2]$ , we get

$$\begin{aligned} (\alpha(x)\beta(y)+1)^{\psi(\rho(fx-fy))} &= 2^{3\rho(fx-fy)} \\ &= 2^{3\left|\frac{x^2}{3} - \frac{y^2}{3}\right|} \\ &= 2^{|x-y||x+y|} \\ &\leq 2^{2|x-y|} = 2^{3|x-y|-|x-y|} \\ &= 2^{\psi(\rho(x-y)) - \phi(\rho(x-y))} \end{aligned}$$

Otherwise, if  $\alpha(x)\beta(y) = 0$ , we have

 $(\boldsymbol{\alpha}(x)\boldsymbol{\beta}(y)+1)^{\boldsymbol{\psi}(\boldsymbol{\rho}(fx-fy))} = 1 < 2^{\boldsymbol{\psi}(\boldsymbol{\rho}(x-y))-\boldsymbol{\phi}(\boldsymbol{\rho}(x-y))}$ 

Therefore, Corollary 2.4 implies that T has a fixed point.

**Corollary 2.6.** Let  $X_{\rho}$  be a  $\rho$ -complete modular space and  $T : X_{\rho} \to X_{\rho}$  be a cyclic  $(\alpha, \beta)$ -admissible mapping. Assume that there exists  $\ell > 1$  such that

 $(\psi(\rho(Tx-Ty))+\ell)^{\alpha(x)\beta(y)} \le \psi(\rho(x-y)) - \phi(\rho(x-y)) + \ell$ 

for all  $x, y \in X_{\rho}$  where  $\psi \in \Psi$  and  $\varphi \in \Phi$ . Suppose that the following assertions hold:

(a) there exists  $x_0 \in X_{\rho}$  such that  $\alpha(x_0) \ge 1$  and  $\beta(x_0) \ge 1$ ,

(b) T is continuous, or

(c) if  $\{x_n\}$  is a sequence in  $X_{\rho}$  such that  $x_n \to x$  and  $\beta(x_n) \ge 1$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , then  $\beta(x) \ge 1$ ,

then T has a fixed point. Moreover, if  $\alpha(x) \ge 1$  and  $\beta(y) \ge 1$  for all  $x, y \in Fix(T)$ , then T has a unique fixed point.

**Example 2.7.** Let  $X_{\rho} = \mathbb{R}^+$ ,  $\rho(x) = |x|$  for all  $x \in X_{\rho}$ , and  $T : X_{\rho} \to X_{\rho}$  by

$$Tx = \begin{cases} \frac{x^2 + x}{4} & , & x \in [0, 1] \\ 2x & , & otherwise. \end{cases}$$

Define  $\psi, \phi: [0, +\infty) \to [0, +\infty)$  by  $\psi(t) = t, \phi(t) = \frac{t}{4}$  and  $\alpha, \beta: X_{\rho} \to [0, +\infty)$  by

$$\alpha(x) = \beta(x) = \begin{cases} 1 & , & x \in [0,1] \\ 0 & , & otherwise. \end{cases}$$

Now, we prove that the hypotheses (a) and (c) of Corollary 2.6 are satisfied by T and hence T has a fixed point. Proceeding as in the Example 2.5, we deduce that T is a cyclic  $(\alpha, \beta)$ -admissible mapping and that the hypotheses (a) and (c) of Corollary 2.6 hold. Now, for all  $x \in [0, 1]$  and all  $y \in [0, 1]$ , we get

$$(\psi(\rho(Tx - Ty)) + \ell)^{\alpha(x)\beta(y)} = |Tx - Ty| + \ell$$
  

$$\leq \frac{1}{4} |x - y| |x + y + 1| + \ell$$
  

$$\leq \frac{3}{4} |x - y| + \ell$$
  

$$= |x - y| - \frac{1}{4} |x - y| + \ell$$
  

$$= \psi(\rho(x - y)) - \phi(\rho(x - y)) + \ell$$

Otherwise, if  $\alpha(x)\beta(y) = 0$ , we have

$$(\psi(\rho(Tx-Ty))+\ell)^{\alpha(x)\beta(y)}=1\leq\psi(\rho(x-y))-\phi(\rho(x-y))+\ell$$

Therefore, Corollary 2.6 implies that T has a fixed point.

**Definition 2.8.** Let  $X_{\rho}$  be a  $\rho$ -complete modular space and  $T : X_{\rho} \to X_{\rho}$  be a cyclic  $(\alpha, \beta)$ -admissible mapping. We say that T is  $\alpha - \beta - \psi$ -weak rational contraction if  $\alpha(x)\beta(y) \ge 1$  for some  $x, y \in X_{\rho}$  such that

 $\ell.$ 

$$\rho(Tx - Ty) \le M(x, y) - \psi(M(x, y))$$

where  $\psi \in \Psi$  and

$$M(x,y) = \max\{\rho(x-y), \rho(x-Tx), \rho(y-Ty), \frac{[1+\rho(x-Tx)]\rho(y-Ty)}{\rho(x-y)+1}\}.$$

**Theorem 2.9.** Let  $X_{\rho}$  be a  $\rho$ -complete modular space and  $T : X_{\rho} \to X_{\rho}$  be  $\alpha - \beta - \psi$ -weak rational contraction. Assume that the following assertions hold:

(a) there exists  $x_0 \in X_{\rho}$  such that  $\alpha(x_0) \ge 1$  and  $\beta(x_0) \ge 1$ ,

(b) T is continuous, or

(c) if  $\{x_n\}$  is a sequence in  $X_{\rho}$  such that  $x_n \to x$  and  $\beta(x_n) \ge 1$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , then  $\beta(x) \ge 1$ ,

then T has a fixed point. Moreover, if  $\alpha(x) \ge 1$  and  $\beta(y) \ge 1$  for all  $x, y \in Fix(T)$ , then T has a unique fixed point.

*Proof.* Define a sequence  $\{x_n\}$  by  $x_n = T^n x_0 = T x_{n-1}$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Since *T* is a cyclic  $(\alpha, \beta)$ -admissible mapping and  $\alpha(x_0) \ge 1$  then  $\beta(x_1) = \beta(Tx_0) \ge 1$  which implies  $\alpha(x_2) = \alpha(Tx_1) \ge 1$ . By continuing this process, we get  $\alpha(x_{2n}) \ge 1$  and  $\beta(x_{2n-1}) \ge 1$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Again, since *T* is a cyclic  $(\alpha, \beta)$ -admissible mapping and  $\beta(x_0) \ge 1$ , by the similar method, we have  $\beta(x_{2n}) \ge 1$  and  $\alpha(x_{2n-1}) \ge 1$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . That is,  $\alpha(x_n) \ge 1$  and  $\beta(x_n) \ge 1$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$ . Equivalently,  $\alpha(x_{n-1})\beta(x_n) \ge 1$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . Since *T* is  $\alpha - \beta - \psi$ -weak rational contraction, we get

$$\rho(x_n - x_{n+1}) \le M(x_{n-1}, x_n) - \Psi(M(x_{n-1}, x_n)) \tag{2.9}$$

where

$$M(x_{n-1},x_n) = \max\{\rho(x_{n-1}-x_n), \rho(x_{n-1}-Tx_{n-1}), \rho(x_n-Tx_n), \frac{[1+\rho(x_{n-1}-Tx_{n-1})]\rho(x_n-Tx_n)}{\rho(x_{n-1}-x_n)+1}\}$$
  
= max{ $\rho(x_{n-1}-x_n), \rho(x_n-x_{n+1})$ }.

Now, suppose that there exists  $n_0 \in \mathbb{N}$  such that  $\rho(x_{n_0} - x_{n_{0+1}}) > \rho(x_{n_{0-1}} - x_{n_0})$ . Therefore  $M(x_{n_{0-1}}, x_{n_0}) = \rho(x_{n_0} - x_{n_{0+1}})$  and so from (2.9), we get

$$\rho(x_{n_0}-x_{n_0+1}) \leq \rho(x_{n_0}-x_{n_{0+1}}) - \psi(\rho(x_{n_0}-x_{n_{0+1}})).$$

This implies that  $\psi(\rho(x_{n_0} - x_{n_0+1})) = 0$ , i.e.,  $\rho(x_{n_0} - x_{n_0+1}) = 0$ , which is a contradiction. Hence,  $\rho(x_n - x_{n+1}) \le \rho(x_{n-1} - x_n)$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . That is the sequence  $\{\rho_n : \rho(x_n - x_{n+1})\}$  is decreasing and so there exists  $r \ge 0$  such that  $\rho_n \to r$  as  $n \to \infty$ . Taking the limit as  $n \to \infty$  in (2.9), we have

$$r \leq r - \psi(r).$$

This implies that  $\psi(r) = 0$ . Therefore, the property of  $\psi$  implies that r = 0. That is

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \rho(x_{n+1} - x_n) = 0. \tag{2.10}$$

Now, we will show that  $\{x_n\}$  is a Cauchy sequence. Suppose that  $\{x_n\}$  is not a Cauchy sequence. Then there are  $\varepsilon > 0$  and sequences  $\{m(k)\}$  and  $\{n(k)\}$  such that for all positive integers k, for n(k) > m(k) > k, we have

$$\rho(x_{2n(k)} - x_{2m(k)}) \ge \varepsilon \text{ and } \rho(2(x_{2n(k)-1} - x_{2m(k)})) < \varepsilon.$$
(2.11)

For all  $k \in \mathbb{N}$ , we have

$$\varepsilon \leq \rho(x_{2n(k)} - x_{2m(k)}) \leq \rho(2(x_{2n(k)} - x_{2n(k)-1})) + \rho(2(x_{2n(k)-1} - x_{2m(k)})) < \rho(2(x_{2n(k)} - x_{2n(k)-1})) + \varepsilon$$

Taking the limit as  $k \to \infty$  in above inequality and from (2.10), we have

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \rho(x_{2n(k)} - x_{2m(k)}) = \varepsilon.$$
(2.12)

Then, we get

$$\rho(x_{2n(k)+1} - x_{2m(k)+1}) = \rho(x_{2n(k)+1} - x_{2n(k)} + x_{2n(k)} - x_{2m(k)+1}) \le \rho(2(x_{2n(k)+1} - x_{2n(k)})) + \rho(2(x_{2n(k)} - x_{2m(k)+1})) \le \rho(2(x_{2n(k)+1} - x_{2n(k)})) + \rho(2(x_{2n(k)+1} - x_{2n(k)+1})) \le \rho(2(x_{2n(k)+1} - x_{2n(k)})) + \rho(2(x_{2n(k)+1} - x_{2n(k)+1})) \le \rho(2(x_{2n(k)+1} - x_{2n(k)})) + \rho(2(x_{2n(k)+1} - x_{2n(k)+1})) \le \rho(2(x_{2n(k)+1} - x_{2n(k)})) + \rho(2(x_{2n(k)+1} - x_{2n(k)+1})) \le \rho(2(x_{2n(k)+1} - x_{2n(k)})) + \rho(2(x_{2n(k)+1} - x_{2n(k)+1})) \le \rho(2(x_{2n(k)+1} - x_{2n(k)})) + \rho(2(x_{2n(k)+1} - x_{2n(k)+1})) \le \rho(2(x_{2n(k)+1} - x_{2n(k)})) + \rho(2(x_{2n(k)+1} - x_{2n(k)+1})) \le \rho(2(x_{2n(k)+1} - x_{2n(k)}))$$

and

$$\rho(2(x_{2n(k)}-x_{2m(k)+1})) = \rho(2(x_{2n(k)}-x_{2m(k)}+x_{2m(k)}-x_{2m(k)+1})) \le \rho(4(x_{2n(k)}-x_{2m(k)}) + \rho(4(x_{2m(k)}-x_{2m(k)+1})).$$

Taking the limit as  $k \to +\infty$  in above inequality and using (2.12) and (2.11), we deduce that

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} \rho(x_{2n(k)} - x_{2m(k)+1}) = \varepsilon.$$

$$(2.13)$$

Now, by (2.1), we get

$$\rho(x_{2n(k)+1} - x_{2m(k)+1}) \le M(x_{2n(k)} - x_{2m(k)}) - \varphi(M(x_{2n(k)} - x_{2m(k)}))$$
(2.14)

where

$$M(x_{2n(k)} - x_{2m(k)}) = \max\{\rho(x_{2n(k)} - x_{2m(k)}), \rho(x_{2n(k)} - x_{2n(k)+1}), \rho(x_{2m(k)} - x_{2m(k)+1}), \frac{[1 + \rho(x_{2n(k)} - x_{2n(k)+1})]\rho(x_{2m(k)} - x_{2m(k)+1})}{\rho(x_{2n(k)} - x_{2m(k)}) + 1}\}$$

Letting  $k \to \infty$  in (2.14) and using (2.10), (2.12) and (2.13), we get

$$\varepsilon \leq \varepsilon - \psi(\varepsilon).$$

That is  $\varepsilon = 0$ , which is a contradiction. Hence,  $\{x_n\}$  is a Cauchy sequence. Since  $X_\rho$  is complete, then there exists a  $z \in X_\rho$  such that  $x_n \to z$ . Suppose that (c) holds. That is,  $\alpha(x_{2n})\beta(z) \ge 1$ . Since *T* is  $\alpha - \beta - \psi$ -weak rational contradiction, then we have

$$\rho(x_{2n+1} - Tz) \le M(x_{2n}, z) - \psi((x_{2n}, z))$$
(2.15)

where

$$M(x_{2n},z) = \max\{\rho(x_{2n}-z), \rho(x_{2n}-Tz), \rho(z-Tz), \frac{[1+\rho(x_{2n}-x_{n+1})]\rho(z-Tz)}{\rho(x_{2n}-z)+1}\}.$$

Taking the limit as  $n \to \infty$  in (2.15), we have z = Tz. Now, let show that *T* has at most one fixed point. Indeed, if  $x, y \in X_{\rho}$  be two fixed points of *T*, that is,  $Tx = x \neq y = Ty$ . From condition (c) we have,  $\alpha(x)\beta(y) \ge 1$ , it follows that

$$\psi(\rho(x-y)) \le \psi(M(x,y)) - \phi(M(x,y))$$

where

$$M(x,y) = \max\{\rho(x-y), \rho(x-Tx), \rho(y-Ty), \frac{[1+\rho(x-Tx)]\rho(y-Ty)}{\rho(x-y)+1}\}.$$

Then, we obtain

$$\psi(\rho(x-y)) \le \psi(\rho(x-y)) - \phi(\rho(x-y)).$$

So  $\phi(\rho(x-y)) = 0$  and hence,  $\rho(x-y) = 0$ , that is, x = y.

We obtain the following corollaries from Theorem 2.9.

**Corollary 2.10.** Let  $X_{\rho}$  be a  $\rho$ -complete modular space and  $T: X_{\rho} \to X_{\rho}$  be a cyclic  $(\alpha, \beta)$ -admissible mapping such that

$$\alpha(x)\beta(y)\rho(Tx-Ty) \le M(x,y) - \psi(M(x,y)),$$

where  $\psi \in \Psi$  and

$$M(x,y) = \max\{\rho(x-y), \rho(x-Tx), \rho(y-Ty), \frac{[1+\rho(x-Tx)]\rho(y-Ty)}{\rho(x-y)+1}\}.$$

Suppose that the following assertions hold:

- (a) there exists  $x_0 \in X_{\rho}$  such that  $\alpha(x_0) \ge 1$  and  $\beta(x_0) \ge 1$ ,
- (b) T is continuous, or

(c) if  $\{x_n\}$  is a sequence in  $X_{\rho}$  such that  $x_n \to x$  and  $\beta(x_n) \ge 1$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , then  $\beta(x) \ge 1$ ,

then T has a fixed point. Moreover, if  $\alpha(x) \ge 1$  and  $\beta(y) \ge 1$  for all  $x, y \in Fix(T)$ , then T has a unique fixed point.

**Corollary 2.11.** Let  $X_{\rho}$  be a  $\rho$ -complete modular space and  $T: X_{\rho} \to X_{\rho}$  be a cyclic  $(\alpha, \beta)$ -admissible mapping such that

 $(\boldsymbol{\alpha}(x)\boldsymbol{\beta}(y)+1)^{\boldsymbol{\rho}(Tx-Ty)} \leq 2^{\boldsymbol{M}(x,y)-\boldsymbol{\Psi}(\boldsymbol{M}(x,y))}$ 

for all  $x, y \in X_{\rho}$  where  $\psi \in \Psi$ . Suppose that the following assertions hold:

- (a) there exists  $x_0 \in X_{\rho}$  such that  $\alpha(x_0) \ge 1$  and  $\beta(x_0) \ge 1$ ,
- (b) T is continuous, or
- (c) if  $\{x_n\}$  is a sequence in  $X_\rho$  such that  $x_n \to x$  and  $\beta(x_n) \ge 1$  for all n, then  $\beta(x) \ge 1$ ,

then T has a fixed point. Moreover, if  $\alpha(x) \ge 1$  and  $\beta(y) \ge 1$  for all  $x, y \in Fix(T)$ , then T has a unique fixed point.

**Corollary 2.12.** Let  $X_{\rho}$  be a  $\rho$ -complete modular space and  $T: X_{\rho} \to X_{\rho}$  be a cyclic  $(\alpha, \beta)$ -admissible mapping such that

 $(\alpha x)(\beta x) + \ell)^{(\alpha x)(\beta x)} \le M(x, y) - \Psi(M(x, y)) + \ell$ 

for all  $x, y \in X_{\rho}$  where  $\psi \in \Psi$  and l > 1. Suppose that the following assertions hold:

(a) there exists  $x_0 \in X_{\rho}$  such that  $\alpha(x_0) \ge 1$  and  $\beta(x_0) \ge 1$ ,

- (b) T is continuous, or
- (c) if  $\{x_n\}$  is a sequence in  $X_\rho$  such that  $x_n \to x$  and  $\beta(x_n) \ge 1$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , then  $\beta(x) \ge 1$ ,

then T has a fixed point. Moreover, if  $\alpha(x) \ge 1$  and  $\beta(y) \ge 1$  for all  $x, y \in Fix(T)$ , then T has a unique fixed point.

#### 3. Application

In this section, firstly we shall apply Corollary 2.3 to show the existence of solution of integral equation. Let  $\varphi$  be a Musielak-Orlicz function on a measurable space  $C = ([0,1],\Lambda,\mu)$ , where  $\rho_{\varphi}$  is a modular defined by

$$\rho_{\varphi}(u) = \int_0^1 \varphi(s, |u(s)|) ds$$

for  $\in u \mathscr{L}^{\varphi}$  and  $\alpha_0 > e$  and  $c_0 \in [\frac{e}{\alpha_0}, 1)$ . Assume that  $\rho_{\varphi}$  is convex satisfying the  $\Delta_2$ -condition. Now, we investigate the existence and uniqueness of solution of integral equation:

$$u(t) = e^{-t}f + \int_0^t e^{s-t} (\int_0^1 K(\xi, u(s)) d\xi) ds,$$

where  $K: [0,1] \times \mathscr{L}^{\varphi} \to \mathscr{L}^{\varphi}$  is a measurable function satisfying:

(1)  $\lim_{\lambda \to 0^+} \int_0^1 \varphi(\xi, \lambda \left| (\int_0^1 K(s, u) ds) \xi \right| d\xi = 0 \text{ for any } u \in \mathscr{L}^{\varphi}.$ 

(2)  $\left| \int_0^1 (K(\xi, u(s)) - K(\xi, v(s))) d\xi \right| \le k |(u - v)(s)|$  for any  $u, v \in \mathscr{L}^{\varphi}$  with  $k \in (0, 1)$ .

(3) We denote by B = C([0, 1], A) the space of all  $\rho$ -continuous function from [0, 1] into A which is a convex, closed, bounded subset of  $\mathscr{L}^{\varphi}$ . So, B is a closed, bounded, convex subset of  $C([0, 1], \mathscr{L}^{\varphi})$  satisfying the  $\Delta_2$ -condition.

Let  $T: B \to B$  defined by

$$T(u) = \int_0^1 \frac{c_0}{e} K(s, u) ds.$$

(5) There exists  $u_0 \in B$  such that  $\theta(u_0) \ge 0$ ,  $\eta(u_0) \ge 0$  and

 $\theta(u) \ge 0$  for some  $u \in B$  implies  $\eta(Tu) \ge 0$ ,  $\eta(u) \ge 0$  for some  $u \in B$  implies  $\theta(Tu) \ge 0$ .

(6) if  $\{u_n\}$  is a sequence in *B* such that  $\theta(u_n) \ge 0$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{0\}$  and  $u_n \to u$  as  $n \to \infty$ , then  $\theta(u) \ge 0$ . (7) Let  $\alpha, \beta : B \to [0, \infty)$  by

$$\alpha(u) = \begin{cases} 1, & \theta(u) \ge 0\\ 0, & otherwise \end{cases} \text{ and } \beta(v) = \begin{cases} 1, & \eta(u) \ge 0\\ 0, & otherwise \end{cases}$$

**Theorem 3.1.** Under the above assumptions (1)-(7), the integral equation has a solution in  $C([0,1], \mathscr{L}^{\varphi})$ .

*Proof.* Firstly, we show that *T* is  $\rho$ -Lipschitz. By assumption (1), we have  $\int_0^1 \varphi(\xi, \lambda | Tu(\xi) | d\xi \to 0$  as  $\lambda \to 0^+$ . Hence the definition of  $\mathscr{L}^{\varphi}$ , we get  $Tu \in \mathscr{L}^{\varphi}$  for any  $u \in \mathscr{L}^{\varphi}$ . Let  $x, y \in B$ , then we have

$$\begin{split} \rho_f(Tu - Tv) &= \rho_f(\frac{c_0}{e}(\frac{e}{c_0}(Tu - Tv))) \\ &\leq \frac{c_0}{e}\rho_f(\frac{e}{c_0}(Tu - Tv)) \\ &= \frac{c_0}{e}\int_0^1 \varphi(s, \frac{e}{c_0} | (Tu - Tv)(s)| ds \\ &= \frac{c_0}{e}\int_0^1 \varphi(s, \frac{e}{c_0} \left| \int_0^1 (K(\xi, u(s)) - K(\xi, v(s))) d\xi \right|) ds. \end{split}$$

Therefore by assumption (2)

$$\rho_f(Tu - Tv) \le \frac{c_0}{e} \int_0^1 \varphi(s, k | (u - v)(s) |) ds$$
$$= \frac{c_0}{e} \rho_\varphi(k(u - v))$$
$$= \frac{c_0}{e} k \rho_\varphi(u - v).$$

Then, we get T is  $\rho$ -Lipschitz (see Theorem 1.3 in [33]). Also define  $\psi, \phi : C([0,1], \mathscr{L}^{\varphi}) \to C([0,1], \mathscr{L}^{\varphi})$  by

$$\Psi(u) = u$$
, and  $\phi(u) = (1 - \frac{c_0}{e}k)u$  for  $\frac{c_0}{e}k \in (0, 1)$ .

Consequently, for all  $u, v \in B$  we have

$$\alpha(u)\beta(v)\psi(\rho_{\varphi}(Tu-Tv)) \leq \psi(\rho_{\varphi}(u-v)) - \phi(\rho_{\varphi}(u-v)).$$

It shows that all the hypotheses of Corollary 2.3 are satisfied, hence T has a solution  $u \in C([0, 1], \mathscr{L}^{\varphi})$ .

#### References

- [1] A.A.N. Abdou, M.A. Khamsi, On common fixed points in modular vector spaces, Fixed Point Theory and Appl., 2015(229) (2015).
- [2] H. Abobaker, R. A. Ryan, Modular Metric Spaces, Irish Math. Soc. Bulletin, 80 (2017), 35-44.
- [3] U. Aksoy, E. Karapinar, I. M. Erhan, Fixed point theorems in complete modular metric spaces and an application to anti-periodic boundary value problems, Filomat **31**(17) (2017), 5475-5488.
- [4] S. Alizadeh, F. Moradlou, P. Salimi, Some fixed point results for  $(\alpha, \beta) (\psi, \phi)$ -contractive mappings, Filomat, 28(3) (2014), 635-647.
- [5] A. H. Ansari, Marta Demma, Liliana Guran, Jung Rye Lee, Choonkil Park, Fixed point results for C-class functions in modular metric spaces, J. Fixed Point Theory Appl. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11784-018-0580-z
- [6] S. Banach, Sur les opérations dans les ensembles abstraits et leurs applications aux équations intégrales, Fund. Math., 24(3) (1922), 133-182.
- [7] M. Beygmohammadi, A. Razani, *Two fixed-point theorems for mappings satisfying a general contractive condition of integral type in the modular space*, Int. J. Mathematics and Mathematical Sci., Article ID 317107, 2010.
   [8] Variable Medical Sci., Article ID 317107, 2010.
- [8] Vyacheslav V. Chistyakov, Modular metric spaces, I: Basic concepts, Nonlinear Analysis 72 (2010), 1-14.
- [9] Vyacheslav V. Chistyakov, A fixed point theorem for contractions in modular metric spaces, arXiv:1112.5561v1Šmath.FAĆ23Dec2011.
- [10] H. Dehghan, M. E. Gordji, A. Ebadian, Comment on "Fixed point theorems for contraction mappings in modular metric spaces, Fixed Point Theory Appl. 2012(144) (2012).
- [11] P. N. Dutta, B.S. Coudhury, A generalization of contraction principle in metric spaces, Fixed Point Theory Appl., Article ID 406368, 2018.
- [12] M. E. Ege, C. Alaca, Some results for modular b-metric spaces and an application to system of linear equations, Azerbaijan Journal of Mathematics, 8(1) (2018).
- [13] E. Girgin, M. Öztürk  $\alpha_{\kappa}$  implicit contraction in non-AMMS with some applications, Fundam. J. Math. Appl., 1(2) (2018), 212-219.
- [14] A. Hajji, E. Hanebaly, Perturbed integral equations in modular function spaces, Fund. Math., 2003(20) (2003), 1-7.
- [15] M. A. Khamsi, Nonlinear semigroups in modular function space these d'etat, Departement de Mathematiques, Rabat, 1994.
- [16] M. A. Khamsi, A convexity property in modular function spaces, Math. Jpn., 44(2) (1996), 269-279.
- [17] S. M. A. Khamsi, W. M. Kozlowski, S. Reich, *Fixed point theory in modular function spaces*, Nonlinear Anal., **1990**(14) (1990), 935-953.
- [18] F. Khojasteha, S. Shuklab, S. Radenovi'c, A new approach to the study of fixed point theory in modular spaces with simulation functions, Filomat 29(6) (2015), 1189–1194.
- [19] M. Kiftiah, Fixed Point Theorems for Modular Contraction Mappings on Modulared Spaces, Int. Journal of Math. Analysis, 7(22) (2013), 965 972.
   [20] W. M. Kozlowski, Modular Function Spaces, Series of Monographs and Textbooks in Pure and Applied Mathematics, 122 (1922), Dekker, New York
- 1988. [21] H. Lakzian, Best proximity points for weak MT-cyclic Kannan contractions, Fundam. J. Math. Appl., 1(1) (2018), 43-48.
- [22] Z. Mitrović, S. Radenović, H. Aydi, On a two new approach in modular spaces, Italian J. Pure Appl. Math. 2019.

- [23] C. Mongkolkeha, P. Kumam, Some fixed point results for generalized weak contraction mappings in modular spaces, Int. J. Anal., 5, Article ID 247378,
- 2013. C. Mongklkeha, W. Sintunavarat, P. Kumam, Fixed point theorems for contraction mappings in modular metric spaces, Fixed Point Theory Appl. [24] 2011(93) (2011).
- [25] J. Musielak, Orlicz spaces and modular spaces, Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1983. [26] H. Nakano, Modulared semi-ordered linear spaces, Maruzen Co., Ltd., Tokyo, 1950.
- [27] H. Nakano, Modulared sequence spaces, Proc. Japan Acad., 27(9) (1951), 508-512.
- [28] M.O. Olatinwo, Some non-unique fixed point theorems of Cirić type using rational-type contractive conditions, Georgian Math. J., 24 (2016), 455-461.
   [29] M. Paknazar, M. Eshaghi, Y.J. Cho, S. M. Vaezpour, A Pata-type fixed point theorem in modular spaces with application, Fixed Point Theory Appl.
- 2013(239) (2013).
- [30] M. Paknazar, M. A. Kutbi, M. Demma, P. Salimi, On non-Archimedean modular metric spaces and some nonlinear contraction mappings, J. Nonlinear Sci and Appl. (in press).
- [31] P. Salimi, A. Latif, N. Hussain, Modified α φ-contractive mappings with applications, Fixed Point Theory and Appl., 2013(151) (2013).
  [32] B. Samet, C. Vetro, P. Vetro, Fixed point theorems for α φ-contractive type mappings, Nonlinear Anal, 2012(75) (2012), 2154-2165.
  [33] A.A. Taleb, E. Hanebaly, A fixed point theorem and its application to integral equations in modular spaces, Proceedings of the American Math. Soci.,
- 128(2) (1999), 419-426.
- [34] B. Zlatanov, Best proximity points in modular function spaces, Arab. J. Math. 128 (2015), 215-227.

**UJMA** 

**Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications** 

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma ISSN 2619-9653 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.32323/ujma.543952



# A Bound for the Joint Spectral Radius of Operators in a Hilbert Space

Michael Gil'1\*

<sup>1</sup>Department of Mathematics, Ben Gurion University of the Negev, Beer-Sheva 84105, Israel \*Corresponding author

Article Info	Abstract
Keywords: Joint spectral radius, Hilbert space, Discrete time switched systems 2010 AMS: 47A10, 93C30, 93C55, 93D05, 15A18	We suggest a bound for the joint spectral radius of a finite set of operators in a Hilbert space. In appropriate situations that bound enables us to avoid complicated calculations and gives a new explicit stability test for the discrete time switched systems. The illustrative example is given. Our results are new even in the finite dimensional case.
Received: 25 March 2019	
Accepted: 13 May 2019	
Available online: 28 June 2019	

#### 1. Introduction and statement of the main result

Let  $\mathscr{H}$  be a complex separable Hilbert space with a scalar product (.,.), the norm  $\|.\| = \sqrt{(.,.)}$  and unit operator *I*. By  $\mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H})$  we denote the set of all bounded linear operators in  $\mathscr{H}$ . For an  $A \in \mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H})$ ,  $\sigma(A)$  is the spectrum,  $r_s(A)$  is the spectral radius;  $A^*$  is adjoint to *A*, and  $\|A\| = \sup_{h \in \mathscr{H}, h \neq 0} \|Ah\| / \|h\|$ .

Let  $\mathcal{M} = \{A_1, ..., A_v\}$  be a finite set of operators  $A_j \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{H})$  (j = 1, ..., v). Our main object is the joint spectral radius  $\rho(\mathcal{M})$  of  $\mathcal{M}$  defined by

$$\rho(\mathscr{M}) := \lim_{k \to \infty} \sup\{ \|A_{i_k} \cdots A_{i_1}\|^{1/k} : A_i \in \mathscr{M} \},\$$

cf. [1, 2]. The joint spectral radius arises naturally in a range of topics including the theory of difference equations [3], control and stability of discrete time switched systems [4, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11], wavelets [12], ergodic theory [13], etc.

The literature on the theory of the joint spectral radius is rather rich, cf. [14], [15], [16], [17, 18] and references therein. Mainly, the finite dimensional operators were considered and the numerical methods were developed.

In the present paper, under some restrictions, we suggest a bound for  $\rho(\mathcal{M})$ . In appropriate situations that bound enables us to avoid complicated calculations and gives an explicit stability test for the discrete time switched systems. The example characterizing the sharpness of our results is given. To the best of our knowledge, our results are new even in the finite dimensional case.

Let 
$$A \in \mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H})$$
 with  $r_s(A) < 1$ . Then the discrete Lyapunov equation

$$X - A^* X A = I \tag{1.1}$$

has a positive definite self-adjoint solution X(A) [19]. It can be represented by

$$X(A) = \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} (A^*)^j A^j$$
(1.2)

and

$$X(A) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} (Ie^{-i\omega} - A^*)^{-1} (Ie^{i\omega} - A)^{-1} d\omega,$$
(1.3)

cf. [20, Section 7.1]. We will say that  $\mathcal{M}$  is Schur-Kohn stable, if  $\rho(\mathcal{M}) < 1$ . Now we are in a position to formulate our main result.

**Theorem 1.1.** Let there be an  $A \in \mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H})$  with  $r_s(A) < 1$ , such that

$$\|X(A)\|(2\|A - A_k\|\|A\| + \|A - A_k\|^2) < 1 \ (A_k \in \mathcal{M}; \, k = 1, ..., \nu).$$

$$(1.4)$$

Then *M* is Schur-Kohn stable. Moreover,

$$\rho(\mathscr{M}) \leq \sqrt{1 - \frac{1}{\|X(A)\|}} (1 - \max_{j=1,\dots,\nu} \|X(A)\| (2\|A - A_j\| \|A\| + \|A - A_j\|^2).$$

The proof of this theorem is presented in the next section. In Theorem 1.1, one can take  $A = A_m$  for an  $A_m \in \mathcal{M}$ . Below we consider some concrete classes of operators. Note that from (1.2) and (1.3) it follows that

$$\|X(A)\| \le \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \|A^j\|^2$$
(1.5)

and

$$\|X(A)\| \le \frac{1}{2\pi} \int_0^{2\pi} \|(Ie^{i\omega} - A)^{-1}\|^2 d\omega.$$
(1.6)

If *A* is normal:  $AA^* = A^*A$ , then  $||A|| = r_s(A)$  and (1.5) implies

$$\|X(A)\| \le \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} r_s^{2j}(A) = \frac{1}{1 - r_s^2(A)}.$$
(1.7)

#### 2. Proof of Theorem 1.1

In this section for the simplicity we put X(A) = X.

**Lemma 2.1.** Let  $A, \tilde{A} \in \mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H}), r_s(A) < 1$  and X be a solution of (1.1). If

$$||X||(2||A - \tilde{A}|| ||A|| + ||A - \tilde{A}||^2) < 1,$$

then

$$(X\tilde{A}x,\tilde{A}x) \leq (1 - \frac{c_0}{\|X\|})(Xx,x) \ (x \in \mathcal{H}),$$

where

$$c_0 := 1 - \|X\| (2\|A - \tilde{A}\| \|A\| + \|A - \tilde{A}\|^2).$$

*Proof.* Put  $Y = \tilde{A} - A$ . Then

$$X - \tilde{A}^* X \tilde{A} = X - (Y + A)^* X (Y + A) = X - A^* X A - Y^* X A - A^* X Y - Y^* X Y = I - Y^* X A - A^* X Y - Y^* X A - A^* X Y - Y^* X A - A^* X Y - Y^* X A - A^* X Y - Y^* X A - A^* X Y - Y^* X A - A^* X Y - Y^* X A - A^* X Y - Y^* X A - A^* X Y - Y^* X A - A^* X A - Y^* X A - A^* X A - Y^* X A - Y^* X A - A^* X A - Y^* X A - A^* X Y - Y^* X A - A^* X A - Y^* X A - A^* X A - X A - Y^* X A - A^* X A - Y^* X A - A^* X A -$$

By (2.1)

$$\|I - Y^*XA - A^*XY - YXY\| \ge 1 - \|Y^*XA - A^*XY - Y^*XY\|, \ge 1 - \|X\|(2\|A - \tilde{A}\| + \|A - \tilde{A}\|^2) = c_0.$$

Thus,

$$X - \tilde{A}^* X \tilde{A} \ge c_0 I.$$

Hence,

$$(Xx,x) - (X\tilde{A}x,\tilde{A}x) \ge c_0(x,x) \ge c_0(\frac{X}{\|X\|}x,x) = \frac{c_0}{\|X\|}(Xx,x),$$

as claimed.

Proof of Theorem 1.1: Define the norms

$$|x|_X = \sqrt{(Xx,x)} \ (x \in \mathscr{H}) \text{ and } |A|_X = \sup_{x \in \mathscr{H}} \frac{|Ax|_X}{|x|_X}.$$

Due to Lemma 2.1 and (1.4) we have

$$|A_j|_X^2 \le 1 - \frac{c_j}{\|X\|},\tag{2.1}$$

where

$$c_i := 1 - \|X\|(2\|A - A_i\|\|A\| + \|A - A_i\|^2).$$

(2.2)

Put

$$a_0 := \max_j \sqrt{1 - \frac{c_j}{\|X\|}} = \sqrt{1 - \frac{1}{\|X\|} (1 - \max_j \|X\| (2\|A - A_j\| \|A\| + \|A - A_j\|^2)}$$

Then by (2.1)

 $\max_i |A_j|_X \le a_0.$ 

Since *X* is positive definite, it is boundedly invertible. For any  $T \in \mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H})$  one has

$$\frac{\|Tx\|^2}{\|x\|^2} = \frac{(X^{-1}XTx, Tx)}{(X^{-1}Xx, x)} \le \frac{(X^{-1}XTx, Tx)}{(\frac{1}{\|X\|}Xx, x)} \le \|X\| \|X^{-1}\| \frac{(XTx, Tx)}{(Xx, x)} \ (x \in \mathscr{H}).$$

So

$$|T||^{2} \leq ||X|| ||X^{-1}|| |T|_{X}^{2}$$

Hence, according to (2.2),

$$\|A_{i_k}\cdots A_{i_1}\| \le (\|X\|\|X^{-1}\|)^{1/2} |A_{i_k}\cdots A_{i_1}|_X \le (\|X\|\|X^{-1}\|)^{1/2} a_0^k$$

and therefore,

$$\rho(\mathscr{M}) \leq \overline{\lim}_{k \to \infty} (\|X\| \|X^{-1}\|)^{1/2k} a_0 = a_0,$$

as claimed.  $\Box$ 

#### 3. Concrete classes of operators

In this section we suggest estimates for X(A) under various assumptions. From (1.6) it follows

$$\|X(A)\| \le \sup_{|z|=1} \|(Iz-A)^{-1}\|^2.$$
(3.1)

Let there be monotonically increasing non-negative continuous function F(x) ( $x \ge 0$ ), such that F(0) = 0,  $F(\infty) = \infty$  and

$$\|(\lambda I - A)^{-1}\| \leq F(1/\operatorname{dist}(A,\lambda)) \ (\lambda \notin \sigma(A)),$$

where dist $(A, \lambda) = \inf_{s \in \sigma(A)} |s - \lambda|$ . If  $r_s(A) < 1$  and |z| = 1, then obviously, dist $(A, z) \ge 1 - r_s(A)$  and therefore,  $||(Iz - A)^{-1}|| \le F(1/(1 - r_s(A))))$ . Now (3.1) implies

$$\|X(A)\| \le F^2\left(\frac{1}{1 - r_s(A)}\right).$$
(3.2)

#### 3.1. Operators in finite dimensional spaces

Let  $\mathbb{C}^n$   $(n < \infty)$  be the complex *n*-dimensional Euclidean space with a scalar product (.,.), the Euclidean norm  $\|.\| = \sqrt{(.,.)}$  and unit matrix I,  $\mathbb{C}^{n \times n}$  is the set of all  $n \times n$  matrices.  $\lambda_k(A), k = 1, ..., n$ , are the eigenvalues of  $A \in \mathbb{C}^{n \times n}$ , counted with their multiplicities;  $N_2(A) = (\text{trace } AA^*)^{1/2}$  is the Hilbert-Schmidt (Frobenius) norm of A. The quantity (the departure from normality of A)

$$g(A) = [N_2^2(A) - \sum_{k=1}^n |\lambda_k(A)|^2]^{1/2},$$

plays an essential role hereafter. The following relations are checked in [21, Section 3.1]:

$$g^{2}(A) \leq N_{2}^{2}(A) - |\text{trace } A^{2}| \text{ and } g^{2}(A) \leq \frac{N_{2}(A - A^{*})}{2} = 2N_{2}^{2}(A_{I}),$$

where  $A_I = (A - A^*)/2i$ . If *A* is a normal matrix, then g(A) = 0. Due to Example 3.3 from [21],

$$\|A^m\| \leq \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{m! r_s^{m-k}(A) g^k(A)}{(m-k)! (k!)^{3/2}} \quad (m = 1, 2, \ldots).$$

Now (1.5) implies

$$\|X(A)\| \le \xi_n(A) := \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left( \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{m! r_s^{m-k}(A) g^k(A)}{(m-k)! (k!)^{3/2}} \right)^2 \quad (A \in \mathbb{C}^{n \times n}).$$
(3.3)

Note that if *A* is normal, then g(A) = 0 and (3.3) gives us the sharp inequality (1.7). Theorem 1.1 and (3.3) yield the following corollary.

**Corollary 3.1.** Let  $\mathcal{M}$  be a finite set of  $n \times n$ -matrices. Let there be an  $n \times n$ -matrix A with  $r_s(A) < 1$ , such that

$$\xi_n(A) \max_{B \in \mathscr{M}} (2\|A - B\| \|A\| + \|A - B\|^2) < 1.$$

Then *M* is Schur-Kohn stable. Moreover,

$$\rho(\mathscr{M}) \leq \sqrt{1 - \frac{1}{\xi_n(A)}(1 - \xi_n(A) \max_{B \in \mathscr{M}}(2\|A - B\| \|A\| + \|A - B\|^2)}.$$

Let us point the more compact but less sharper estimate for X(A). To this end put

$$\eta_n(A) := \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{g^k(A)}{\sqrt{k!}(1 - r_s(A))^{k+1}}$$

By Theorem 3.2 from [21]

$$\|(A-\lambda I)^{-1}\| \leq \sum_{k=0}^{n-1} \frac{g^k(A)}{(\operatorname{dist}(A,\lambda))^{k+1}\sqrt{k!}} \quad (A \in \mathbb{C}^{n \times n}, \lambda \not\in \sigma(A)).$$

Making use of (3.2) we can assert that

$$||X(A)|| \le \eta_n^2(A) \ (A \in \mathbb{C}^{n \times n}).$$

So in Corollary 3.1 one can replace  $\xi_n(A)$  by  $\eta_n^2(A)$ .

#### 3.2. Hilbert-Schmidt operators

Denote by  $SN_2$  the ideal of Hilbert-Schmidt operators in  $\mathcal{H}$  with the finite norm  $N_2(A) = (\text{trace } AA^*)^{1/2}$ . In the infinite dimensional case we put

$$g(A) = [N_2^2(A) - \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |\lambda_k(A)|^2]^{1/2},$$

where  $\lambda_k(A), k = 1, 2, ...$ , are the eigenvalues of  $A \in SN_2$ , counted with their multiplicities and enumerated in the non-increasing order of their absolute values.

Since

$$\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |\lambda_k(A)|^2 \ge |\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \lambda_k^2(A)| = |\text{trace } A^2|,$$

one can write

$$g^2(A) \le N_2^2(A) - |\text{trace } A^2|.$$

If *A* is a normal Hilbert-Schmidt operator, then g(A) = 0, since

$$N_2^2(A) = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} |\lambda_k(A)|^2$$

in this case. Moreover,

$$g^2(A) \leq \frac{N_2^2(A-A^*)}{2} = 2N_2^2(A_I),$$

cf. [21, Section 7.1]. Due to Corollary 7.4 from [21] for any  $A \in SN_2$  we have

$$\|A^m\| \leq \sum_{k=0}^m \frac{m! r_s^{m-k}(A) g^k(A)}{(m-k)! (k!)^{3/2}} \quad (m = 1, 2, \ldots).$$

Now (1.5) implies

$$\|X(A)\| \le \xi_{\infty}(A) := \sum_{j=1}^{\infty} \left( \sum_{k=0}^{m} \frac{m! r_s^{m-k}(A) g^k(A)}{(m-k)! (k!)^{3/2}} \right)^2 \quad (A \in SN_2).$$

If A is normal, then (3.4) gives us inequality (1.7).

Furthermore, by Theorem 7.1 from [21] for any  $A \in SN_2$  we have

$$\|R_{\lambda}(A)\| \leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{g^k(A)}{(\operatorname{dist}(A,\lambda))^{k+1}\sqrt{k!}} \quad (\lambda \notin \sigma(A)).$$

Inequality (3.2) gives us the more compact but less sharper estimate

$$||X(A)|| \le \eta_{\infty}^2(A) \ (A \in SN_2),$$

(3.4)

where

$$\eta_{\infty}(A) := \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{g^j(A)}{\sqrt{j!}(1 - r_s(A))^{j+1}}.$$

Now we can directly apply Theorem 1.1. By the Schwarz inequality

$$\begin{split} &(\sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{(cg)^j(A)}{c^j \sqrt{j!} (1-r_s(A))^j})^2 \leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} c^{2k} \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \frac{g^{2j}(A)}{c^{2j} j! (1-r_s(A))^{2j}} = \\ &\frac{1}{1-c^2} \exp\left[\frac{g^2(A)}{c^2 (1-r_s(A))^2}\right] \ (c \in (0,1)). \end{split}$$

Thus,

$$||X(A)|| \le \frac{1}{(1-c^2)(1-r_s(A))^2} \exp\left[\frac{g^2(A)}{c^2(1-r_s(A))^2}\right] \ (A \in SN_2, c \in (0,1)).$$

In particular, taking  $c^2 = 1/2$ , we get

$$||X(A)|| \le \hat{\eta}(A) := \frac{2}{(1-r_s(A))^2} \exp\left[\frac{2g^2(A)}{(1-r_s(A))^2}\right].$$

Now Theorem 1.1 implies the following corollary.

**Corollary 3.2.** Let  $\mathscr{M}$  be a finite set of bounded operators from  $\mathscr{H}$  Let there be an  $A \in SN_2$  with  $r_s(A) < 1$ , such that

$$\hat{\eta}(A) \max_{B \in \mathscr{M}} (2\|A - B\| \|A\| + \|A - B\|^2) < 1.$$

Then *M* is Schur-Kohn stable. Moreover,

$$\rho(\mathscr{M}) \le \sqrt{1 - \frac{1}{\hat{\eta}(A)} (1 - \hat{\eta}(A) \max_{B \in \mathscr{M}} (2\|A - B\| \|A\| + \|A - B\|^2)}$$

Similarly, making use of Theorems 7.2, 7.3 from [21] one can apply Theorem 1.1 to Shatten-von Neumann operators.

#### 3.3. Non-compact non-normal operators

In this subsection we suggest a norm estimate for the solution of (1.1) under the condition

$$A_I = (A - A^*) / (2i) \in SN_2.$$
(3.5)

To this end introduce the quantity

$$g_I(A) := \sqrt{2} \left[ N_2^2(A_I) - \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (\Im \lambda_k(A))^2 \right]^{1/2}.$$

Obviously,  $g_I(A) \le \sqrt{2}N_2(A_I)$ . Due to Example 10.2 from [21],

$$\|A^m\| \leq \sum_{k=0}^m \frac{m! r_s^{m-k}(A) g_I^k(A)}{(m-k)! (k!)^{3/2}} \quad (m = 1, 2, ...).$$

Now (1.5) implies

$$\|X(A)\| \le \xi_I(A) := \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} \left( \sum_{k=0}^{m} \frac{m! r_s^{m-k}(A) g^k(A)}{(m-k)! (k!)^{3/2}} \right)^2 \ (A_I \in SN_2)$$

If A is normal from this inequality we get (1.7).

Furthermore, by Theorem 9.1 from [21] under condition (4.1) we have,

$$\|R_{\lambda}(A)\| \leq \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{g_I^k(A)}{(\operatorname{dist}(A,\lambda))^{k+1}\sqrt{k!}}$$

and

$$\|R_{\lambda}(A)\| \leq \frac{\sqrt{e}}{\operatorname{dist}(A,\lambda)} \exp\left[\frac{g_I^2(A)}{2(\operatorname{dist}(A,\lambda))^2}\right] \ (\lambda \notin \sigma(A)).$$

Inequality (3.2) implies

$$||X(A)|| \le \eta_I^2(A) \text{ and } ||X(A)|| \le \hat{\eta}_I^2(A) \ (A_I \in SN_2),$$

where

$$\eta_I := \sum_{j=0}^{\infty} rac{g_I^J(A)}{\sqrt{j!}(1 - r_s(A))^{j+1}}$$

and

$$\hat{\eta}_I := \frac{\sqrt{e}}{1 - r_s(A)} \exp\left[\frac{g_I^2(A)}{2(1 - r_s(A))^2}\right].$$

Now we can directly apply Theorem 1.1.

Some other classes of operators can be considered, in particular, via norm estimates for operator functions from [21].

#### 4. Example

The following example characterizes the sharpness of Theorem 1.1.

Let  $\mathscr{H} = \mathbb{C}^n$ ,  $\mathscr{M} = \{A_1, A_2\}$  with real positive matrices matrices  $A_1 = \text{diag}(a_k)_{k=1}^n, A_2 = \text{diag}(b_k)_{k=1}^n; (a_k, b_k \ge 0) \text{ and } r_s(A_1) < 1$ . So  $a_m = \max_k a_k < 1$ . Take  $A = A_1$ . Since  $A_1$  is Hermitian, according to (1.7) condition (1.4) takes the form

$$\frac{1}{1 - r_s^2(A_1)} (2r_s(A_1) \|A_1 - A_2\| + \|A_1 - A_2\|^2) < 1.$$
(4.1)

Besides,  $||A_1 - A_2|| = \max_k |a_k - b_k|$ .

Assume that  $r_s(A_2) \ge 1$ . Namely,  $b_m \ge 1$ . So  $\mathscr{M}$  is Schur-Kohn unstable. Then  $|a_m - b_m| = b_m - a_m \ge 1 - a_m$  and

$$\frac{1}{1-a_m^2}(2a_m|a_m-b_m|+|a_m-b_m|^2) \ge \frac{1}{1-a_m^2}(2a_m(1-a_m)+(1-a_m)^2) \ge \frac{1}{1+a_m}(2a_m+1-a_m) \ge 1.$$

Therefore, condition (4.1) is not fulfilled. So condition (1.4) is necessary under consideration.

#### 5. Acknowledgement

I am very grateful to the referees of this article for their helpful remarks.

#### References

- G. C. Rota and G. Strang. A note on the joint spectral radius, Proc. Netherlands Acad., 22 (1960) 379-381.
- R. Jungers, The Joint Spectral Radius: Theory and Applications, Springer, Berlin, 2009.
- [3] V. Kozyakin, On the computational aspects of the theory of joint spectral radius, Dokl. Akad. Nauk, 427 (2009), 160-164, in Russian, translation in Doklady Mathematics, **80** (2009), 487-491. [4] X. Dai, Y. Huang and M. Xiao, *Almost sure stability of discrete-time switched linear systems: A topological point of view*, SIAM J. Control Optim., **47**
- (2008), 2137-156
- J.-W. Lee and G. E. Dullerud, Uniform stabilization of discrete-time switched and Markovian jump linear systems, Automatica, 42 (2), (2006) 205-218. [6] D. Liberzon, Switching in Systems and Control. Birkháuser, Boston, 2003.
  [7] H. Lin and P. J. Antsaklis, Stability and stabilizability of switched linear systems: a survey of recent results, IEEE Transac. on Automatic Control, 54
- (2), (2009) 308-322
- [8] R. Shorten, F. Wirth, O. Mason, K.Wul and C. King, Stability criteria for switched and hybrid systems, SIAM Rev., 49 (2007), 545-592.
- [9] W. Xiang and J. Xiao, Convex sufficient conditions on asymptotic stability and l2 gain performance for uncertain discrete-time switched linear systems. IET Control Theory Appl. 8 (3), (2014), 211-218.
- [10] G. Zhai and X. Xu, A unified approach to stability analysis of switched linear descriptor systems under arbitrary switching, Int. J. Appl. Math. Comput. Sci., **20** (2), (2010), 249-259. [11] L. Zhang, Y. Zhu, P. Shi, Q. Lu, *Time-Dependent Switched Discrete-Time Linear Systems: Control and Filtering* Springer International Publishing,
- Switzerland, 2016. [12] C. Heil and G. Strang, Continuity of the joint spectral radius: Applications to wavelets, in "Linear Algebra for Signal Processing," IMA Vol. Math. Appl.
- 69, Springer-Verlag, New York, (1995), 51-61.
- [13] I. D. Morris, A rapidly-converging lower bound for the joint spectral radius via multiplicative ergodic theory, Adv. Math., 225 (2010), 3425-3445.
- [14] V. Kozyakin, On accuracy of approximation of the spectral radius by the Gelfand formula, Linear Algebra Appl., 431 (2009), 2134-2141.
- [15] V. Kozyakin, A relaxation scheme for computation of the joint spectral radius of matrix sets, J. Difference Equ. Appl., 17 (2), (2011) 185-201.
   [16] V. D. Blondel and Y. Nesterov, Polynomial-time computation of the joint spectral radius for some sets of nonnegative matrices, SIAM J. Matrix Anal.
- Appl., 31 (2009), 865-876. [17] P.A. Parrilo and A. Jadbabaie, Approximation of the joint spectral radius using sum of squares, Linear Algebra Appl., 428 (2008), 2385-2402 [17] J. N. Fairo and A. Jaddabada, Approximation of the four spectral radius using sum of squares, Endar Algebra Appl., 226 (2005), 250-2402
   [18] J. N. Tsitsiklis and V. D. Blondel, The Lyapunov exponent and joint spectral radius of pairs of matrices are hard when not impossible—to compute and to approximate, Math. Control, Signals and Systems, 10 (1997), 31-40.
- [19] T. Eisner, Stability of Operators and Operator Semigroups, Operator Theory: Advances and Applications Vol. 209, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, 2010.
- [20] M.I. Gil'. Difference Equations in Normed Spaces. Stability and Oscillations, North-Holland, Mathematics Studies 206, Elsevier, Amsterdam, 2007. [21] M.I. Gil', Operator Functions and Operator Equations, World Scientific, New Jersey, 2018.



Universal Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/ujma ISSN 2619-9653 DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.32323/ujma.549942



# The Existence and Uniqueness of Initial-Boundary Value Problems of the Fractional Caputo-Fabrizio Differential Equations

Şuayip Toprakseven<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Faculty of Engineering, Department of Computer Science, Artvin Çoruh University, Artvin, 08100, Turkey \*Corresponding author

#### **Article Info**

Abstract

Keywords: Caputo–Fabrizio fractional derivative, Existence and uniqueness of fractional differential equations, Laplace transform, Mass spring damper system.
2010 AMS: 26A33, 34A08.
Received: 5 April 2019
Accepted: 24 April 2019
Available online: 28 June 2019

In this paper, the existence and uniqueness problem of the initial and boundary value problems of the linear fractional Caputo-Fabrizio differential equation of order  $\sigma \in (1,2]$  have been investigated. By using the Laplace transform of the fractional derivative, the fractional differential equations turn into the classical differential equation of integer order. Also, the existence and uniqueness of nonlinear boundary value problem of the fractional Caputo-Fabrizio differential equation has been proved. An application to mass spring damper system for this new fractional derivative has also been presented in details.

#### 1. Introduction

The fractional differential calculus has gained much interest by the many researcher in the last decades and it has strong mathematical background and many papers are attributed to the development of it. Among them, we can cite some e.g. [1, 2, 3]. Fractional calculus has been also used for modelling physical phenomena including control systems, mechanics, viscoelasticity [4, 5, 6]. Up to now, several definition of fractional derivative has been proposed. Some frequently used definition of fractional derivative can be given as the Riemann-Lioville, Caputo, Grünwald–Letnikov [7, 8] and conformable fractional derivative [9, 10, 11, 12, 13]. Among them, the Riemann-Lioville definition requires nonlocal initial condition, so it does not reflect physical experiment while the Caputo definition allows to use the classical initial condition. In the recent years, a new definition of fractional order derivative has been defined by Caputo and Fabrizio [14] with a regular kernel. This new definition can be able to describe better heterogeneousness and systems with different scales with memory effects. The other good property of this new definition is that the real power turn into the integer by the Laplace transformation, thus the exact solution can be easily found for some cases. Some properties of this definition have been studied in [15]. Several papers are devoted to development of this new fractional derivative [16, 17]. Some applications based on this new fractional derivative can be found in the papers [18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 23]. In this paper, the previous results will be extended and the existence and uniqueness solution will be given for high order fraction derivative. As an application, a mass-spring-damper system will be analyzed basen on this new derivative. In [15], the results are presented when the fractional order  $\alpha \in (0,1)$ . The aim of this paper enriches these results for the case when the fractional order of  $\alpha + 1 \in (1,2)$ . In [19], a mass spring damper motion has been studied, but the solution available only for numerical approximation using Laplace transform algorithm. More importantly, they consider the fractional order  $2\alpha \in (1,2)$  when  $\alpha \in (0,1)$ . However, this is not true when  $\alpha \in (0, 1/2)$ . Additionally, the Caputo-Fabrizio fractional operator does not have semigroup property. For this reason, the different cases of the fractional order also have been examined and the exact solution for each case is given for the mass spring damper equation using only the Laplace transformation.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. In Section 2, preliminaries and previous related works have been introduced. The existence and uniqueness results for linear problems have been presented in Section 3. Some simple but important initial and boundary value problems of the fraction Caputo-Fabrizio differential equation are given in Section 4. In Section 5, the existence and uniqueness of the nonlinear

boundary value problem of the fraction Caputo-Fabrizio differential equation have been demonstrated. Finally, an application to a mass spring damper system is given in the last section.

#### 2. Preliminaries and Previous Results

We present some definitions and previous results of the new fractional Caputo-Fabrizio derivative that are needed in this work.

**Definition 2.1.** Let  $\alpha \in (0,1)$  and  $f \in H^1(a,b), a < b$ . The Caputo fractional derivative of the function f defined as

$$D_C^{\alpha}f(x) = \frac{1}{\Gamma(1-\alpha)} \int_a^x (x-t)^{\alpha} f'(t) dt$$

**Definition 2.2.** [14] Given a < b and  $f \in H^1(a,b)$ , the fractional Caputo-Fabrizio derivative of the function of order  $\alpha \in (0,1)$  is defined for  $t \ge 0$ 

$${}^{CF}D^{\alpha}f(x) = \frac{1}{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{x} \exp\left(-\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}(x-t)\right) f'(t)dt.$$
(2.1)

**Definition 2.3.** [15] The Caputo-Fabrizio fractional integral of oder  $\alpha \in (0, 1)$  is defined as

<sup>CF</sup> 
$$\mathscr{I}(f)(x) = (1-\alpha)f(x) + \alpha \int_0^x f(s)ds.$$

The Caputo-Fabrizio fractional of order  $\sigma = \alpha + n$  for  $\alpha \in (0, 1)$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  defined as

$$C^{F}D^{\alpha+n}f(x) := C^{F}D^{\alpha}(C^{F}D^{n}f(x)).$$

**Theorem 2.4.** [14] Let the function f(x) satisfy  $f^{(k)}(a) = 0$ , k = 1, 2, ..., n, then the equality

$${}^{CF}D^{\alpha}({}^{CF}D^{n}f(x)) = {}^{CF}D^{n}({}^{CF}D^{\alpha}f(x))$$
(2.2)

holds.

**Definition 2.5.** For  $\sigma = \alpha + 1$  with  $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ , the Caupto-Fabrizio fractional derivative of order  $\sigma$  defined as

$${}^{CF}D^{\sigma}f(x) = \frac{1}{1-\alpha} \int_{a}^{x} \exp\left(-\frac{\alpha}{1-\alpha}(x-t)\right) f''(t)dt.$$
(2.3)

Note that the equality  ${}^{CF}D^{\alpha}({}^{CF}D^{1}f(x)) = CFD^{1}({}^{CF}D^{\alpha}f(x))$  is defined unambiguously when f'(0) = 0. (see [14]) **Definition 2.6.** For a function f(x), the Laplace transformation F(s) of f is given by

$$F(s) = \mathscr{L}\left[f(x)\right] = \int_0^\infty \exp(-sx)f(x)dx.$$

**Lemma 2.7.** [14] The Laplace transform of the Caputo-Fabrizio fractional of order  $\sigma = \alpha + n$  for  $\alpha \in (0,1)$  and  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  is given by

$$\mathscr{L}\left\{{}^{CF}D^{\sigma}(f)(x)\right\}(s) = \frac{s^{n+1}\mathscr{L}\left\{f(x)\right\}(s) - s^{n}f(0) - s^{n-1}f'(0) - \dots - f^{(n)}(0)}{s + \alpha(1-s)}$$

#### 3. Existence and Uniqueness of the Solution

We show the existence and uniqueness of the solution of the fractional differential equations involving the Caputo-Fabrizio fractional derivative in this section. We also derive the solution for some fractional differential equation that are important for physical applications.

**Theorem 3.1.** [15] For  $\alpha \in (0,1)$  and  $h \in L_1(0,\infty)$ , the following first order fractional differential equation

$$CFD^{\alpha}(u)(x) = h(x), \quad x \ge 0$$
$$u(0) = u_0$$

has the unique solution

$$u(x) = u_0 + (1 - \alpha)(h(x) - h(0)) + \alpha \int_0^x h(s) ds$$

**Theorem 3.2.** [15] For  $\alpha \in (0,1)$  and  $h \in L_1(0,\infty)$ , the following first order fractional differential equation

$$\begin{split} & {}^{CF}D^{\alpha}(u)(x) = \lambda u(x) + h(x), \quad \lambda \neq 0, \quad x \geq 0 \\ & u(0) = u_0 \end{split}$$

*has the unique solution, when*  $\lambda(1-\alpha) = 1$ 

$$u(x) = -\frac{1-\alpha}{\lambda\alpha}u'(x) - \frac{\alpha}{\lambda}u(x)$$

and when  $\lambda(1-\alpha) \neq 1$ 

$$u(x) = \frac{\lambda\alpha}{1-\lambda(1-\alpha)} \int_0^x u(s)ds + u_0 + \frac{1-\alpha}{1-\lambda(1-\alpha)} (h(x)-h(0)) + \frac{\alpha}{1-\lambda(1-\alpha)} \int_0^x h(s)ds.$$

**Theorem 3.3.** [15] If  $\alpha \in (0,1)$ , then the function u solves the fractional differential equation

$$^{CF}D^{\alpha}(u)(x) = 0, \quad x \ge 0$$

if and only if u is a constant function.

We study here the boundary value problem of a class of the Caputo-Fabrizio fractional differential equations of order  $\sigma \in (1,2)$  on [0,1]**Theorem 3.4.** For  $\sigma = \alpha + 1$ ,  $\alpha \in (0,1)$ , and  $g : [0,\infty) \to \mathbb{R}$  with  $g \in L_1(0,\infty)$ , the following boundary value problem of the fractional Caputo-Fabrizio differential equation

$${}^{CF}D^{\sigma}(u)(x) = g(x), \quad x \ge 0$$
  
 $u(0) = u_0, \quad u(1) = u_1$ 
(3.1)
  
(3.2)

has the unique solution given by

$$u(x) = u_0 + (u_1 - u_0)x + (1 - \alpha)(1 - x)\int_0^x g(t)dt + \alpha(1 - x)\int_0^x tg(t)dt - (1 - \alpha)x\int_x^1 g(t)dt - \alpha x\int_x^1 (1 - t)g(t)dt.$$

*Proof.* Applying the Laplace operator to the equation (3.1), we get

$$\mathscr{L}\left\{ {^{CF}D^{\sigma}(u)(x)}\right\}(s) = \mathscr{L}\left\{g(x)\right\}(s)$$

Appealing the Lemma 2.7, we are led to

$$\frac{s^2 U(s) - su(0) - u'(0)}{s + \alpha(1 - s)} = G(s)$$

where  $U(s) = \mathscr{L}\left\{(u)(x)\right\}(s)$  and  $G(s) = \mathscr{L}\left\{g(x)\right\}(s)$ . Equivalently, we can rewrite the last equation as

$$U(s) = \frac{1}{s}u(0) + \frac{1}{s^2}u'(0) + \frac{1-\alpha}{s}G(s) + \frac{\alpha}{s^2}G(s)$$

The inverse Laplace operator is applied to above equation to arrive at

$$u(x) = u(0) + xu'(0) + (1 - \alpha) \int_0^x g(t)dt + \alpha \int_0^x (x - t)g(t)dt.$$
(3.3)

Taking into account the boundary conditions (3.2), we have the desired result

$$u(x) = u_0 + (u_1 - u_0)x + (1 - \alpha)(1 - x)\int_0^x g(t)dt + \alpha(1 - x)\int_0^x tg(t)dt - (1 - \alpha)x\int_x^1 g(t)dt - \alpha x\int_x^1 (1 - t)g(t)dt.$$

For the uniqueness, as usual, we suppose that there are two solutions of the problem, say  $v_1$  and  $v_2$ . Then we must have

$${}^{CF}D^{\sigma}(v_1)(x) - {}^{CF}D^{\sigma}(v_2)(x) = {}^{CF}D^{\sigma}(v_1 - v_2)(x) = {}^{CF}D^{\alpha}(Dv_1 - Dv_2)(x) = 0$$

Thus, by Theorem 3.3 we get

$$Dv_1(x) = Dv_2(x).$$

This implies that  $v_1(x) = v_2(x) + c$  for some constant c. But the condition  $v_1(0) = v_2(0)$  leads to c = 0. That is  $v_1(x) = v_2(x)$  for all  $x \ge 0$ .

**Remark 3.5.** In Theorem 3.4, if we let h(x) := g(x) - g(0), then h(0) = 0 so that the initial value problem

$$C^{F} D^{\sigma}(u)(x) = h(x), \quad x \ge 0$$
$$u(0) = A, \quad u'(0) = B$$

has the unique solution of much simpler form given by

$$u(x) = A + Bx + (1 - \alpha) \int_0^x h(t)dt + \alpha \int_0^x (x - t)h(t)dt$$

We further study the linear differential equation of fractional order in the sense of Caputo-Fabrizio fractional derivative, then we will work on nonlinear boundary value problems of the fractional Caputo-Fabrizio differential equations. We first give the results for the linear cases.

**Theorem 3.6.** If  $\sigma \in (1,2)$  and  $g \in L_1(0,\infty) \cap C^1[0,\infty)$ , then the following linear boundary value problem of the fractional Caputo-Fabrizio differential equation has the unique solution for all  $\eta \in \mathbb{R}$ .

$$CF D^{\sigma}(u)(x) = \eta u(x) + g(x), \quad \eta \neq 0, \quad x \ge 0$$

$$u(0) = u_0, \quad u(1) = u_1$$
(3.4)
(3.5)

*Proof.* The case when  $\eta = 0$  is already was proved in Theorem 3.4. So, assume that  $\eta \neq 0$ . we see that from Theorem 3.4, the solution to (3.4) and (3.5) can be written as

$$u(x) = u_0 + (u_1 - u_0)x + (1 - \alpha)(1 - x)\int_0^x \left(\eta u(t) + g(t)\right)dt + \alpha(1 - x)\int_0^x t\left(\eta u(t) + g(t)\right)dt - (1 - \alpha)x\int_x^1 \left(\eta u(t) + g(t)\right)dt - \alpha x\int_x^1 (1 - t)\left(\eta u(t) + g(t)\right)dt.$$

A little algebraic manipulation reveals that

$$u(x) + \eta x \int_{0}^{1} (1 - \alpha t) u(t) dt - \eta \int_{0}^{x} (1 - \alpha + x\alpha - t\alpha) u(t) dt$$
  
=  $u_{0} + (u_{1} - u_{0})x + (1 - \alpha)(1 - x) \int_{0}^{x} g(t) dt + \alpha (1 - x) \int_{0}^{x} tg(t) dt$   $-(1 - \alpha)x \int_{x}^{1} g(t) dt - \alpha x \int_{x}^{1} (1 - t)g(t) dt$  (3.6)

Differentiating the equation (3.6) twice, we have that

$$u''(x) - (1 - \alpha)\eta u'(x) = (1 - \alpha)g'(x) + \alpha g(x).$$
(3.7)

Now we have two cases to analyze. First, we assume that  $(1 - \alpha)\eta = 0 \Leftrightarrow \alpha = 1$  since  $\eta \neq 0$ . In this case, the equation (3.7) becomes

$$u''(x) = g(x).$$

This is just a second order ordinary differential equation with solution given by

$$u(x) = -u_0 x + u_0 + u_1 x + (x - 1) \int_1^0 \left( \int_1^s g(y) dy \right) ds + \int_1^x \left( \int_1^s g(y) dy \right) ds.$$

The second case when  $(1 - \alpha)\eta \neq 0$ , we have

$$u(x) = u_0 + \int_0^x e^{(1-\alpha)\eta t} \int_0^t e^{(1-\alpha)\eta s} \left( (1-\alpha)g'(s) + \alpha g(s) \right) ds dt + \frac{u_1 - u_0 - \int_0^1 e^{(1-\alpha)\eta t} \int_0^t e^{(1-\alpha)\eta s} \left( (1-\alpha)g'(s) + \alpha g(s) \right) ds dt}{\int_0^1 e^{(1-\alpha)\eta t} dt} \int_0^x e^{(1-\alpha)\eta t} dt.$$

# 4. Solutions of the initial and boundary value problem of the linear Caputo-Fabrizio fractional differential equations

In this section, some initial and boundary value problems of the fractional differential equation in the sense of the Caputo-Fabrizio derivative have been presented.

**Example 4.1.** If  $\sigma = \alpha + 1$  with  $\alpha = \frac{1}{2}$  and  $c_1, c_2 \in \mathbb{R}$ , then the following initial value problem of fractional differential equation

$$u''(x) + c_1^{CF} D^{\sigma}(u)(x) = c_2^{CF} D^{\alpha} u(x) + 1 - \exp(-x)$$

$$u(0) = 0, \quad u'(0) = 0$$
(4.1)
(4.2)

has a unique solution of the form

$$u(x) = \frac{\exp(-\frac{3(2c_1+1)x}{2})\sinh\left(\sqrt{\frac{9x(2c_1+1)^2}{4} + 2c_2}\right)}{\sqrt{\frac{9x(2c_1+1)^2}{4} + 2c_2}}.$$

In fact, by the Laplace transformation, the equation can be written as

$$s^{2}U(s) - su(0) - u'(0) + c_{1}\frac{s^{2}U(s) - su(0) - u'(0)}{(s+1)/2} - c_{2}\frac{s}{(s+1)/2} = \frac{s}{s+1}$$
$$U(s)\left(s^{3} + (2c_{1}+1)s^{2} - 2c_{2}s\right) = s$$
$$U(s) = \frac{s}{s^{3} + (2c_{1}+1)s^{2} - 2c_{2}s}$$

where  $U(s) = \{\mathscr{L}u(t)\}(s)$ . Now, the inverse Laplace transformation gives us that

$$u(x) = \frac{\exp(-\frac{3(2c_1+1)x}{2})\sinh\left(\sqrt{\frac{9x(2c_1+1)^2}{4} + 2c_2}\right)}{\sqrt{\frac{9x(2c_1+1)^2}{4} + 2c_2}}$$

Example 4.2. Consider the initial value problem

$${}^{CF}D^{\sigma}u(x) + u(x) = 0$$
  
 $u(0) = 1, \quad u'(0) = 0$ 

where  $\sigma = \alpha + 1$  with  $\alpha \in (0, 1)$ 

Applying the Laplace transformation leads to have

 $U(s)(s^2 + s + \alpha(1-s)) = s.$ 

Now, the inverse Laplace transformation gives the exact solution as follows

$$u(x) = \exp(x(\alpha/2 - 1/2))(\cosh(x(\alpha^2/4 - 3\alpha/2 + 1/4)^{1/2}) + (\sinh(x(\alpha^2/4 - 3\alpha/2 + 1/4)^{1/2}))(\alpha/2 - 1/2))/(\alpha^2/4 - 3\alpha/2 + 1/4)^{1/2})$$

Example 4.3. Consider the system of fractional algebraic-differential equations

$$CF D^{1/2}u(x) - xv(x) + u(x) - (1+x)v(t) = 0$$
  
v(x) = sinx  
u(0) = 1, v(0) = 0

Applying the Laplace transformation, one gets

$$\frac{sU(s)-1}{(s+1)/2} + V(s) + sV'(s) + U(s) - V(s) + V'(s) = 0$$
$$V(s) = \frac{1}{s^2+1}, \quad V'(s) = -\frac{2s}{(s^2+1)^2}$$
$$U(s) = \frac{s(s+1)}{(1+s^2)^2} + \frac{1}{s+1}$$

Now, the inverse Laplace transform gives the exact solution

$$u(x) = \frac{x+1}{2}\sin x + \frac{x}{2}\cos x + \exp(-x)$$

**Example 4.4.** *Consider the boundary value problem* 

$${}^{CF}D^{3/2}u(x) = \lambda u(x)$$
  
 $u(0) = 0, \quad u(1) = 1$ 

This is the equation given in the problem (3.4) and (3.5) with  $\sigma = 1 + 1/2$  and  $u_0 = 0, u_1 = 1$ . Thus, the exact solution given by

$$u(x) = \frac{1}{\int_0^1 e^{(\lambda/2)t} dt} \int_0^x e^{(\lambda/2)t} dt = \frac{e^{\lambda x/2} - 1}{e^{\lambda/2} - 1}$$

#### 5. Nonlinear boundary value problems

We prove the existence and uniquness of the nonlinear boundary value problems of the Caputo-Fabrizio differential equations by the help of the Banach contraction principle.

Let C(I) be the Banach space of continuous functions on I = [0, 1] with maximum norm

$$||x|| = \max_{s \in [0,1]} |x(s)|, \quad x \in C(I).$$

We now state the existence and uniquness of the solution in the next theorem.

**Theorem 5.1.** If  $\sigma = 1 + \alpha$ ,  $\alpha \in (0, 1]$  and  $F : [0, 1] \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$  is a continuous function with the property that

$$|F(x,u_1) - F(x,u_2)| \le q|u_1 - u_2|$$
  $u_1, u_2 \in \mathbb{R}, q > 0,$ 

then the boundary value problem

$${}^{CF}D^{\sigma}(u)(x) = F(x,u(x)), \quad x \ge 0$$

$$u(0) = u_0, \quad u(1) = u_1$$
(5.1)
(5.2)

has a unique solution in C(I) provided q < 1.

*Proof.* Let the operator  $T : C(I) \to C(I)$  be given by

$$(Tu)(x) = u_0 + (u_1 - u_0)x + (1 - \alpha)(1 - x)\int_0^x F(t, u(t))dt + \alpha(1 - x)\int_0^x tF(t, u(t))dt - (1 - \alpha)x\int_x^1 F(t, u(t))dt - \alpha x\int_x^1 (1 - t)F(t, u(t))dt$$

We see that the solution for the problem (5.1) and (5.2) is the fixed point of the map T. For  $u, v \in C(I)$  and  $0 \le t \le 1$ , we find that

$$\begin{split} \left| (Tu)(x) - (Tv)(x) \right| &= \left| (1 - \alpha)(1 - x) \int_0^x \left( F(t, u(t)) - F(t, v(t)) \right) dt + \alpha (1 - x) \int_0^x t \left( F(t, u(t)) - F(t, v(t)) \right) dt \\ &- (1 - \alpha) x \int_x^1 \left( F(t, u(t)) - F(t, v(t)) \right) dt - \alpha x \int_x^1 (1 - t) \left( F(t, u(t)) - F(t, v(t)) \right) dt \right| \\ &\leq (1 - \alpha)(1 - x) x q \|u - v\| + \alpha (1 - x) \frac{x^2}{2} q \|u - v\| + (1 - \alpha) x (1 - x) q \|u - v\| + \alpha x \frac{(1 - x)^2}{2} q \|u - v\| \\ &= (1 - x) x \frac{4 - 3\alpha}{2} q \|u - v\| \leq \max_{x \in [0, 1]} (1 - x) x \frac{4 - 3\alpha}{2} q \|u - v\| \leq \frac{4 - 3\alpha}{8} q \|u - v\| \leq q \|u - v\|. \end{split}$$

Since q < 1, the operator *T* is a contraction, and by the Banach contraction theorem *T* must have a unique fixed point that is the solution of the problem (5.1) and (5.2).

#### 6. An Application to a Mass-Spring-Damper System

In [19], a mass spring damper system equation has been modelled by the Caputo-Fabrizio fractional differential equation as follows

$$\frac{m}{\mu^{2(1-\alpha)}}{}^{CF}D^{2\alpha}u(x) + \frac{c}{\mu^{1-\alpha}}{}^{CF}D^{\alpha}u(x) + ku(x) = F(x), \quad \alpha \in (0,1].$$
(6.1)

where  $\mu$  is the dimension of second, *m* is the damping coefficient, *c* is the spring constant and *F*(*x*) is the force of the system. The parameter  $\mu$  is introduced because of the dimensionless quantity of the physical problem in the case of fractional derivative of the displacement. The equation (6.1) has been provided with an initial displacement,  $u_0$ , and velocity,  $v_0 = 0$  for the mass *m*. As in [19], two cases for the forcing term will be considered. Additionally, the order of the fractional is also considered in two cases.

1 . Assume that the forcing term F(x) = A for some constant A. Moreover, suppose that  $\alpha \in (0, 1/2)$  so that  $2\alpha \in (0, 1)$ . Applying the Laplace transform of (6.1) leads to get

$$\frac{sU(s) - u_0}{s + 2\alpha(1 - s)} + c\frac{\eta^2 \mu^{\alpha - 1}}{k} \left(\frac{sU(s) - u_0}{s + \alpha(1 - s)}\right) + \eta^2 U(s) = A\frac{\eta^2}{k}\frac{1}{s}$$
(6.2)

$$U(s) = \frac{u_0(s + \alpha(1 - s) + B(s + 2\alpha(1 - s)))}{s(s + \alpha(1 - s) + s + 2\alpha(1 - s)\left(B + \eta^2(s + \alpha(1 - s))\right)}$$
(6.3)

$$+\frac{(\eta^2/k)A(s+2\alpha(1-s))(s+\alpha(1-s))}{s^2\Big(s+\alpha(1-s)+s+2\alpha(1-s)\Big(B+\eta^2(s+\alpha(1-s))\Big)}$$
(6.4)

where  $\frac{\eta^2}{k} = \frac{\mu^{2(1-\alpha)}}{m}$  and  $B = c \frac{\eta^2}{k} \mu^{\alpha-1}$ The inverse Laplace transform yields the exact solution

$$\begin{split} u(x) &= (A\eta^2/k) \Big( \frac{2\alpha x}{(2\alpha\eta^2 + 2B + 1)} - \frac{-2\alpha\eta^2 + 2\alpha - 6B + 4\alpha B + 1}{(2\alpha\eta^2 + 2B + 1)^2} \exp(\frac{x(\alpha + 2\alpha B - 2\alpha\eta^2 + 4\alpha^2\eta^2 - 2)}{4\alpha\eta^2(\alpha - 1)} \\ (\cosh((x(4\alpha^2 B^2 + 8\alpha^2 B\eta^2 + 4\alpha^2 B + 4\alpha^2 n^4 - 12\alpha^2 \eta^2 + \alpha^2 - 8\alpha B + 8\alpha\eta^2 - 4\alpha + 4)^{1/2})/(4\alpha\eta^2(\alpha - 1))) + \\ (\sinh((x(4\alpha^2 B^2 + 8\alpha^2 B\eta^2 + 4\alpha^2 B + 4\alpha^2 n^4 - 12\alpha^2 \eta^2 + \alpha^2 - 8\alpha B + 8\alpha\eta^2 - 4\alpha + 4)^{1/2})/(4\alpha\eta^2(\alpha - 1))) \\ (8\alpha^2 B^2 + 4\alpha^2 B\eta^2 + 8\alpha^2 B + 4\alpha^2 n^4 - 14\alpha^2 \eta^2 + 2\alpha^2 - 12\alpha B^2 + 4\alpha B\eta^2 - 12\alpha B + 6\alpha\eta^2 - 3\alpha + 8B^2 - 4B + 4)) \\ \div ((-2\alpha\eta^2 + 2\alpha - 6B + 4\alpha B + 1)(4\alpha^2 B^2 + 8\alpha^2 B\eta^2 + 4\alpha^2 B + 4\alpha^2 n^4 - 12\alpha^2 \eta^2 + \alpha^2 - 8\alpha B + 8\alpha\eta^2 - 4\alpha + 4)^{(1/2)})) \\ (-2\alpha\eta^2 + 2\alpha - 6B + 4\alpha B + 1)/(2\alpha\eta^2 + 2B + 1)^2) \Big) \\ + (2B + 1)/(2\alpha\eta^2 + 2B + 1) - (exp((x(\alpha + 2\alpha B - 2\alpha\eta^2 + 4\alpha^2 \eta^2 - 2))/(4\alpha\eta^2(\alpha - 1)))(2B + 1)) \\ (\cosh((x(4\alpha^2 B^2 + 8\alpha^2 B\eta^2 + 4\alpha^2 B + 4\alpha^2 \eta^4 - 12\alpha^2 \eta^2 + \alpha^2 - 8\alpha B + 8\alpha\eta^2 - 4\alpha + 4)^{1/2})/(4\alpha\eta^2(\alpha - 1)))) + \\ (\sinh((x(4\alpha^2 B^2 + 8\alpha^2 B\eta^2 + 4\alpha^2 B + 4\alpha^2 \eta^4 - 12\alpha^2 \eta^2 + \alpha^2 - 8\alpha B + 8\alpha\eta^2 - 4\alpha + 4)^{1/2})/(4\alpha\eta^2(\alpha - 1)))) \\ (\alpha - 2B + 4\alpha B + 4\alpha B^2 - 2\alpha\eta^2 - 4B^2))/((2B + 1) \\ (4\alpha^2 B^2 + 8\alpha^2 B\eta^2 + 4\alpha^2 B + 4\alpha^2 \eta^4 - 12\alpha^2 \eta^2 + \alpha^2 - 8\alpha B + 8\alpha\eta^2 - 4\alpha + 4)^{1/2})))/(2\alpha\eta^2 + 2B + 1) \end{aligned}$$

2 . Assume that the forcing term F(x) = A for some constant A. Moreover, suppose that  $\alpha \in (1/2, 1)$  so that  $2\alpha \in (1, 2)$ . Applying the Laplace transform of (6.1) leads to get

$$\frac{s^2 U(s) - u_0}{s + \alpha(1 - s)} + c \frac{\eta^2 \mu^{\alpha - 1}}{k} \left( \frac{s U(s) - u_0}{s + \alpha(1 - s)} \right) + \eta^2 U(s) = A \frac{\eta^2}{k} \frac{1}{s}$$
$$U(s) = \frac{u_0(s + \alpha(1 - s) + B(s + 2\alpha(1 - s)))}{s(s + \alpha(1 - s) + s + 2\alpha(1 - s)\left(B + \eta^2(s + \alpha(1 - s))\right)}$$
$$+ \frac{(\eta^2/k)A(s + 2\alpha(1 - s))(s + \alpha(1 - s))}{s^2 \left(s + \alpha(1 - s) + s + 2\alpha(1 - s)\left(B + \eta^2(s + \alpha(1 - s))\right)\right)}$$

where  $\frac{\eta^2}{k} = \frac{\mu^{2(1-\alpha)}}{m}$  and  $B = c \frac{\eta^2}{k} \mu^{\alpha-1}$ 

The inverse Laplace transform yields

$$\begin{split} u(x) &= u_0 \Big( (\exp(-x(B/2 - (\alpha \eta^2)/2 + \eta^2/2)) \sinh(x((\alpha^2 \eta^4)/4 - (\alpha B \eta^2)/2 - (\alpha \eta^4)/2 - \alpha \eta^2 + B^2/4 + (B \eta^2)/2 + \eta^4/4)^{1/2} ) \\ & (B+1))/((\alpha^2 \eta^4)/4 - (\alpha B \eta^2)/2 - (\alpha \eta^4)/2 - \alpha \eta^2 + B^2/4 + (B \eta^2)/2 + \eta^4/4)^{1/2} \Big) \\ &+ (A \eta^2/k) \Big( 1/\eta^2 - (exp(-x(B/2 - (\alpha \eta^2)/2 + \eta^2/2)) (\cosh(x((\alpha^2 \eta^4)/4 - (\alpha B \eta^2)/2 - (\alpha \eta^4)/2 - \alpha \eta^2 + B^2/4 + (B \eta^2)/2 + \eta^4/4)^{1/2} ) \\ &+ \eta^4/4)^{1/2} + (\sinh(x((\alpha^2 \eta^4)/4 - (\alpha B \eta^2)/2 - (\alpha \eta^4)/2 - \alpha \eta^2 + B^2/4 + (B \eta^2)/2 + \eta^4/4)^{1/2}) (B/2 + (\alpha \eta^2)/2 - \eta^2/2)) \\ &\div ((\alpha^2 \eta^4)/4 - (\alpha B \eta^2)/2 - (\alpha \eta^4)/2 - \alpha \eta^2 + B^2/4 + (B \eta^2)/2 + \eta^4/4)^{1/2} ) / \eta^2 \Big) \end{split}$$

#### References

- [1] KS. Miller, B. Ross, (Eds.), An Introduction to the Fractional Calculus and Fractional Differential Equations, John Wiley, NY 1993.
- I. Podlubny, Fractional Differential Equations, Academic Press, New York 1999. A.A. Kilbas, H. M. Srivastava and J. J. Trujillo, Theory and Applications of Fractional Differential Equations, North-Holland Mathematical Studies, Amsterdam, 2006.
- [4] J. Sabatier, P. Lanusse, P. Melchior, A. Oustaloup, Fractional Order Differentiation and Robust Control Design, Springer, 2015.
- [5] F. Mainardi, Fractional Calculus and Waves in linear Viscoelasticity: an Introduction to Mathematical Models, World Scientific, 2010.
- V.V. Uchaikin, Fractional Derivatives for Physicists and Engineers, Springer, 2013.
- [7] R. J. Greechie, S. P. Gudder, *The Fractional Calculus Theory and Applications of Differentiation and Integration to Arbitrary Order*, 111 Elsevier, 1974.
   [8] A. N. Kochubei, *Fractional Differential Equations: an Introduction to Fractional Derivatives, Fractional Differential equations, to Methods of Their Solution and some of their Applications*, 198 Academic Press 1998.
- [9] F. Usta, Fractional Type Poisson Equations by Radial Basis Functions Kansa Approach, J. Inequal. Spec. Funct., (7)4, (2016),143-149.
   [10] M. Z. Sarikaya and F. Usta, On Comparison Theorems for Conformable Fractional Differential Equations, Int. J. Anal. Appl., (12)2, (2016), 207-214.
- [11] F. Usta, A mesh-free technique of numerical solution of newly defined conformable differential equations, Konuralp J. Math., (4)2,(2016) 149-157. [12] F. Usta and M. Z. Sarikaya, The analytical solution of Van der Pol and Lienard differential equations within conformable fractional operator by retarded integral inequalities, Demonstr. Math., 52(1), (2019), 204-212.
- [13] Fuat Usta, Computational solution of Katugampola conformable fractional differential equations via RBF collocation method, AIP Conference Proceedings, 1833(1) (2017), 200461-200464., Doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1063/1.4981694.
- [14] M. Caputo, M. Fabrizio, A New Definition of Fractional Derivative without Singular Kerne, Progr. Fract. Differ. Appl., 1:1 (2015), 1-13.
- [15] J. Losada, J.J. Nieto, Properties of a new fractional derivative without singular kernel, Progr. Fract. Differ. Appl., 1 (2016), 87-92.
- [16] M. Caputo, M. Fabrizio, Applications of new fine and spatial frac-tional derivatives with exponential kernels, Progr. Fract. Differ. Appl., 2 (2016), 1-11.
   [17] Xiao-Jun Yang, H.M.Srivastava, J.A.Machado Tenreiro, A new fractional derivative without singular kernel, Thermal Science, (2015), doi:10.2298/TSCI151224222Y.
   [18] Xiao-Jun Yang, H.M.Srivastava, J.A.Machado Tenreiro, Modeling diffusive transport with a fractional derivative without singular kernel, Physic A, 447
- (2016), 467-481.
- [19] J.F.G. Aguilar, H. Y. Martinez, C.C. Ramon, I.C. Ordunia, R.F. E. Jimenez, V.H.O. Peregrino, Modeling of a Mass-Spring-Damper System by Fractional Derivatives with and without a Singular Kernel, Entropy, 17 (2015), 6289-6303.
- [20] M.Yavuz, N. Özdemir, European Vanilla Option Pricing Model of Fractional Order without Singular Kernel, Fractal and Fractional, (2)1, 3 (2018). [21] F. Evirgen, M. Yavuz, An alternative approach for nonlinear optimization problem with Caputo-Fabrizio derivative, In ITM Web of Conferences, 22, EDP Sciences, (2018), p. 01009
- [22] M.Yavuz, N. Özdemir, Comparing the new fractional derivative operators involving exponential and Mittag Leffler kernel, Discrete Contin. Dyn. Syst., 13(3), (2019),1098-1107.
- [23] D. Zhao, M. Luo, Representations of acting processes and memory effects: General fractional derivative and its application to theory of heat conduction with finite wave speeds, Appl. Math. Comput., 346 (2019), 531-544.